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AND THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
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GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

HIGHLIGHTS AND KPIs

FINANCIAL

Revenue ($m)™” Gross profit ($m)
2021 26,420 2021 4,096
2020 21,463 2020 3,607
2019 23,337 2019 2,638

Operating profit ($m)® Profit/(loss) before tax ($m)
2020 696 (167) 2020
2019 28) (93) 2019

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA ($m)™ before IFRS 16 ($m)@
2021 1,660 2021 1,429
2020 1,443 2020 1,248
2019 1,016 2019 859

Net debt before lease liabllities ($m} Leverage®™
2020 (9,001 2020 6.0x
2019 (9,069) 2019 5.9x

% Reverye 1s presented for information purposes only, as revenue 15 not a comparahle KPI for the business due to the impact of wholesale fuel pricing on
reported fuel revenyes. Additionally, 2020 revenue was impacted by the COVID-1S pandemic, which impacted both wholesale prices and site footfall due
to lockdown restrictions across all regions in which EG cperates

2 QOperating profit includes the impact of depreciation, amortisation and impairment

. Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, before exceptional items. Please refer to the APM section from page 17Q

4 Adjusted EBITDA is stated before the impact of IFRS 16, Please refer to the APM section from page 170

% Leverage is presented as the ratio between total net debt before lease habilities to pro forma Adjusted EBITDA before IFRS 16, which includes an estimate
to reflect the fuli-year EBITDA of mid-year acquisitions, the annualised benefit of new sites opened and synergies expected to be realised. Please refer to
the APM section from page 170

) Asz at December 31, 2021 (and at Decemnber 31, 2020 for the comparative period) and exclude any acquisitions that have been completed or anncunced as
at December 31, 2021

71 Total number of sites comprises of 5,651 PFS locations and 671 standalone Foodservice/Grocery & Merchandise locations. Across these sites are 1,828
foodservice outlets

EG Grour | 2021 Annual Report and Financial Staterments 3



CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

| would like to start by thanking our Co-CEOs for
their strong leadership, resilience and continued
dedication to the business and to our customers.
| would alse like to thank our global colleagues
for their contribution in delivering an outstanding
performance and ih making significant progress
across all areas of the business last year.

We reported record Group EBITDA in 2027, despite a
challenging macro environment including disruption from
COVID-19, industry-wide supply chain challenges, and a fuel
crsis in the UK in September, when EG was the first major
forecourt operator to implement a purchase cap to ensure

as many of our customers as possible could access the fuel they
needed.

Our financial performance last year was testarnent te EG's highly
successful strategy across Grocery & Merchandise, Fuel and
Foodservice operations, with the latter representing the biggest
long-term apportunity for the Group.
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INVESTMENT IN BRANDS AND COLLEAGUES

We continue to pursue a growth strategy through a combination
of both organic growth and acquisitions, with our recently
acquired businesses benefiting from subsequent investment
through expansion inte our existing site network.

It is always exciting to welcome new colleagues t¢ the EG family
and we continue to invest in our processes, systems, infrastructure
and training to help people do their jobs and serve customers
better whilst maintaining customer and colleague safety. A key
facus is also to enhance the pay and benefits colleagues receive,
alongside the Group's comprehensive focus on training and
development, including apprenticeships.

We strive to ensure our pay remains highly competitive across
all markets, in recognition of the cost-of-living pressures many
households face globally.



GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

SECTION 172: PROMOTING SUCCESS

The Board of Directors confirm that, during the year under review, it has acted to promote the long-term success of the
Company for the benefit of shareholders, whilst having due regard to the matters set out in Secticn 172(1){a) to (f) of the

Companies Act 2006, being:

The interest of the Company's employees,

The likely consequences of any decision in the long term.

The need to act fairly between membkers of the company,

The need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others,
The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment,

The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct,

This statement includes the information demonstrating how the Board has had regard to these matters in its actions as detalled in
the section 'Our stakeholders and Section 172 on pages 16 to 19 and in the governance report on pages 70 to 79,

RESOLUTE FOCUS ON GOVERNANCE

Given our global footprint and growth trajectory, best-practice
governance has hever been mors impaortant. This has been a
resolute focus of mine since | was appointed EG Group Chairman
in January 2021 and Dame Alison Carnwath joined the Board in
March last vear, foflowing the appointment of John Carey in
MNovember 2020,

wWe are committed to continuously improving our governance
structures and procedures, with a key ongoing focus beaing risk
management and mnternal controls. This includes tha teadearship
team considering any opporturities in the best interests of our
business, and we have a disciplined approach to assessing any
transactions, If an opportunity is pursued, our Board and
shareholders ate fully invalved - and the dialogue is always
collegiate, but robust and comprehensive.

I line with best-practice governance, the Audit & Rizk,
Remuncration and Nomination Cammittees hefd reguiar meetings
in 2021 and further details on the Board and 1ts committees can be
found on pages 80 to 89.

Last year, we also established a working group to oversee ESG
matters, recognising how addressing the climate crisis is a priority
for the Group and i1ts shareholders. This area ts a key priority for us
and reflecting this, we apipointed a Head of ESG and Sustainability
last vear.

SOLID FOUNDATIONS SUPPORT OUTLOOK

We will continue to do the right thing for all stakeholders in 2022,
including supporting tocat cormmunities, making contributions to
charities and helping socially and econormically disadvantaged
people, such as cur Teo Good to 5o initiative to minimise foad
waste.

The reality 15 that many consumers are increasingly facing
significant inflationary prossures, and we remain facused on
maintaining competitive pricing for consumers i all our markets.

Looking farward, 202215 likely to provide new challenges for the
business to navigate. but EG has bulit strong foundations for
long-term success. and we can look ahead to the rest of the yesr
with confidence in cur strategy.

L__An.

Rt e

Chatrman

August 22, 2022
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER STATEMENT

2021 was another transformational year

for EG Group. We delivered strong results,
primarily driven by a stand-out performance in
Foodservice and a further easing of COVID-19
restrictions, which saw Group Adjusted EBITDA
increase by 15% to $1,660m.

This wouldn’t have been possible without the incredible efforts
of our 58,000 colleagues across our ten global markets, who
every day continue to demonstrate their expertise, commitment
and passion for the business, whether in our world-class Grocery
& Merchandise, Foodservice and Fuel operations or from our
head offices.

The health, safety and wellbeing of our colleagues across the
glocbe continued to be a priority with the pandemic still firmly on
the agenda throughout the year. Providing a safe environment for
cur customers and celleagues, including adaptations to new ways
of working during this incredibly difficult period, was essential to
achieving our operational and strategic ochjectives,

The Group’s strategy is built on sotid foundations and we added
to our market-leading customer progosition with six bolt-on
acquisitions during 2021 across the UK & Ireland, Continental
Europe and the USA.

This Included our acguisition of Sprint Food Stores, an operator of
a portfolio of 34 high-guality convenience stores in South Carolina
and Georgia, in November 2021. This expanded our USA
cperations to two additional states and almost 1,750 sites across
the country.

4 EG Croup [ 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements
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After the year ended, we alsc completed the acguisition of the
OMV-branded service station network in Germany from OMV
Deutschland GmbH. This followed the German Federal Cartel
Office approving the takeover of 285 service stations by EG, under
the condition of the sale of 48 stations; 24 Esso-branded stations
and 24 OMV-branded stations in Baden-Wurttemberg.

This acquisition followed the launch of cur successful refinancing
in early 2021 and we are grateful to our lenders and investors for
their ongoing support on our growth journey.

Qur UK&L acquisition strategy demonstrated cur focus on
expanding the Group's Foodservice operations, with the
accuisition of LEON, a ‘naturally fast foocd’ restaurant chain, in May
2021 and Cooplands, the UK’'s second-largest bakery chain, in
October 2021, marking our first acquisitions of proprietary brands.
Our growth plans for both LECN and Cooplands complement our
tong-standing partnerships with leading Foodservice brands that
we operate across our markets.

These acquisitions align with our strategy to be a leading
Foodservice operator globally, enhancing our overall customer
proposition and providing a halo effect to our Fuel and Grocery &
Merchandise business streams and providing a platform for further
growth and diversification opportunities.

in addition, we continue to invest in facilities, systems, technology
and job creation, through continued investment in new-to-industry
sites, site refits and our global shared service centre,



As we develop our footprint and branded offers, we continue to
create how roles and opportunitics, ranging from those morg
accassible to school leavers and graduate trainees, to other mare
specialised roles such as baristas, custamer service
representatives, fuel pricing speciatists and manaaement
accountants.

We are committed to training and dewveloping new hires and
existing collcagues, which we belicve is fundamental to providing
our best-in-class customer service and operations. We also
launched and completed our first Group Global Engagement
Survey in Q4 2021, with aur lcadership team now actively working
together an opportunities to further enhance cur employee
engagement.

The Group and its collragues are passionate about fundraising to
help local communities and charnties, such as Royal Manchester
Children’s Hespital and Alder Hey Chiidren’s Charity 1n the UK,
and Amcrican Cancuer Socety, Disabled Veterans and the

United Way in the US4,

A5 a responsible business, we are committed to managing and
minimising our environmental impact, with chimate change now

an increasingly important issue facing society globally. We install
solar panels wherever possible, at all new-to-industry sites, and
train our colicagues on encrgy cfficicncy measures, as we continue
to take steps to reduce site energy consumption. Later this year,
we will publish our first ESG Report, which will set out our targets,
baseline data and approach to managing our key social and
envircnmental issues.

)/

-

We continue to play our part in deliverning more sustainable
products, as the world transitions to a lower-carbon future,
Globally we continue to increase the numiber of electric vehicle
chargers across our sites, and develop and expand our broader
mokility strategy ta include additional atternative fuel sources,
such as hydrogen and hydrotreated vegetable oil,

Looking ahead, the outloak for this financial year remains
uncertain and whilst we continue to see the normatisation of
customer behaviour as we come out of the pandemic, we are
faced with new challenges duc to the angoing conflict in Ukraine
and the significant inflationary pressures evident across many of
aur territories, However we are confident that the resilience of our
business model and geographic diversity - alficd to the expertise
and experience of the Board - will enable the business to continue
to grow and gutperform the wider rmarket.

R srfan TR

Co-Founders and Co-Chief Executive Officers
August 22, 2022
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OUR VALUES

Our culture and values encourage entrepreneurial and
transformative thinking and, during the pandemic,

our 58,000 colleagues have worked together to adapt
our operations, share best practices and develop new

capabilities and ways of working

. AwaReNEssAND commerciaL  © . . Jll @ &  SUPPORT LOCAL'COMMUNITIES WITH :
PONSIVENESS TO CONSUMER . A VIEW TO EMPOWERING INDIVIDUALS TO' . .
“TRENDS AND DEMANDS - IR Y@™ crow, CONTRIBUTE AND SUCCEED

- COMMITTED TO INFRasTRucTURE, - [ DELIVERING VALUE AND RESULTS
. PEOPLE AND SYSTEM INVESTMENTTO .~ - Il /' CONSISTENTLY TO STAKEMOLDERS
BUILD A SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS MODEL ‘ RN '
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GOVERNANCE

FINANCIALS

MARKET FACTORS

Key market factors:

INFLATION AND
INCREASED
COST OF LIVING

CONVENIENCE
ON DEMAND

FOCUS ON
SUSTAINABILITY

COMMUNITIES
COMING
TOGETHER

As COVID-19 and the conflict in
Ukraine continue to impact the
economy, and with the cost of fuel,
energy and raw materials rising
significantly, people globally are
facing significant increases in their
household costs.

The pandemic accelerated a
customer trend towards convenience
shopping and home delivery,

but even beyond the pandemic,

as customer behaviour has
transitioned to more hybrid routines,
convenience is a critical facter,
particularly in the grocery and
foodservice sector.

As the world transitions to a
lower-carbon future, the demand for
more sustainable products and the
expectations on businesses to deliver
long-term value to shareholders and
wider stakeholders continues to
increase.

During the pandemic, customers
spent more time at home and value
their communities and the key role
that businesses can play in bringing
communities together.

SPONDING TO KEY

HOW WE ARE RESPORNDIMNG,

We remain committed to supporting our
colleagues and customers through what may be
challenging financial times ahead. This includes
supporting our colleagues with enhancements to
pay and bencfits, and working with cur supplicrs
and brand partners to offer choice, promotions
and value across our product range.

HOW WE ARE RESPONDING:

Through our 6,300 sites globaily, we are weli
positioned to meet our customers’ convenience
needs, and we are focused on improving this even
further through our digital strategy, which includes
self-service kiosks and rapid delivery through
Celiveroo and Uber Eats.

FHOW WE ARE RESPONDING.

We are committed tc minimising our envircnmental
impact, and have increased the focus oh our ESG
strategy and key activities during 2021, Operationally,
we seek to reduce our energy and water
consumption on-site, to manage waste responsibly,
and have robust procedures to avoid serious
environmental incidents. We operate a number of
electric vehicle chargers across our sites and plan to
continue to develop our mobility strategy which will
include a significant increase in charging points in the
future and consideration of other alternative fuels
such as hydrogen.

HOW WE BRE RESPOMDING:

We are more than just a global convenience
business. Qur shareholders and cur colleagues
are passionate about giving back to local
cammunities, and this is seen in our cantinued
sugport for local charities and projects and our
ongoing ambition to create job opportunities in
the communities we operate in.
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YUR BU

INESS MODEL

Our key business
streams

We are a leading
global independent
convenience retailer
with a diversified
portfolio of over 6,300
sites™ across three
continents.

Qur purpose is to
deliver a modern

and compelling retail
experience that aflows
customers to achieve
multiple missions in one
convenient location.

We pride ourselves as
a responsible operator
with a commitment to
delivering world-class
convenience retail
whilst improving the
lives of others and
delivering a positive
impact on society.

@ GROCERY &
MERCHANDISE

of Group gross profits®

o See page 10

FOODSERVICE

of Group gross profit®
€©) seepagei2

of Group gross profit™
e See page 14

roodiroue | 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Tfff Strong brand offer and

Ly innovative approach across
Grocery & Merchandise,
Foodservice and Fuel

«  Qur complementary Grocery & Merchandise,
Foodservice and Fuel offer creates a site halo impact

«  Qur larger sites drive customer footfall and spend

«  We target a balanced offering across regions to further
diversify and improve resilience of profitability

+  We are constantly innovating and developing to adapt
for the forecourt of the future, with ampie space for
electric vehicle charging stations, roadside positioning
far fulfilment of last mile customer needs and an IT
platform ready for evolving payment methods

@ locations delivering local

services, globally

«  Qur extensive geographic footprint in three continents
and across ten countries provides the benefits of
geographical diversification, with balanced exposure
to multiple national economies with different economic
cycles and macrceconomic fundamentals

»  Qur site portfolio delivers high-quality customer
experience and amenities

Well-invested sites at prime

*  Qur best-in-class offering allows us to be well
positioned in the market for site profitability and
future industry trend

Best-in-class owned and
operated model

»  Qur directly managed, owned and operated site model
gives cantrol over guality, consistency, Cost structures
and pricing and allows us to execute our site
optimisation and roflout strategy

«  We develop strong brand partnerships and are viewed
as a brand ambassador by our partners



GOVERNANCE

We are a leading independent global c-store operator with
over 6,300 sites across ten countries in three continents,
which makes us, by store numbers, the third largest
independent c-store operator in the world.

Our strategy

€©) read more on pages 20 to 29

GROWTH
As @ treprencurtal busines s looking to

drive growth by investing in our site network and

to div
v rarkets and reinforce
ar. We continuc to
2and gur operations in our

INNOVATI
continu

mentin ¢ ic
charging FIT capability to
support cvolvi yiment o ) loyalty programmes.

oW, OUr site
ring with b
and amenities

bal c-store
asingly
purchase

FOR CUSTOMERS
We exist to serve the needs of
our customers and we invest in

what matters to them, offering a

broad range of great value,
guality products with focus on
strong availability and excellent
customer service. All delivered
through our attractive and
conveniently located sites,

FOR BRAND PARTNERS
AND SUPPLIERS

We are proud of cur strong
brand partner and supplier
relationships and we work
collaborativety with them to
grow our business and theirs.

FOR COLLEAGUES

Cur diverse workforce is a

key asset of the business and
we strive to recruit, develop
and retain talent through
well-invested training schemes
and recognition.

FOR INVESTORS

We have a proven ability to
execute significant acquisitions
and synergy realisation to
deliver strong cash generaticon.

FOR COMMUNITIES

2021
outcomes

$26.4bn

REVENUE

FINANCIALS

$4.1bn

GROSS PROFIT

$1.7bn

ADJUSTED EBITDA™

383

NEW SITES (INCLUDING
ACQUISITIONS)

$0.5bn

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

$0.7bn

GROWTH ACGUISITIONS

We are fully committed to being
a responsible business and care
about the communities in which
we operate.

1.3bn

@ Site numbers are stated as at the year-end date and exclude any CUSTOMERS SERVED

acquisitions that have completed or have been annouriced after
December 31, 2021

2 Business stream gross profit for the Group presented as a
percentage of Group total gross profit for 2021, The percentage
represented by Grocery & Merchandise gross profit also includes
other gross profit

e For more information about
how we engage with our
stakeholders, see pages
16 to 129

M garnings before interest, tax, depreciation and arnortisation,
before exceptional items. Please refer to the APM section from
page 170
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OUR BUSINESS
IN ACTION

DEL

GROCERY &
MERCHANDISE

Our highly resilient Grocery & Merchandise® business
stream generates over a third of the Group’s gross profit.

We have long-standing partnerships with globally recognised
AS A % OF GROUP GROSS PROFIT FOR 2021 European and Australian brands in Grocery & Merchandise and
have wholesale supply agreements with brands such as SPAR,
Asda, Carrefour and Louis Delhaize to supply our site network.
We also operate proprietary brands in the USA, including the
Cumberland Farms brand, which supports our premium
convenience offering to consumers. We continue to explore new
opportunities and to focus on further enhancement to our Grocery
& Merchandise offering, particularly in Continental Europe where
our lower penetration of this market presents an opportunity for
future growth and development.

Throughout lockdown restrictions i 2020 and 2021, the Group's
convenience stores remained open, as storgs played a key role in
providing essential household products and groceries and an
alternative to big box retailers. In 2021, cur Grocery & Merchandise
GROSS PROFIT (IN $M) opergtions conltinued to generate year-on-year sales growth and
margin expansion, following the easing of lockdown measures, the
normalisation of product mix and the continued consumer shift
towards convenience.

Grocery & Merchandise revenue of $5135m (2020: $4,919m) was
an increase of $216m or 4% on 2020, and gross profit for the full

2020 1,428 year increased by 13% to $1,607m in 2021 {2020: $1.428m).
These increases are attributable to the increased trading and
the improvement in sales mix compared to 2020.

2021

2018 1,085

T All number references include other gross profit
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Our UK & Ireland estate has been enhanced further by the
strategic relationship formed with Asdo in 2020. During the year,
we have continued to focus our efforts on converting an additional
26 of our forecourt convenience stores to the ‘Asda On the Move’
cancept, bringing the total to 31 sites at December 2021

Operations in the USA are continuing to stabilise following a
period of turbulence in our product mix during the pandemic.
This 1s in addition to the benefits achieved from the rollout of the
Cumberland Farms branded coffee and confectionery across our
other US brands.

The re-introduction of severe tockdown measures from June 2021

in Australia shightly dampened performance, albeit the benefits of

our store and product refresh programmes have supported margin
growth.

"(GﬂOCEﬂY & MERCHANBISE

ESG AND SUSTAINAB!LITY AGENDA

Our ESG materiality assessment, detalled on page 40, identified
waste, food waste, product packaging aind diet and health as key

- sustainability issues across the food and retail sectors, and are

therefore reélevant to our Grocery & Merchandise business strea
We aim to work with trusted suppliers and birdnd partners that are N
well recognised globally or in their iocal markets and that have

well-established ESG. pohqes and programmes in place to address

‘these sssues

'Accordmg to the UN; every year across the globe, one third
of all food produced ‘for human consumption is wasted. As a

convenience and foodservice retaiter we have a ro-!e in‘ensuring
food doesn' tgoto waste

- We are working with Too Good 7o Go ("TGTG ') in the UK and
| Continental EGrope. TG'T"G is an orgianisation whtch seeks to .
.prevent food waste, via an apb that allowws anyone to picic up -
| -unsold, surplus gro
“the working day. Since the start of our partnership, we have sold
- aver 1 million magic bags' (2021 734,482), helping to reduce food:
" wwaste 36 well as av

e.ifi ‘magic bags’ at a discount at the end of

an estimated 2,573,880 kg of £O, (2021
36,205 kg} at the same time. As Thdre and more households )

rrionitor their spending closely, this partnership i i5'going some way

suppomng people who' are ioek:n for ways to combat the:

: nr;reas:rfg cost of: ilvmg
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Sissessey

The Group has an extensive range of Foodservice offerings, created
through partnerships with globally recognised brands, and expanded
through acquisitions of our own brands, which have transformed our
sites into destinations serving multiple customer needs.

wWe have established a position as a leading franchisee for our

AS A % OF GROUP GROSS PROFIT FOR 2021 brand partners resuiting in a scaled, global footprint, which
orovides £G with a platform to compete for compelling strategic
acquisitions in our key markets and expand our Foodservice
operations, Over the past year, consumer lifestyles have continued
to be impacted by the pandemic, which has resulted in increased
demand for home delivery services, presenting a clear cpportunity
for EG across each of our markets.

14% Foodservice revenue for 2021 of $940m (2020: $466m) is an
increasc of 102%, and Foodservice gross profit of $554m
(2020: $305m) is a year-con-year increase of 82%, Excluding the
impact of acquisitions, Foodservice revenue and gross profit
increased by 82% and 62% respectively. This increase is largely
due to the impact at the cutset of the pandemic in the comparable
period of the tempaorary outlet closures and restricted operational
y capability, and the increased demand for home delivery, which
GROSS PROFIT (IN $M) represented 15% of our Foodservice sales in 2021 (2020: 10%).

Additionally, the continued rollout of new Foodservice outlets
across each of our regions and the impact of the UK Government's
temporary reduction in hospitality VAT supported our strong

performance in 2021.
2020 305

[3%]
&)
i

2019
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Our Foodservice business stream has been strengthened through
the 2021 financial yecar, as a result of G number of Acnuisitions as
detailed on page 28 and our continued outlet opening programme
across the Group.

LECN and Ceooplands, our first acquisitions of proprictary brands,
are complementary to our existing portfelio of partner brands and
provide further product diversification for the Group. These brands
wil! accelerate EG Group's growing and successful Foodservice
offering and will dnve development and expansion opportunities
for the brands across our forecourt network,

The Amsric Foods acquisition expanded our KFC network in the
south and south-west of the UK and established our position as
the largest franchisee in Western Europe for the KFC brand.

Our Foodservice platform has been enhanced further by the
strategic relationship formed with Asda, where we continue to
broaden our customer reach and increase our earnings potential
through the rollout of Foodservice outlets at Asda locations, with
31 new Foodservice outlets open by the end of the vear.

We have identified considerable scope for expansion in
Foodservice, due to the increasing customer popularity of fast,
affordable food on the go and the opportunity for expansion in our
larger-than-average sites in high-traffic tocations supported by our
proven ability to operate Foodservice outlets.

- In adidition to our waste rediiction

_ESG AND SUSTAINABILITY AGEND

' Our ESG materiality assessment; detailed on page 40, identified

-waste, food waste, product packaging Snd diet and health as key
sustatnabiity issues across the food and retail sectors, and.
therefore relevant toour Foodserwce sstes ‘

lnatlves detalled on page 43%;
we work closely with ourtrusted brand pantners tounderstand
how they are addressing healthier living. through their product

. cfferlng. as well as thew activities on sustai nable sourcing of
.ingredients and meat-free alternatwes which may have a lower ..
__carbon footprmt : i

- Our LEON brand ‘has been'a ploneer in. creatmg a menu that

tastes good and is kind to the planet; driven by a passion to-help’
- ‘averyone eat anct hive well: The menu is full of plants and a variéty
) of whole grains, health fats and well-sourced meat (Red Tractor
a5 2 minimuir. Inadd

placed wi odegradabie and papet, al

: for further mformatlon on sustamabllnty
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OUR BUSINESS M
IN ACTION -

ALY R Ry 4D Ty
ONTINUED

We have Fuel retail operations in nine countries®,
including six of the ten largest fuel markets in Europe.

AS A % OF GROUP GROSS PROFIT FOR 2021

GROSS PROFIT (IN $M)

2020 1,874
2019 1,318
14 3 Croup i 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements

Our wholesale supply agreements with premium fuel brands,
coupled with a leading non-fuel offering, support cur premium
positioning on Fue! and we continue to tnvest in the growth

and quatity of aur network through the development of
new-to-industry sites ("NTIs™), knock-down-rebuilds, upgrades and
conversions to our company-owned, company-operatec ("COCO™)
model. We also operate a wholesale supply business, EG Fuel, that
focuses on the strategic and operational fuel supply and
distribution in mainland Europe.

During 2021, our Fuel cperations continued to be impacted

by the lockdown measures imposed by national and state
governments in respense to COVID-19, particularly in the first

half of the yvear. QOverall, Fuel volumes remain below pre-pandemic
levels with 12.7bn litres sold in 2021 {2020: 18.1bn litres). Whilst
there was a recovery across the majority of regions towards the
end of the financial year, overall volumes were impacted by
continued restrictions and work from home guidance during 2021

Fuel margins remained broadly consistent, against a backdrop of
continued volatile macroeconomic conditions in the oil industry.
As a result of the factors described above, Fuel gross profit for the
full year was $1,935m (2020: $1,874m), being an increase of 3% on
a reported basis.

T Excludes Ireland where we only operate Foodservice operations
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. As a global convenience and fuel retailer, we recoghise our rofe - .
in contributing to a more sustainable future, indluding our role i
reducing emissions in line with'.intér_national goals. Fuel continues
1o be a necessity for many of out customers but we recognise the
significant role that lower-carbon transport; technologies and.

- atternative fuets will play as the world moves towards a

[ Iower-carbon future .

. \We are commltted to playmg our partin th:s transmon and p!an |

| to develop a carbon feduction target and net zero transition plan -
We're also.engaging with our partners and suppliers to support "
the. work they are doing to teduce the carbon impact of fuel’
products. And as customers start to increase demands for EV.

.. charging infrastructure we are afso werking to scale up BV ;

F 'charging across ournetwork of sites and are actively exploring
'partner‘ships and scatable soFutions inthe €V.charging indu"s‘try. '

Read moré about the recent deveiopments m our mobmty )
stfategy on page 24, .
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS

AND SECTION 172

We believe that 3 real
understanding of the priorities
of our stakeholders is critical for
ensuring the fong-term success
and value creation for the Group.

Board Directors are bound by their duties under the Comparves
Act 2006 (the ‘Act’) to promote the success of the Company

for the benefit of cur members as a whole. In doing so, however,
they must have regard for the interests of all of our stakeholders,
to ensure the long-term sustanability of the Company. The Board
is therefore responsible for ensuring that it fulfils its obligations to
those impacted by our business, in its stakeholder consideration
and engagement.
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The following pages comprise our Secticn 172(1) statement, setting
out how the Board has, in performing its duties over the course of
the year, had regard to the matters set out iy Section 172(1) (a) to
(f) of the Act, atongside examples of how each of our key
stakeholders have been considered and engaged. Further
information can also be found throughout the strategic report
and in our discussion of key strategic decisions made in the
governance report.
Through Director and senior management discussions we have
identified the Group’s key stakeholders to be:
+ Customers

Brand partners and suppliers
+ Colleagues
* {nvestors
+  Communities
These principal stakeholder groups are set out in the table
apposite, along with why they matter and how we engage

with them. Also set out is our approach te engagement in
2021, narticularly in the midst of the global pandemic.




The Group exists to serve the needs of our customers, of which we
serve up to 25 million every week across the world,

WHY THEY ARE IMPORTANT

+ Wa strive to provide excellent service, quality and cheice to each of
our customers to help them achieve multiple missions at convenient
local destinations

+ Anunderstanding of our customers will alow us to increase market
awareness and enable quick response to customer trends

* Maintaining and increasing their loyalty and regard for the EG brand
ensures the long-term success of our business
HOW WE ENGAGE

» We offer a broad product range to our customers from cur
well-invested site portfolio

+ Mystery shopper visits are used tc ensure that we offer the best
customer service

Offers and promotions are used to drive customer loyalty

+ Mobile applications provide us with a platform to communicate
effectivety with our customers and to receive feedback

20271 ENGAGEMENT

+ Continued focus on keeping customers safe through the COVID-19
pandemic and ensuring our sites remained opean for business during
tockdown periods
Offering a wide range of good quality and value products, and
working hard to ensure we have good availability across product lines

» 30 additional NTI sites to improve our offering and market
presence, with continued expansion of our Foodservice effering and
investments in proprietary Foodservice brands, Cooplands and LEON,
1o enhance the choice and range available to customers

» Over $516m of capita! expenditure, investing in faciities for
our customers

HOW WE EMGAGE

£ Groupm !

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

e

We partner with prominent fuel brands such as ExxonMobil, BR
Shell and Texaco, well-known Grocery & Merchandise brands

such as SPAR, Asda On the Move, Woalworths, Carrefour and
Louis Delhaize, and globally recognised Foodservice brands such
as Starbucks, Burger King, Subway and KFC, as well as strong local
Foodservice brands such as Gregas and Pomme de Pain.

WHY THEY ARE IMPORTANT

+ To maintain strong long-term relationships

+ To ensure continuity of supply

= To provide a relevant and competitive offer for our customers
and react to changing trends

= We listen carefully to the concerns of brand partners and suppliers
ang act accordingly. We have regular meetings at both an operational
and strategic level and there are clear service level agreements
in place

* The Board discusses opportunities with new brand partners and
suppliers and how to develop new relationships

20T ENGAGEMENT

= Warking together with our suppliers during lockdown to manage
product supply, notably during the continued impact of the pandemic,
the impact of Brexit and fuel supply challenges during 2021

« Deepened brand partnerships with our Foodservice brand partners
with 145 new outlets opening in the year, a demonstration of the
Graup's comrmitment to expand the brand offerings as part of our
Foodservice proposition. Included in this were 65 new KFC outlats,
in addition to the acquisitions of 52 KFC outlets in the Amsric
acquisition in the UK and the acquisition of nine KFC sites in Germany.
cementing our position as their largest franchisee in Western Eurcpe

= Progression of the key strategic alilance between EG and the UK
supermarket, Asda, which is mutually beneficial and creates
significant value for both organisations, with 31 new Asda On the
Move openings on EG locations in the year and the introduction
of 13 Foodservice outlets at Asda locations

= Qur sustainability approach, which has been strengthened in the year,
where we work with our suppliers and brand partners to reduce the
environmental impact of both our own and their operations,
facilitated through regular attendance at sustanability committees
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS

AND SECTEON 172 CC

We have an experienced, diverse and dedicated workforce of 58,000
celleagues which we recognise as a key asset of our business.

WHY THEY ARE IMPORTANT

*« We have a diverse workforce, which we consider to be a key asset,
and we therefore want to develop and retain talent for the fong-term
success of the Group

= We need to comply with different regulations in each of our
territories and rmaintain an open dialogue with all of our colleagues

« The work of cur global colleagues, particularly during the challenging
conditions presented hy the pandemic, is critical for the business to

7 realise its operatipqa\ apd Vst{at_egica\ goals

HOW WE ENGAGE

» Qur approach vares by geography, but includes employee surveys,
town hall and team meetings and engagement with workers’ councils

« Tramung schemes are in place to ensure we have the highest guality of
staff, and talent schemes recognise our high flyers. The Group amms to
be an employer of choice

« Keeping our colleagues safe is critical to our business and we are
committed to meeting our legal obligaticns and ensuring we
continually meet the highest standards of health and safety practice
by providing training and equipment to colleagues to allow them to
perform their work safely

2021 ENGAGEMENT

« Key actrvitics 1n the year to focus on enhancement to benefits for our
colleagues, included: increases in pay, increase to colleagues’ life
assurance policy; bonuses; accass to development such as
professional qualifications; and continued focus on our EG Cares
employee henefit scheme

« Establishment of & Rermuneration Committee, chaired by John Carey,
an independent Non-Executive Director, to drive best practice for
colleague pay and policies

» Launch and completion of the Group's inaugural ‘Better Together’
employee engagement survey, with action plans being implemented
across the Group during 2022

« Continued support and development opportunities for colleagues through
the Group's sponsorship of the Diversity in Retail {(“DIR™) network and its
Global Femate Leader Programme, working alongside other leading UK
retailers to increase wormen's and ethnic minorities’ representation at all
levels and in leadership positions across the retal sector

« Launch of the Group's Learning and Development Policy, to set out
our internal development commitments and inform our training
programmee for colleagues, which includes our in-house Association
of Accounting Technicians ("AAT") traming scheme

+ See pages 45 to 47 for further detads on our colleagues
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CWHY THEY ARE IMPORTANT

e’

Gur investors and lenders play an important role in cur business and

growth strategy. We maintain close and supportive relationships with

this group of long-term stakeholders, characterised by openness,

transparency and mutual understanding.

« Qur investors are interested in a broad range of issues, including the
Group's financial and operational performance, strategic execution,
invastment plans, capital allocation and sustainability

+ The ongoing support of our investors is important to enable the
continued growth and development of the business

| HGW WE ENGAGE

» Quarterly investor presentations are hosted by the Group Co-CEC
and Group CFQ, and ad hoc investor announcements are provided for
relevant Company updates. There are also regular calls for investors
with the Executive and Investor Relations team

v A dedicated anline investor portal is updated with presentations,
financial reports, trading updates and press releases and an investor
maillzox 1s actively managed by the Investor Relations team

2021 ENGAGEMENT

« Continued regular communication with investors during the year,
providing operational, strategic and financial updates, with active
engagement and well-attended quarterly investor presentations

+ Successful capital raise in March 2021 to fund the acquisition of
OMV, to refinance our existing second lien facilities and to extend the
maturity of the Group's Revolving Credit Facility

= Launch of new Group corporate website and investor pages in
December 2021 providing enhanced, up-to-date information for
investors

* The establishment of an Audit & Risk Committee in 2021, chaired
by Dame Alison Carnwath, an independent Non-Executive Director,
provided additional aversight of finance processes and internal
controls and that the presentation of the financial statements
provides investors with an accurate, fair and balanced view of
performance, strategy and operations
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We are commltted to support ng the communities in wh:ch we
operate, including local businesses, residents and the wider public.

WHY THEY ARE IMPORTANT

» The Group 1s committed to operating responstbly and to make
a significant positive impact and provide opportunities to the
communities in which we operate

HOW WE ENGAGE
+ We invest time and money in local communities through employees
volunteering and via the EG Foundation

= We pay our taxes and aim to operate responsibly, mimimising
our impact on the environment

2021 ENGAGEMENT

+ Continuing to make a posttive contribution to the communities we
serve through supporting charities and community arganisations,
inciuding through our surplus food redistribution programme
Teo Good to Go' and grants and fundraising, as detailed on
pages 48 and 49

+ New site openings and continued growth to create jobs and
opportunities

« In recognition of the increasing importance of how we are addressing
the climate crisis, during 2021, we increased our focus on the ESG
agenda with an ESG lead appointed, and in 2022 a matertality
assessment performed and a commitment to produce an ESG Report

Y
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OUR STRATEGY

We aim to meet and exceed the needs of
consumers as they seek additional convenience
and quality in their daily life. Qur sites will help
consumers as they seek to address multiple retail
missions at one convenient location.

During the turbuient market conditions experienced globalty
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, the resilience of our
international, diversified business model, underpinned by cur
strategy, was reinforced and we remain confident that we can
continue to deliver long-term sharcholder growth.

What has been clearer than ever over the last two years, is that
aur talented, passionate and innovative people are essential to
the successful delivery of our strategy and to driving the business
performance over the long term.

We seek to accelerate the development of our people; grow and
strengthen our leadership capabilities; and ernhance employee
performance through continued engagement in our strategy.

Our strategy reflects our desire to build a sustainable business that
is relevant to our customers and partners in future decades as it is
today. We recognise the sectors that we operate within are
evalving, notably with an increased focus on sustainability and
alternative fuel, anad as a result we must similarly evolve. ttis a
source of pride for the business that often, in areas such as the
provision of foodservice on forecourts, EG has been an innovator
and disrupter to established forecourt business models.

We continue to strive towards being a partner
of choice for leading foodservice, retail and
fuel brands across the markets that we operate

in, and to evaluate growth opportunities that
complement and strengthen our expanding
business portfolio.
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i GROWTH S
. -‘I.‘he_. Group has been defined
by its strong growth over

recent years. We are able to

-grow through both organic
and Inorganic ways through
cur extensive capital
investment programme,
strong operationat
principles and a proven
M&A execution capability
that has seen value created
from a numbet of recent
acquisitions.

| INNOVATION

Consumer demands are
continially evolving, with
more emphasis than ever '
being piaced on :
convenience and food
cholce. We continue to
evolve our technology
platform to develop a
forecourt of the future’,
focused on broadening our
product range and driving
quality to meet changing
demands.

i NETWOR

‘Through our extensive . -

recent acquisition and

NTI site programmes,

the Group now operates
an unrivalled site network
of over 6,300 sites across
ten countries.

SERVICE

The "Gro..llp:_h?as been

-successfully operating

third-party Foodservice
propdsi_tions__ for over a
decade.

2021 PROGRESS:
Six acquisitions completed in
the year, being:

*  KMS Autohof (Continental
Europe) i January 2021
LEON Restaurants (UK&I)
in May 202%

Mercury Fuel Service
(USAY In May 2021

52 KFC restaurants (UK&}D
from Amsric Foods in
September 2021
Cooplands bakery (UK&D)
in October 2021

Sprint Food Stores (USA)
in December 2021

Additionaliy, the acquisition of

OMV Germany (Continental

Europe) completed in

May 2022

Opening of 30 new-to-industry
('NTI") sites during the year

% See more on
pages 22 and 23

2021 PRCGRESS:

Continued investment in the
roflout of electric vehicle
("EV") chargers, with
additional investment planned
for 2022

Bevelopment of EV Paint,
our own branding for EV
chargers, offering full
integraticon, with existing
customer preposition

Investmant in our kiosk
offering for customer in
store self-service

Development of ‘last-mile’
delivery integrations and
unigue trial launched with
Deliverco Hop

Expansion of the Cumberiand
Farms SrmartPay loyalty
platform across our USA
network

‘Sée more on
’ pages 24 and 25 -

2021 PROGRESS:

Continued to upgrade the
quality of our estate with four
knock-down-rebuitds (“KDR")
and a number of site
conversions during the year,
including:

= Continued rollout of the
Asda On the Move
convenience retail offering at
our UK PF§ {ocations,
converting an additional 26
of our forecourt convenience
stores
We completed 46
conversions to our
preferred company-owned,
company-operated model
“COCO") in Centinental
Eurcpe
In Australia, 212 stores
have been upgraded and
an additional 191 stores
rebranded
Decision made in the year to
rebrand 60 sites from our
Tom Thumb brand to our
Cumberland Farms brand

w Scemore on’ oy
&  pages 26 and 27

2021 PROGRESS:

Completion of a number of
Foodservice acquisitions (see
growth strategy) ncluding our
first acquisitions of proprietary
Foodservice brands, LEON
and Cooplands in the VK&,
providing further product and
earnings diversification for the
Group

Continued investment in
Foodservice cutlets globally,
with a total of 145 new cutlets
opening in the year and new
brand partnerships developed

Strategic relationship
formed with Asda,

which broadened our

UR&I Foodservice netwark
through the rollout of 31 new
Foodservice outiets at Asda
locations in the year

See moreon
padges 28 and 29

> o—
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The Group has demonstrated significant growth
over recent years through both organic and
inorganic growth strategies, facilitated by our
capital investment programme, operational
principles and a strong M&A execution capability.

ORGANIC GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

We continually evaluate opportunities to grow our portfolio and
capture market share by developing new sites, upgrading existing
sites and looking {0 enhance the offerings we provide.

New-to-industry (“NTI") sites

A key pillar of our arganic growth plans is growing our footprint
through the building and operation of NT! sites, which provide us
with greater ability to apply our preferred multi-format operating
platform offering Grocery & Merchandise, Foodservice and Fuel
(including alternative fuels) products. These NT! sites are typically
larger than cur existing site network and as a result become some
of our best-performing sites.

= We opened 30 NTI sites in 2021 (34 in 2020); almost half (14)
of the sites were opened in the UK&l with six cpening in
Continental Eurcpe, seven in the USA and three in Australia

»  We have continued to grow our land bank to support future
naw site openings and expect to continue to roll out additional
NTI sites across all of our regions

Qur strategy will be to continue to further expand and consolidate
our Footprint in our existing markets.

Existing site enhancement

SITE EXPANSION AND REFPLACEMENT

we continually examine cur site network, looking for opportunities
to re-invigorate sites through knock-down-rebuilds ("KDR”, known
as 'raze-and-rebuilds’ in the USA) and through expansion of our
facilities through either extension to existing buildings or through
the purchase of adjacent land and construction of new facilities.

We would typically undertake a KDR if the presentation and layout
of a site is looking dated and not reflective of the high standard of
customer offering we are looking to provide.

During 2021 we undertook four KDRs (2020: five).
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ORGANIC GROWTH CASE STUDY:

NEW-TO-INDUSTRY SITE, LIVERPOOL, UK&I

In April 2021 we opened an NTI site "Coopers Lane Services” in
Knowsley, near Liverpool in the UK. The two acre site, located
next to a large industrial estate, is on a major commuter route
connecting the cities of Liverpool and Manchester, and was
previously a brownfield site. We invested c.$5m in the
development of the site, with construction work taking place
over a twetve-month period before opening. Coopers Lane is
great example of our successful UK business model, offering a
wide range of products and services, and includes branded fuei,
a 6,500 sq ft retail store including a Greggs and Sbkarro
Foodservice outlet and an adjacent 2,500 sq ft Starbucks
drive-thru and dine in restaurant. Since cpening, performance
has been trading ahead of expectations, with the site
generating sales in excess of $65k per week.



STRATECIT REPORT
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\; Timeline of key acqui

tions completed

April 2021 4 September 2021
UK M uk
EG Group acquires LEON - EG Group acguires 52 KFC
Restaurants. restaurants in the UK from
Amsric Group.

Having tanded in the UK
in 1965 there are now over
900 KFL restauranis in
the UK alone.

With a menu inspired by
Mediterranean cooking,
the journey to deliver fast
food naturally began for
LEON in 2006.

ACGQUISITION-DRIVEN GROWTH

Our mahagement team, working with advisers, perform extensive
due diligence to identify attractive and suitable acqguisition targets
which we believe can be enhanced through the achievernent of
operational synergies and the ability to share best practices across
our estate.

An experienced internal integration team assists in the
post-acquisition integration process and the realisation of
financial and operational synergies. We only pursue acqusition
targets that meet our investment criteria as part of cur disciplined
acquisition strategy.

During 2021 we completed a number of acguisitions with an
aggregate consideration of $710m (2020; $214m} which broaden
the c-store footprint of our business in the UK&I, Continental
Europe and the USA, with the UK&I acquisitions notably increasing
our Foodservice capability:

= OnJanuary 18, 2021, the Group acquired KMS Autohof ("KMS*)
in Germany. The acquisition consists of ten petrol filling staticns
{"PFS"}, slX Burger King restaurants and ten gaming halls. The
acquisition forms part of the Group’s core growth strategy and
enables the Group to further expand into the European market

= On May 9, 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of LEON
Restaurants. The fast foad chain operates 43 standalone sites in
the UK & Iretand plus an additional 28 franchised sites, including
a number located in Continental Europe. This was our first
acquisition of a proprietary Foodservice brand, and further
emphasises the Group’s focus on non-fuel operations. The
acguisition enables the Group te further enhance its
Foodservice portfolio and provides significant growth patential,
including bringing LECN's non-restaurant products to our
convenience retail proposition. We have ambitious plans to
grow the brand across cur c-store network, including the
development of drive-thru offerings, with the first LECN
drive-thru opening in Gildersome, near Leeds in November 2021

e, E3

n the year

October 2021

UK

EG Group acquires
Ceooplands, the UK's
second-largest bakery chain.

In 1885, husband and wife
Fredrick and Alice Coopland
began trading as a smali
butcher and pie maker on
Market Street, Scarborough.

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIALS

December 2021

USA

E£G Group acquires Sprint
Food Stores, expanding into
Georgia and Scuth Carolina.

Founded in 1977, Sprint
Food Stores, Inc. provides a
fast and friendly convenient
service focused on meeting
the needs of customers.

» OnJune, 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of eight
leased PFS sites from Mercury Fuel Service, Inc in Connecticut,
USA. The Group already operates a network of Cumberland
Farms locations in Connecticut and the addition of the Mercury
sites enables the Group to further expand the presence of its
Cumberland Farms brand in Connecticut

«  On September 26, 2021, the Group acquired 52 Kentucky Fried
Chicken (“KFC”) restaurants in the UK & Ireland from Amsric
Group. The acquired network, across the south and south-west
regions, comprises more than 1,600 team members and a mix
of high-quality drive-thru and traditional restaurant formats.
The acquisition strengthens the Group's customer proposition
and is highly complementary to existing operations and the
Group's long-term growth plans for the Foodservice business

= On October 2, 2021, the Group acqguired C5 Food Group
Holdings Limited (' Cooplands’), a business which owns and
operates bakery assets in the UK, including three bakeries that
process ingredients and manufacture fresh food distributed
through its supply and logistics network to ¢.200 stores and
cafés, predominantly across the north-east and Yorkshire
regions. This acguisition, our second proprietary Foodservice
brand, will accelerate the Group's successful diversification
strategy, whilst also providing a platform to extend the
geographic reach and diversification of the Cooplands brand
through cur extensive forecourt network.

= On December 14, 2021, the Group compieted the acquisition
of 34 company-operated fuel and convenience stores from
Sprint Food Stores in the USA, expanding our presence to
two additional states, Georgia and South Carolina, as well as
enhancing our Foodservice proposition through the preprietary
‘Sprint Kitchen' Foodservice brang

Subsequent to the year end, on May 1, 2022 we cormpleted the
acauisition of OMV's high-quality German forecourt business,
consisting of 285 sites in Southern Germany. This transaction
demonstrates our confidence in the Gerrman market and we
pelieve there is significant cpportunity to build upon our scale
and market share.
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EGY conminuen

OUR STRAT

Consumer demands are continually evolving,
with more emphasis than ever being placed

on time constraints and product choice. We
continue to evolve our technology platform to
develop a ‘forecourt of the future’, focused on
broadening the product range and driving quality
to meet changing demands.

MOBILITY

As the world transitions to a lower carbon future, the demand
for eleclne vehicles conlinues Lo incredse, ds described i our
environmental considerations on page 41. The Board believes
the long-term trend towards electnfication of vehicles presents
a significant opportunity for the Group.

EG Group has invested approximately $3m in 2021 to continue its
rollout programme for chargers across the UK and some sites in
France. We now operate 250 electric charging points across 98
sites in the UK&I, Germany and France and have identified over
500 additional sites that, due to their locations and nature, are
suitable for additional electric charge points as part of the next
wave of site developments. The Group plans to continue the
rolleut of chargers in 2022, to have over 300 electric chargmg
points operating by the end of the year.

MOBILITY INNOVATION CASE STUDY:

EV POINT

Estabiished in 2021, EG Group faunched EV Point, our proprietary
branded ultra-fast electric vehicle (“EV"} charging proposition.
Our flagship location, the home of six ultra-fast chargers opened
in August 2022 at our Frontier Park site in Blackburn,

By the end of this year, we aim to have at least 20 of our UK&l
sites providing customers with ultra-fast charging. Beyond 2022,
we wili explore the opportunity to roll out further EV chargers
across more sites in the UK&I as weil as Continental Europe, with
selected sites typically having between two and six chargers.

Qur current software provider, ChargePoint, are the back-office
operator for our EV chargers which allows customers to find EG
locations and pay for usage through the ChargePoint app, or
alternatively pay on site with a simple tap of their credit/debit
cards. The energy customers will be using to charge their vehicles
will come from 100% renewable energy sources (a combination of
hydro, sotar and wind power).
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We are in discussions with teading players for the deployment of
infrastructure and services to support electric charging dermand
across our hetwork.

We are conscious that alternative forms of power, other than
electric, are being explored as a means to fuel cars, light

vehicies and trucks. Beyond EV chargers, we are also actively
considering how compressed natural gas ("CNG™), liquified
petroleum gas ("LPG”) and hydrogen may form part of a broader
strategic programme of retaid fuels at our sites to sit alongside
traditional transport fuels, with a particular focus on the potential
for hydrogen to power light and heavy-duty vehicles.
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DIGITAL = Personalised loyalty offers being trialled in the USA market with

EG Groun's digital vision is to deliver market-leading technology to an aim to roll the solution out globally; targeted offers based on

increase transaction value, frequency of visits and attraction of custormer preference and historic buying patterns will see the

new customers, whilst enabling efficiencies in operations. averf?gj transaction value increase and the frequency of visits

. . ) uplifte

Highlights of our strategy delivery include: +  Staff communication platforms remaining a significant

= Furtherance of our highly successful ‘last-mile’ delivery operational benefit; there are further exciting enhancerments in
integrations, we are enhancing our capabilities with unigue test with Microsoft's Viva suite
trials of ‘Deliverco Hop', integration of delivery options INto our |~ nynuous enhancement of security products and improved
mobile application and enhancement of delivery capabilities security culture within the organisation. As customer-facing
with major food service brands digital products are expanding, our partnerships with leading

+ Method of payment options continuing to increase year on security providers continue to grow and expand

year; this year has seen our mobile apphication offer customers
more ways to pay and in the USA our SmartPay features
continue to drive customer retention and attract new users of
the application

« Digital applications growing out at scale with the launch of a
UK application; features including order ahead for
Foodservices, loyaity schemes and pay for fuel are in live trials.
In the USA the SmartPay application has been delivered to all
banners, where we continue to see strong adoption of the
platform. In Australia, pay for fuel is now proven and in the final
stages of a marketing campaign to launch the functionality

DIGITAL INNOVATION CASE STUDY:

KIOSKS

The co-location of multi-brands within EG sites has prompted
our latest market-leading kiosk offering. Able to provide a single
interface for customers to shop across the various brands, it
effortlessly handles the complex administration, such as routing
payments to different processars or handing out orders to the
correct Kitchen management systems. in a first for the fuel retail
sector, the kiosks can now act as a self-service checkout for
convenience goods. Provision of this technology is helping us
to improve customer experience, add to the loyalty offers and
redirect staff resources to enhancing the stcre operations.

The kiask will soon link to the EG Group mobile applications
and provide a seamless experience for on-the-move customers
to get what they need.
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From one UK site in 2001 to over 6,300 sites
across three continents and ten countries today,
we have been on an incredible growth journey,
facilitated by our extensive recent acquisitions
and NTI opening programme.

A significant proporticn of our sites are campany owned and
company operated and our sites are typically larger than the
average site size in that geography.

Additionally, our site network is diverse, incorporating: 354
highway and highway-like sites that operate on highways/
motorways/inter-state roads. These sites are located on main
commuter traffic routes and in urban conurbations. They are
typically strategically located, generating strong footfall.

We also operate a number of unmanned sites which typically
operate from smalier footprints; and sites operated by third-party
operators such as dealers and agents.

We have a dynamic approach to managing our site estate,

where we look to add to the number of sites we operate through
acquisitions or the development of new-to-industry sites. We will
also, and have, exited sites that are believed to be non-core to the
Group’s wider strategy.

In addition to growing our site numbers, we continually look to
upgrade the quality of our estate through knock-down-rebuilds
and site conversions as described in our arganic growth strategy
on page 22.

GROUD SITE NUMSERS BY
QRERATING MGDEL

OGO
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We have a mix of company-owned, company-operated ("COCO"),
coempany-owned, not company-operated ("CONCQ"), and retailer
or dealer-owned and operated (‘other’) sites. Different models
result in different levels of revenue generation and require different
levels of capital expenditure. The Group's operating models can be
described in more detail as follows:

< COCO operations are directly managed by the Group and for
which the Group recognises all aspects of the performance and
maintenance of the site

« At CONCO sites, the dealer, franchisee or retaiter 1s responsible
for all non-fuel operations, as well as the operating costs
associated with the management of the site, whereas the Group
is responsible for any capital and maintenance costs associated
with the fuel eauipment, and in some instances the Greup has a
consignment arrangement for fuel sales and inventory

» ‘Other’ sites are owned and operated by & third party who has
full responsibility for the performance and maintenance of the
site. The Group either has a fuel supply arrangerment in place
with the third party, or, alternatively, the fuel supply is an a
consignment basis

We have a proven track record of performance improvement
through the conversion of sites to COCO to benefit from greater
cantrol of operations, with EG assuming responsibility for all
employees on site. Whilst this model means we incur the full cost
base of the site, the Company benefits from capturing the full
margin potential with little to no conversion costs typically
incurred.



Qur site network

UK & IRELAND

in addition to our growth strategy, which includes opening new
and redeveloped sites, during 2021 we saw the development of our
site network through the following actions:

* Recognising the enhancement to our Grocery & Merchandise
offering in the UK&I through our strategic relationship with
Asda, we continued to focus on expanding our customer
proposition and earnings potential through the rollout of the
‘Asda On the Move’ convenience retail offering at our UK
locations, converting an additional 26 of our forecourt
convenience stores during 2021, bringing the total to 31 by the
end of the year. We intend to roil out the Asda On the Move
propaosition across our UK&I PFS network

« Our European estate represents the highest preportion
of CONCO sites, with 2,027 dealer-operated sites at the end
of 2021, largely in Italy. We converted 46 CONCO sites to our
preferred COCO operating model during the year

+  As part of our site network assessment to ensure the appropriate
brands are being leveraged, at the end of 2021 we took the
decision to commence a rebranding programme of 60 sites in the
USA from our Tom Thumb brand to our Cumberland Farms brand

+  Alsoin the USA, as part of ongoing reviews of our site network,
we decided to exit 35 of our sites across the states of
Wisconsin, Minnesota and Indiana, with these sites held for sale
at the balance sheet date and sold in early 2022. This decision
was made due to the small number of sites that we operated in
these states. that limited our ability to operate efficiently

« In Australia, we continue to focus on the transformation of the
existing network through the upgrade and rebranding of stores.
Through the year, 212 stores have been upgraded with an
additional 191 stores rebranded

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

AUSTRALIA

Additionally, during November and December 2027, 32 sites were
divested in the UK, addressing the findings of the CMA's review of
the sharcholders’ separate acquisition of Asda.

Similarly, as per the German Anti-Trust Authorities clearance
decision relating to the completion of the OMV acquisition, the
Group has agreed to divest 48 sites, 24 of which are in our existing
German estate and 24 in the CMV estate. These divestments are
expected to complete in the second half of 2022, following the
QMV acquisition completing in May 2022,

The strength of our site network offers a number of distinct
strategic advantages over our competitors:

+  We are more attractive to third-party brand partners, who are
looking for new routes to market with trusted partners, often
across multiple geographies. We have a strong pipeline of sites
that are suitabie for roll cut of new Foodservice and Grocery &
Merchandise propasitions, whilst having established a strong
track record as a responsible brand ambassador

« By being so diversified, the Group is able to exert a strong
resilience if a natural event, such as a hurricane, adversely
impacts certain regions of our operations. This geographic
diversification was demonstrated during the pandemic, where
our operating countries experienced lockdown restrictions at
different times, enabling the sharing of best practice across the
Group whilst the adverse financial impact from individual
countries were able to be offset from the recovery of others

« An unrivalled gleobal platform to build an extensive etectric
vehicle, and other alternative fuels, network. A vast number of
sites are large enough to operate both fossil and alternative fuel
offerings and already host a number of attractive non-fuel
propositions for customers, and cur high-guality sites are able
to provide a strong Foodservice and Gracery & Merchandise
offering for consumers to take advantage of whilst using cur
charging facilities on site
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The Group has been successfully operating
Foodservice outlets for over a decade and
we are a partner of choice for many leading
third-party brands.

Across the Group we now operate over 1,800 Foodservice outlets,
of which 590 are located at standalone Foodservice locations.

We are a significant operator of scale of Foodservice sites and
have established a position as a leading franchisee for our brand
partners.

Since the recpening of cur Foodservice outlets during the
pandemic, performance has exceeded our expectations, with
growing demand from consumers for accessible Foodservice
solutions including the expanston of home delivery.

Our penetration within the Foodservice market is increasingly
important given the sector is expected to experience secular
growth over the next few years, driven by changing lifestyles:

+  Changing eating habits and hybrid working routines mean
convenience is increasingly important

« Increasing urbanisation, mobility and travel by car

« Increasing number of single households and households with
multiple incomes

Foodservice offerings an a forecourt platform remains
underdeveloped across most countries, in terms of penetration
and rollout of more sophisticated propositions. Unlocking the
opportunity requires high traffic sites and the operating
know-how to provide compelling customer propositions.

we are continually reviewing cur brand portfolio and evaluating
opportunities to partner with leading Foodservice brands and to
develop high-guality proprietary offerings.

During 2021, we made continued investment in Foodservice
outiets globaily with a total of 145 new outlets opening in the year,
including thase at Asda locations (see UK&l operating update on
page 30) and several new brand partnerships developed.
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Cn May 8, 2021, we completed the acguisition of LEON
Restaurants. LEON which was established in the UK in 2004

and serves healthy, fresh and naturally fast food ~ from a largely
London-centric site network but also from an increasing number
of arrport, train station and travel hubs.

We see the LEON brand as being a highly complementary addition
to our Foodservice brands portfelio, which already includes the
strong third-party brands noted above. It is, however, the first
acguisition that EG has made of a proprietary brand and we are
excited by the growth flexibilty that 1s availakle from operating
our own brand - particularly given LEON is on trend for the
evolving themaes of healthy eating and having an ethical and
sustainable heritage, currently being played out in Foodservice.

Woe intend to invest in the LEOM brand and broaden the current
Foodservice offer across our extensive global site network, with
plans to open around 20 LEQNSs per year from 2022, We als0 see
significant potential for LEON’s praoducts across our convenience
retail network and the broader supermarket ecosystem.

Following the acquisition of LEON Restaurants, in October 2021
we acquired our second proprietary brand in Cooplands bakery,
Cooplands owns and operates high-quality bakery assets in the
UK, including three bakeries that process ingredients and
manufacture fresh food, distributed through its supply and
logistics network to about 180 stores and cafés, predominantly
across the north-east and Yorkshire regions. The acquisition
further accelerates our successful diversification strategy and adds
another highly complementary proprietary branded Foodservice
asset that will drive development opportunities into other parts of
the business.

We have exciting plans to invest in the Cooplands brand and fresh
tood offering to extend Cooplands' gecgraphic reach beyond its
largely north of England base and diversify the brand into the
transient petrol forecourt and retail convenience store channel,
alongside the bakery chain’s traditional store formats.

We also expanded our KFC network further in September 2021,
with the acquisition of 52 KFC restaurants from Amsnic Foods,
and following the year end with two smaller acquisitions m
Continental Europe of a further nine KFC sites.

During 2021 we opened our 200th Greggs store, meaning

we account for approximately 10% of the total Greggs estate.
We are also the largest Starbucks franchisee in Europe and the
largest KFC franchisee in Western Europe.
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OPERATING REVIE'

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Fram a single site in 2007, to a network of 380 petrol filling
stations and 579 standalone Foodservice outlets at the end of
2021, our UK & Ireland ("UK&I"} business represents the Group's
most mature business in terms of our forecourt strategy and
customer proposition. We continue to operate with strong
third-party branded Grocery & Merchandise and Foodservice
offerings, and more recently under our newly acqguired proprietary
Foodservice brands: LECN and Cooplands.

During the year, our UK&I Grocery & Merchandise business was
enhanced through our strategic relationship with Asda, where we
cantinue to focus on expanding cur customer proposition and
earnings potential through the rollout of the *Asda On the Move'
convenience retail offering at our UK locations, as detailed on
page 27.

Qur UK&I Foodservice operations continued to go from strenath
to strength, driven by increased customer demand for ‘to go’
and delivery offerings and more favourable trading conditions
compared to 2020, augmented by our new Foodservice outlet
openings and the three Foodservice acquisitions completed
during the year.

The acquisition of LEON Restaurants on May 9, 2020 was a
complementary addition to our existing Foodservice brands
partfolic and provides further diversification and growth
opportunities from owning a proprietary Foodservice brand. LEON
offers healthy, fresh and natural fast food under its proprietary brand
LEON at its 43 company-operated sites across the UK.

On September 27, 2021 we acduired 52 KFC restaurants from
Amsric Foods, expanding our KFC network in the south and
south-west of the UK and establishing our position as the targest
franchisee in Western Europe for the KFC brand.

The acquisition of Cooplands, the UK's second largest

bakery chain, completed on October 2, 2021 and adds highly
complementary assets including a second proprietary brand,
driving development and expansion opportunities for the brand
to our UK forecourt network.

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES:

Qur UK ioned in the market and we

clop through the fol
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In addition to the acquisitions that completed during 2021, there
has also been continued site development during the year to
expand and enhance our UK&I estate through the cpening of 14
new-to-industry sites, bringing our total number of forecourts in
UK&I to 380 at the end of the year. Furthermore, we have
continued to invest in our Foadservice and Grocery & Merchandise
offering through the opening of 95 new Foadservice outlets in the
year, including 13 new cutlets at Asda locations.

During November and December 2027, 32 sites were divested in
the UK, addressing the findings of the CMA's review of the
shareholders’ separate acqguisition of Asda.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue for the UK&! business in 2021 increased by $1,217m, or
49%, to $3.678m (2020 $2,461m). Tha revenue increase is largely
due to incremental earnings from new sites and an increase in
footfall following the easing of lockdown restrictions.

Adjusted EBITDAM® increased by $148m to $396m (2020 $248m)
and operating profit™® increased by $160m to $314m (2020:
$154m).

These increases were partly driven by the incremental profitahility
generated by the acquisitions of LEON Restaurants, Amsric Foods
and Cooplands, with Foodservice gross profit of $493m increasing
year-on-yoar by $254m (2020: $239m), of which $59m relates

to the perfarmance of our newly acquired businesses, Excluding
the impact of acquisitions, Foodservice gross profit increased by
$3195m, reflecting the growth in demand for Foodservice delivery
services, the recovery from reduced 2020 trading levels and

the benefit cbhserved from the temporary reduction in VAT,

The performance of the UK&I business was also supported by the
continued business rates relief introduced by the UK government
in response to the pandemic.

Investments made to UK&I capital expenditure totalled $174m in 2021
(2020: $154m) and included the building of 14 new-to-industry sites,
significant investment made 1n acauiring land for future development
and investment in developing our Foodservice offering. This is in
addition to the total of $377m invested to complete the LEON, Amsric
and Cooplands acguisitions.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Cur Continentat European business consists of the French

and Benelux operations of EFR acquired in 2016, and the 2018
acquisitions of Esso ttaly, NRGValue (the Netherlands) and Esso
Germany. Within the Continental Eurcpean region we cperate a
highway site network of 276 sites, whilst 309 of our sites are
unmanned and offer fuel only (in France and Benelux).

Cur Eurcpean estate also represents the highest proportion of
company-owned, not company-operated ("COMNCO") sites, with
2,027 dealer-cperated sites at the end of 2021, with a large
concentration in italy. We continued to review and identify
dealer-operated sites suitable for conversion to our preferred
CCCO medel, with 46 conversions taking place during the year.

During the year we completed on the acquisition of ten German
truck stops and six Burger King rastaurants and subsequent to
the year end we completed cur acquisition of OMV's Germah
forecourt business, consisting of 285 sites in southern Germany.
As per the German Anti-Trust Authorities clearance decision
refating to the completion of the OMV acquisition, the Group have
agreed to divest 48 sites, 24 of which are in EG's existing estate
and 24 in the OMV estate. These transactions demonstrate our
confidence in the German market and we believe there is
significant opportunity to build upon our scale and market share.

in addition to the above acguisitions, a number of smaller
acauisitions were completed during 2021 and early 2022 in the
Netherlands and Germany which introduced twelve standalone
KFC outlets to our estate and demonstrates the Group's desire 1o
improve our non-fuel offering across Continental Europe.

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES:

We remain foct eloping and expanding our

Continental Eu an business through the following initiatives:

+ InFrance ak J
o motora ith subrsequont Gr
roflouts at these lucrative

axisting
brands as w 2 lation of now car wash

Qur Benelux strategy is f ed on further roflout of

32 EG Group 4 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements

FINANCLIAL REVIEW

Revenue for Continental Europe in 2021 increased by $1.981m,

or 21%, to $11.333m (2020: $9,352m). This increase was largely due
to trading returning back to more ‘normalised’ conditions when
compared with 2020, a time when all of our markets across
Continental Europe were under severe pandemic related lockdown
restrictions, which resulted in a significant decrease in road travel
and tourism, and saw the temporary closure of non-essential retail
stores.

Adjusted EBITDAY? increased by $139m to $571m (2020: $432m)
and operating profit™® decreased by $77m to $95m (2020
£172m), following the impact of impairments to fixed assets in
the year. Growth in EBITDA was seen across each country within
Continental Europe and was driven by increases in both fuel

and non-fuel gross profit.

Fuel gross profit of $645m increased by $70m (2020: $575m) and
non-fuel gross profit of $450m increased by $72m (2020: $378m).
Thease increases are attributable to increased footfall at sites with
fewer lockdowns imposed in 2021 than in the prior year, but also
reflect strong performance In Grocery & Merchandise as the shift
towards convenience stores continues to be observed and further
growth from the rollouts of our branded third-party Foodservice
autlets.

European capital expenditure totalied $78m in 2021 (2020: $56m)
with over 40% of this amount being spent on maintenance of our
sites and the remainder largely focused on knock-down-rebuilds
and Foodservice rollouts.
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OPERATING REVIE

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Contributing almost 40% of Group EBITDA, our USA region is

the largest within cur Group in terms of profitability and second
largest in terms of store count. Qur USA business is a scalabie,
nationwide platform and one which we continue to locok at for
further opportunities, evidenced by the recent acquisition of
Sprint Food stores in December 2021, which added 34
company-operated fuel and convenience stores to our USA estate
and expands our presence to two additional states: Georgia ang
South Carolina.

Following this acquisition, EG USA now operates in 33 states and
is the fourth largest independent c-store estate in the country by
store number, with 1,737 sites {(2020: 1,703 sites). We expect our
store numbers to continue increasing year-on-year as a result of
our investment in new-to-industry sites.

As part of the ongoing review of our portfolio, we tock the
decision te exit 35 of cur sites across the states of Wisconsin,
Minnesota and Indiana, with these sites held for sale at the balance
sheet date and sold in early 2022. This decision was made due to
the small number of sites that we operated in these states, which
limited our ability to operate efficiently.

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES:

aim to
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue in the USA increased by $1,357m, or 19%, to $8,643m
(2020: $7,286m}, and Adjusted EBITDAY increased by $19m to
$615m (2020: $634m); this increase was largely driven by a
significant improvement in profitability from enhanced product
mix and sales of coffee and beverages. Operating profit®
decreased by $28m to $363m (2020: $391m); this was driven by
the challenging trading and econoimic conditions during the year,
with higher pre-COVID-19 trading level in the comparative period.

Fuel gross profit of $774m decreased by $61m (2020 $835m),
attributable to the increased fuel margins observed during 2020
as a result of market volatility resulting from the impact of the
pandemic on wholesale fuel. Non-fuel gross profit of $268m
increased by $67m (2G20: $9C1m), In part due to the roliout of

14 new Foodservice outlels during the year, including six of the
proprietary Farmhouse Fresh to Go brand, coupled with improved
Grocery & Merchandise performance frem an enhanced sales mix
including increased beverage sales.

USA capital expenditure totalled $181m in 2021 (2020: $132m),
which included site maintenance expenditure and investment in
seven new-to-tindustry sites and land bank acquisitions.
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OPERATING REVIEW coninues

QPERATIONAL REVIEW

Acauired by EG Group in April 2019, our Australian site network

is the second largest independent c-store retailer by site numbers.
The Australian business consists of 538 COCO sites, of which over
99% are leasehold. with nearly 40% of these sites having a
remaining lease life of over 20 years. Throughout 2021, we
expanded our presence in Australia through the opening of four
new-to-industry sites alongside the addition of eleven foed outlets
to the existing network, including Café Aurora and Pizza Hut.

The rollout of delivery services extended to 160 stares in the year,
through partnership with Uber Eats, Deliveroo and Door Dash.

During 2021, our Australian business was impacted more heavily by
COVID-19 than our other regions, with severe [ockdown restrictions
in place for a large portion of the second half of the year. Despite
iowar footfall in our stores, our convenience earnings remained
resilient as a result of the investment made in our non-fuel offering,

Management remain focused on ther investment in the
transformation of the existing netwerk through the continued
upgrade and rebranding of stores. Through the year, 212 stores
have been upgraded with an additional 191 stores rebranded. 2021
also saw the completion of the transition from the Woolworths
Transitional Service Agreement (“TSA”).

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES:

» Australian busin t
opportunties for EG Group to grow and develop through the

foliowing strategic activi
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue for Australta during 2021 increased by $402m, ot 17%,
to $2,766m (2020: $2,364m). This revenue increase was primarily
related to the impact of increased wholesale fue! prices.

Adiusted EBITDA™ decreased by $15m to $204m (2020: $219m),
and operating profit™® dacreased by $147m to an operating loss of
$47m (2020: $100m), with the comparative period benefiting from
the Australian Government's wage support scheme that was In
place at the outset of the pandemic, totalling $28m. The operating
profit decrease includes a $100m impairment to the Australia
goodwill which resulted from the decrease in performance in the
yvear, Fuel gross profit of $328m increased by $17m (2020: $311m)
with velumes declining against last year due to the impact of
COVID-19 lockdowns during 2021, offset by stronger fuel margins.
Non-fued gross profit of $95m incressed by $&m (7020: $87m) due
to the sales in Foodservice and hot beverages growing in the year
as a result of the continued rollout of the refresh programme,

Capital expenditure for Australia totalled $74m in 2021
(2020 $37m) and includes the store refresh programme, four
new-to-industry sites and investment in 1T systems following
the transition of its systems and process from the TSA

with Woolworths,

On April 1, 2022, our Australia business resolved its Federal

Court proceedings with Ampol Limited CAmpol’). In resolving the
dispute, the parties agreed updated cormmercial terms, and agreed
to rebrand our sites to Ampol. Further details are provided in note
36 to the financial statements.
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outlets and Grocery & Merchandise stores
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ENVIRONMENT,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

WE BELIEVE EG GROUP
‘HAS A RESPONSIBILITY TO
,RESPOND TO THE ESG ISSUES
'WHERE WE CAN HAVE

‘THE BIGGEST IMPACT ON
PEOPLE AND THE PLANET

The world faces a humber of critical environmental
and societal challenges, from climate change

and biodiversity loss to the continuing recovery
from COVID-19 and rising energy and food prices.
Expectations on businesses to deliver long-term
value to shareholders and wider stakeholders
continue to increase. Against this backdrop, in 2021,
we continued to invest in our people, infrastructure
and local communities.

We are committed to being a responsible business and
are developing a strategy on environment, social and
governance (ESG) issues to enable us to identify and
manage risks and opportunities and ensure our business
is prepared for the future. This section provides an
overview of our current activity, and our plans to
progress on our ESG journey.

ENVIRONMENT GOVERNANCE

See page 41 Sec page 5C

SOCIAL

Soe page 45
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ENVIRONMENT,

SOCIAL AND GOVERNARNCE conriwen

As a retailer with global operations and supply chains, our impacts

are extensive and varied. We know that we can't focus on every

ESG I1ssue, and so we focus on those that matter most to our

business and to our stakeholders, including our colleagues

and investors. We recognise that we are on a journey towards

good practice on E5G and sustainabkility, and that we need to

strengthen and improve our approach to managing this

increasingly important agenda.

In early 2022, we conducted our first comprehensive £5G materiality

assessment, to identify and define our ESG priorities, This was based

on an assessment of stakeholder expectations, peer benchmarking

and horizon scanning. Listening to our stakeholders and defining our

most material ESG issues, means we can prioritise resources and time

to activities where we can have the greatest impact.

To identify our most material ESG issues, we reviewed different

areas of our business, inctuding our products and supply chain,

our own operations; our people and communities; and

our gavernance,

With the support of external consultants PwC, ocur ESG matenality

assessment invelved a review of:

*  QOur current £ESG activity

« Emerging ESG trends, best practice, risks and cpportunities in
our sector

+ Legislation and the regulatory landscape

« External standards and frameworks

+ Peer benchmarking

+  Stakeholder perspectives, including our shareholders,
colleagues, investors, customers and brand partners

OUR MATERIAL ESG ISSUES

ESG REPORTING

In 2022 we will publish our first ESG Report, in which we will

set out our ESG targets and disclose ESG data and information
in line with good practice and external reporting frameworks.
This will create a baseline against which we will measure our
performance on £ESG in future. We are also developing our
reporting to comply with future reguirements, including the
UK's Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures in
2022, and the EU's Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive.

The process of measuring and reporting is important for us to
drive performance and accountability, and to demonstrate
continued prograss on ESG to our stakeholders.

Cur most material ESG issues have been selected based on 'double materiality' i.e. topics that are most material to our business
value (based on financial perspectives) and those that are most material to society (based on wider stakeholder perspectives).

Based on our research, the most material ESG issue for EG is:

Climate change and the transitien to a lower-carban economy; this includes fuel rotall, lower-carken traasoort angd

aiternaiive fuels, and energy use 21 site operations

Siversity, BEoguality & Instusion

Imployes reward angd weltbeing

Waoshe mianagement mcluaiag fnod waste

Corporats disclasure
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As the world transitions to a lower-carbon future, the demand for
more sustainable products continues to increase. We operate a
number of electric vehicle chargers across gur sites and continue
to develop our mobility strategy which will see a significant
increase in charging points in the coming years.

CLIMATE CHANGE AND THE TRANSITION

TO A LOWER-CARBON ECONOMY

We recognise our rasponsibility when it comes to measuring and
reducing our carbon footprint. As a glebal convenience retailer
with sites in local communities across the world, we also
understand we are especially well-placed to play a role in the
transition to a lower-carbon economy through our products

and services.

Measuring and reporting

We report our greenhouse gas emissions for our UK business
operations In line with UK legislation (see the table on the next
page). In our ESG Report to be published in 2022, we will report
Group-wide carbon emissions across our operations (scope ¥ and
2) and our products and supply chain (scope 3). We will also
develop a carbon reduction target and a detailed roadmap to
achieve emissions reductions, in line with good practice, against
which we will repart progress in subsequent years.

Renewable energy use

We have switched to a renewable electricity tanff at a number of
sites, tncluding all our sites in the Netherlands, and all LEON sites
in the UK where we are responsibie for purchasing the energy.

In addition, in 2021 we acquired 52 KFC sites in the UK (Polio Ltd),

alt of which are now supplied by 100% renewable energy.

We install solar panels wherever possible at new-to-industry sites,
including petrol filling stations (PF5) and all suitable Foodservice
sites. In 2021, our solar panels 1n the UK generated over 5 million
kWh of electricity, taking pressure off the grid and reducing costs
at the same time. Separately, we continue to explore battery
storage, with the aim of securing self-generated electricity for our
own use; and generating revenue by supplying naticnal gnd
infrastructure during peak demand times.

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

Energy efficiency

We aim to reduce our overall energy consumption. in the UK and
Europe we continue to roil out Automated Meter Reading
contracts to monitor live energy consumption, which allows us to
monitor and manage consumption in real time.

In 2021 we also continuad the rollout of LED fighting across our
estate in the UK, Europe and the USA. Additionally, we continue to
trial solar thermal systems to heat hot water tanks naturally
through sunlight. And our ‘Smart Cool’ systems help to increase
the efficiency and performance of air conditioning systems,
helping to reduce energy consumption by optimising the
performance of the units.

Lower-carbon fuels and transport

As demand for electric vehicle (EV) charging increases, we are
actively exploring options with automotive manufacturers and
leading players in the industry to offer charging solutions. This will
allow us to scale up £V charging within our network of sites,
which are well positioned in convenient locations and adaptable
to meet the changing needs of our customers. The latest
developments towards our mobility strategy are summarised on
page 24.

Having been an early adopter (our first EV charger was installed at
one of our sites near Heathrow Airport more than ten years ago),
we now have 250 EV charging points across 98 sites in the UK and
Europe, We have invested $3m in FY21in the UK and Continental
Europe on rolling out ultra-fast EV chargers. In the USA we
continue to explore the rollout of EV charging in agreement with
partners, with approximately 50 sites in various stages of
development, from agreement to installation.

Lower-carbon fueals will enhance our portfolio and provide an
opportunity to drive greater footfall onto our estate. Whilst a
transition away from petrol and diesei has not materially impacted
our forecourt operations as vet, we are conscious of the
importance of a lower-carbon future and will continue to explore
strategic options around those alternative fuels.

EG Group | 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements 4



ENVIRONMENT,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNA

CE EONTII\_JUED

OUR UK EMISSIONS

We report data on our UK carbon emissions and energy
consumption from operations in line with our obligations as a
Large Private Company‘”. Material carbon emissions sources
assoclated with our operations Include natural gas and
electricity used across EG's UK site network and head office,
and vehicles used by EG employees in the UK.

We show 2021 data in the table below, as well as previous years’
data for comparison. Operations in 2020 were significantly
impacted by the pandemic, and therefore we have used 2019 as
a haseline. Whilst total energy consumption and emissions

UK emissions
(tonnes of CO_e)

SCOE;i (fuel comt;ustlon and Dperatron of facilities)
Scope 2 (purchased electricity, heat and steam generated)
Location based
Market based
Scope 3 (mdwect emissions from employee transport)“’
TOTAL scorpré 1, 2 (Iocat;;éiﬁssed) an;3
TO‘1;AL scope 1,2 (market based) and 3

Intensity ratio (tCO_e / EBITDA £m)

increased in 2021 against previous years, this is primarily due to
the inclusion of data from cur 2020 and 2021 new sites and
acquisitions?. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, the data
would have shown a smaller increase when compared with 2019,
Im order to express our emissions in relation to 2 quantifiable
factor associated with our activities, we have used Adjusted
EBITDA® as our intensity ratio as this 1s a relevant indication
of our growth and is aligned with our business strategy.

The intensity ratio shows a decrease of 19% versus 2019,
reflecting that whilst total absolute emissions increased,

they show a decrease when normalised against EBITDA.

2021 variance vs
Z(19 baseline

65%

17,520
14,880
759
20, 869

18,229

UK energy consumption
(kWh)

Scope 1 (Fuel combustlon and operatwon of facwlmes)
Natural gas

Gas ol

TOTAL scope 1

Scope 2 (purchased electricity)

Scope 3 (mdlrect emissions from employee transport)®

TOTAL scope 1, 2 and 3 energy consumption

10,016 574

942102 995199 306%

187600 1,097 586,347 -68%

787307 531.928

883,842 -11%

1,485.127 2,465,388 346%

75149 563 77.837.638 81%

3, OlO 103 331,547 17%

79, 644 794

83,614,573 86%

EG Group | Annual Re
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

Operational waste

We work with waste management contractors to manage our
waste responsibly. We minimise stock toss through optimised
stock management and ordering, and we are working to
maximise the proportion of waste which is appropriately
segregated and recycled.

Food waste

According to the UN, every year across the globe, one third

of all food produced for human consumption 1s wasted. As a
convenience and foodservice retailer we have a role in ensuring
food doesn’t go to waste. We are working with Too Good To Go
(TGTG) in the UK and Continental Eurcpe. TGTG is an organisation
which seeks to prevent food waste, via an app that allows anyone
to pick up unsold, surpius feod i ‘magic bags' at a discount at the
end of the working day. In 2021, our partnership with TGTG was
operational across the UK, France, Germany, Belgium and the
Netherlands. Since the start of our partnership, we have sold
1,029,552 magic food bags (2021: 734,482), helping to avoid

an estimated 2,573,880 kg of CO, (2021: 1,836,205 kg).

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

WATER

We continue to explore options to reduce water consumption.

In 2021, we started the rollout of Automatic Meter Reading devices
in the UK to hels monitor cur water consumption on a half-hourly
basis in the UK, This allows us to identify and proactively fix leaks
and inefficiencies on site, and helps to reduce overall water
consumption and costs.

We have also rolled out push-button taops and flush control
systems for urinals across our UK estate, and there is
rainwater harvesting at some of our larger locations.

In addition, in 2021 we recycled almaost 241,000 gallons of
groundwater on new store development projects in the USA via
Giohaleyele. Globalcycie has a permit to accept non-hazardous
industrial wastewaters, and uses filtration systems and activated
carbon to recycle wastewaters into a reusabie water source for
industrial applications.
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SUSTAINABILITY AT LEON:

In 2021, EG acquired LEON. Founded by John Vincent,

Henry Dimbleby and Chef Allegra McEvedy in 2004,

LEON Is a ploneer of “naturally fast food”, changing people’s
expectations of what is possible in quick service restaurants.
The company has created a menu that tastes good and Is kind
to the planet, driven by a passion to help everyone eat and
live well. By adding LECN to cur proprietary own brands we
are actively expanding our product offering to a wider market.

KEY SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES AT LEON INCLUDE:

Lower-carbon menus:

A significant amount of the menu is vegan or vegetarian,
which has a low carbon footprint - beef was removed from
menus in 2019, Carbon offsets are purchased so that the
burgers and fries are carbon neutral.

Responsible sourcing:

LEON seeks to source locally where it can, but this isn't always
possible, it aims to work with suppliers who promote good
working conditions and environmental protection in the supply
cham, For example, coffee is triple certified: Fairtrade, organic
and World Land Trust. For every seven cups of coffee purchased
at LEON, one square metre of forest or natural habitat is
protected through a donation to the World Land Trust.

VERNANCE covrnien

Diet and health:

LEON’s menu is based on the principles of the Mediterranean
diet. This means it is full of plants and a variety of wholegrains,
healthy fats, well-sourced meat and fish, and live cultured
products. Herbs and spices are used to season food, rather
than an over-reliance on salt, All of LEON’s menus have a strong
balance of vegetarian and vegan dishes, balancing out their
ever-decreasing use of well-sourced meat. And, though cereals
aren't bad for everyone, modern wheat production differs to
ancient methods and processed carbohydrates can be difficult
to digest. That's why, where possible, LEON also offers naturally
gluten-free options.

Animal welfare:
British chicken and British pork {minimum Recd Tractor) are
used across the menu. All eggs are free-range and British too.

Renewable energy:

Al LEON sites use 100% renewable electricity to reduce
carbon emissions (where we are responsible for purchasing
the energy).

Plastics:

All plastic cutlery and straws have been replaced with
biodegradable and paper alternatives.
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We have a committed, diverse and talented
worktorce, We strive (o create the conditions
where every colleague is proud of working at EG,
feciz able to be their true self at work and deliver
to their full potential,

In 2021, we continued to focus on the wellbeing of our colleagues,
enhancing our already diverse and inclusive environment, and
creating opportunities for jobs, training, skills ang development.

We also play 2 role in wider communities, as a retailer at the heart
of local communities across our ten operating markets.

COLLEAGUE ENGAGEMENT

Our colleagues’ skills and expertise make a significant contribution
to EG, and we want to ensure that our colleagues are engaged in
our growth and future plans. Having engaged coileagues who feel
connected to EG and who feel valued for their contribution, is vital
to our continued sUCCess.

In 2021, we carried cut our inaugural ‘Better Together' Group-wide
colleague survey, to measure Colleague engagement and
experience. This 1s a crucial first step in better understanding our
team, what is working well, where the opportunities are for
improvement and what we can do to improve engagement and
ultimately our employee experience.

Our Group-wide score is 2%, with over 16,000 colleagues
responding ta the survey. This score reflects key themes including:
‘engagement’ (how the business supports colleagues to perform at
their best, driving preductivity); ‘empowerment’ (the sense of
personal ownership over day-to-day tasks) and ‘energised’ (the
sense of pride, belonging, purbose and connection to the
business).

Our analysis shows that pay and benefits; wellbeing; and
communications are the key issues that influence engagement
scores and drive our coileaguss’ everyday experiances at EG.

In 2022, teams in all countries have been distilling the outputs
from the survey, conducting additional listening sessions with
colleagues and creating improvement action plans. HR leads in all
countries conduct a guarterly review and feedback session, and
report into the Remuneration Committee. Through this ‘feedback,
respond and improve' cycle, we expect our colleague response
rate and engagement score to improve in future years.

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

Whilst the survey is important, our engagement with colleagues is
not a one-off exercise but a continuous listening process where we
review our practices and culture, explore them further with our
teams and take actions to ensure that EG is a great place to work
right across the globe,

REWARD AND WELLBEING

We care about the welibeing of our colleagues, and aim to be an
employer of choice. We want to reward and recagnise our
colleagues fairly for their contribution to the Dusiness’ success.

Pay and benefits

COversight of workforce pay and conditions is a key responsibility
of the Remuneration Committee. See details of key activities
overseen by the Committee, as well as future plans, on pages 87,
This includes enhancement to pay and benefits for our colieagues
in 2021, including: increases in pay; increase to colleagues' life
assurance policy: bonuses; discounts at EG brands; access to
development such as professional qualifications; and our EG Cares
portal for colleagues which offers a wide range of benefits.

In 2022 we are working to create job grading which will be
implemented across the business, for head officc middle
and senior management positions.

Wellbeing support

EG offers support to colleagues via the Employee Assistance
Programme, introduced to orovide counselling and support to
cotleagues whenever they need it. We are aware of the toll that
the pandemic has taken on pecople, and this service offers support
across a range of issues.

We also deliver training on wellbeing-related issues throughout the
yvear, and we ensure colleagues are supported through their line
management. We ensure line managers are equipped with the
necessary training and awareness to support cofleagues,

In the USA, the Hope Fund provides emergency funding for EG
colleagues experiencing unforeseen economic hardships.

Since 2012, the Hope Fund programme has donated over $1m to
more than 430 cotleagues. The Fund is an interest-bearing
account, supported primarily by voluntary donations from
colleagues, which are then matched by EG in the USA,

Gender pay

We are committed to rewarding all our colieagues fairly for their
work, and we are actively working on actions to close our gender
pay gap (the average difference between remuneration for women
and men). This includes monitoring the gender impact of our
reward processes — a practice that plays a fundamental role in
helping us to identify and improve our gender pay gap. To read
more, see our 2021 UK Gender Pay Statement on our website.
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PIVERSITY, EQUALITY AND INCLUSION

We are committed to being a diverse, equitable and inclusive
business, which reflects the diversity of cur colleagues, customers,
communities and countries in which we cperate, We aim to create
a workplace culture where all colleagues are respected, valued and
feel safe to be their authentic self, regardless of colour, gender,
age, ethnicity, sexuat orientation, career experience, political
allegiance, interest or passion,

We have an Anti-bullying and Harassment policy, and a Diversity,
Eguality and Inclusicn (DE&I) policy which sets cut our appreach
and activities on supporting our diverse workforce.

As part of our appreach, we are working on the following actions:

= Measure and publish key DE&! data (where possible and where
comphant with local legislation}, which will allow us to monitor
our cbjectives and set improvement acticns

« Develop an agile, diverse and inclusive workforce, with a diverse
talent pipeline

« DPevelop a DE&I Plan in each of our operating countries to
deliver on our objectives

» Develop a colleague-laed EG Inclusion Group, to represent
colleagues on DE&I issues including ethnicity, gender, LGBTQ+,
age and ability

* Coliaborate with external crganisations and partner brands to
positively influence the DE&F agenda

Disabled persens

Applications for employment by disabled persons are atways fully
considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled,
every effort is made to ensure that their employment with EG
continues and that appropriate training is arranged. As far as
possible, we ensure that the training, career development and
promotion of disabled persons is the same as that of

other colleagues.

Colfaborating on Diversity,

Equality & Inclusion

In the USA, EG partners with the National
Association of Convenience Stores (NACS),

to inform our work on Diversity, Equality &
Inclusion. In 2021, EG participated in a NACS
conference designed to provide C-suite leaders
and HR professionals with first-hand insight into
retailers’ challenges and opportunities around this
agenda, and to explore ways in which retailers can
foster an inclusive culture. We also partner with
AWE' in the USA, a firm that provides consulting
and developrnent in this area. Our Senior
Leadership team in the USA attended a session
facilitated by ‘AWE' to develop their knowledge
and awareness on topics including unconscious
bias, and to eguip them with the skilis to lead our
diverse teams.

Diversity in Retail - UK

We are proud to be a founding member of
Diversity in Retail (DIR}, working alongside other
leading UK retailers. DIR is devoted to increasing
women’s and ethnic minorities’ representation at
all levels and in leadership positions across the
retail sector. in 2021, a number of our colleagues
participated in leadership, mentoring and
development programmes though DIR, helping
them te build networks across the retail industry.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Providing our colleagues with training and development
opportunities is fundamentai in providing best-in-class customer
service. We are committed to equipping our colleagues with the
tools and resources for their current and future roles at EG. Cur
experienced global Learning & Development (L&D) teams provide
advice and guidance, supporting colleagues through onbearding
and induction, and throughout their career at EG.

We carry out an annuaf review of learning needs to inform the
provision of L&D activity, and our commitment is cutlined in our
Learning and Development Policy launched in 2021.

induction

We have a comprehensive induction programme for celleagues
acress all roles, functions and brands. This includes training on
compliance issues, including Health & Safety and GDPR.

Once completed, our colieagues then complete operational
training, inciuding specific brand training if they are to work
within one of our third-party brand partner cutlets. Each of our
third-party brand partners has set job roles which have a clearly
defined career pathway.

Food Safety Training

We are committed to the highest standards of food safety

and provide training for colleagues working in food service.

For example, in 2022 1n the UK, we were approved by the Royal
Society for Public Health as a training provider for delivery of
Food Safety qualifications from Levels 2 to 4. We have started the
rollout of Level 3 Food Safety to all our ‘Above Store Leaders’
across our UK Foodservice brands. In 2022 and 2023 we will
expand this o include our Store Manager colleagues.

Career development

We invest in colleagues’ professional development to ensure they
develop skills, gain gualifications and strengthen their long-term
career prospects, supported by our Professional Qualifications
Policy launched in 2021, We provide, for example, spensorship
apportunities for professional qualifications where required for a
colleague’s current role, or for an identified future role, We have
embarked on an ambitious learning pregramme supported by
significant investment in professional qualifications across cur
head Office and our operaticns.

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

A new two-day management and leadership programme is being
rolled out to colleagues across the business. This will equip
managers with the skifls and confidence to lead teams across
the organisation,

In the USA we have designed training focused on ‘Living & Leading
our Values' for pecple leaders to reflect on our values and the
accompanying behaviours expected of them. Every leader s
expected to identify areas of personal strength and set goals for
continuous improvement. We provide leaders with the tools and
support to facititate a development session on our values with
their own teams. We will start to roll cut training in 2022, and it is
intended to cover all our colleagues in the USA.

Apprenticeships

Cur UK business has invested significantly in the develocpment of
career pathways through apprenticeships funded by the
Apprenticeship Levy. We assess skills gaps and align our
apprenticeships offer with our business needs. In 2021 we increased
our committed levy spend from E£132,000 in 2020 to £675,000.

Apprenticeships offer the opportunity to develop skills, behaviour
ana knowledge while gaining practical experience. Qur first cohort
of 33 apprentices graduated in September 2021, This group
completed a 24-month Retailer Level 2 apprenticeship with 25%
graguating with a distinction, and 45% progressing intc more
senior roles.

In 2022, we announced our ambition to create 500 apprenticeships
over the next three years. This includes opportunities at our head
office, as well as our proprietary brands L EON and Coonlands.
Apprentices will be offered opportunities across a range of
disciplines and departments, including HR, finance, legal, surveying
and insurance. it alse includes opportunities at site level,

including courses ' retail and hospitality management. 200
apprentices are already signed up to the scheme for 2022,

During 2021, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we secured a
national contract with the UK's Department for Work and Pensions
to support yound people (aged 16-24) to develop employability
skilis, in a sector of their choice, as part of the Kickstart Scheme. We
provided 100 placements, with specifically designed employability
learning, to young people whose employment opportunities were
disadvantaged by the pandemic. The Kickstart Scheme ended in
June 2022 and data to date shows our '‘placement toc job conversion
rate’ is 78%.
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Charitable giving

Our colleagues are passionate about fundraising and give their
time to good causes in the communities where they live and
work - helping to rmake a difference where it's needed. Across
the ten markets in which we operate, colleagues have an active
calendar of fundraising events for charitable causes, from
sponsored walks and hill chmbs to bake sates and raffles.

EG Foundation

The EG Foundation was established in 2019 as an independent
charity with EG Group as its corporate sponsor - aiming to create
‘a brighter tomorrow' by supporting education, children and young
people, and heaith and welibeing. in 2021, the EG Feoundation

provided grants totalling over $299,000 to individuals, community ; FUNDRAISED N 202‘ FOR. ROYA MANCHESTER B
groups and charities. This included hosoices, schools, individuals - CHILDREN'S-HOSPITAL- CHARI_‘F\'_ANDALBER H_E“L"”' I

with dementia and learning disabilities, and support for young - CHILDREN'S (_:HAR'TY;'"_“ THE U_K
people. I L . :
EG Foundation funding for Star Readers iN GRANTS MADE BY
In 2021, the EG Foundation supported Star  THE EG FOUNDATION IN 2021

Academies through its grant-making scheme, Star
Acaderies is a mixed Multi-Academy Trust that
runs a diverse network of primary and secondary
schools, in some of the most deprived locations
acress the UK. Helping children to achieve their
potential is critical to the Academy’s ethos, and
developing reading and literacy skills is a key part
of this. Star Readers is 2 reading programme
designed to engage and challenge children, by
encouraging and rewarding them for reading from
a recommended list of specifically selected books.
The programme is helping to improve reading and
writing ability, enhance vocabulary, and improve
progress in other subjects through better

literacy - as well as fostering a love of reading

for its own sake.
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HEALTH & SAFETY

Keeping our colleagues and custcmers safe is critical to our
business, and throughout the course of the pandemic, we made
significant investment in, and adaptations to, our operations to
keep our colleagues and custaomers safe.

We are committed to meeting our legal obligations but also ensure
we continually improve in order to meet the highest standards of
health and safety practice for our colleagues, customers, visitors,
contractors and anyone affected by our business activities,

We have 3 commitment to zero accidents and incidents.

We have invested heavily in a variety of training courses, externally
hosted, in-house and onling, to ensure that our colleagues are
trained and competent to deliver tasks safely.

Good heaith, environment and safety management are consicered
an essential part of our business performance and culture, and
practices are regularly reviewad by the Board.

Our health and safety policies and procedures include, but are not
limited to:

+ Appropriate training for all colleagues to adhere to legal
compliance and best practice

+ Proactive and regular risk assessments, with root cause
analyses to maintain safe and healthy working environments
which helps to reduce occupational injury or illness

+ Internal and external audits to review a number of areas
{incluchng health and safety) are conducted across all PFS
and Foodservice sites on a regular basis

wWe formally monitor health and safety incident rates - all incidents
are logged and reported on a software system.

In terms of tank safety, we have emergency response procedures
and escalation processes in place in all our markets, for any
potential spill or leaks, and we use external envircnmental
specialists if required to respond to such incidents.

All tanks are monitored 24 hours a day by an external global
partner to measure potential variances or losses. In addition, each
site has automatic tank gauges (to detect potential leaks, losses
and water ingress), and overfill protection devices (to detect high
levels during delivery of product).

Safe spaces

Retailers are at the heart of local communities and retail sites are
open and accessible spaces. In 2022, EG, along with other retailers,
joined ‘Safe spaces’ in the UK - an initiative designed to provide a
place of safety and support, for any person who feels immediately
threatened ar vulnerable for any reason. This means any member
of the public can seek & place of safety at our sites, and we bave
raised awareness with our colleagues to ensure they are able ta
respond in such situations.

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

OUR SUPPLY CHAIN

Cur procurement activities take place predominantiy from our
Group head office and shared services centre in Blackburn (UK),
with support from regional offices 1n France, Italy, Germany, the
Netherlands, the USA and Australia.

We aim to work with trusted brand partners that are well
recognised globally or in their local markets and that have
well-established ESG policies and programmes. We expect our
suppliers and brand partners to ensure they menitor, manage and
mitigate ESG risks in their business and supply chains, and we
engage with them regularly on ESG issues to learn and share good
practice.

We recognise that there are ESG risks across our supply chain,
including risks of modern siavery and labour exploitation.

Qur Modern Slavery Statement, which is published on our external
website, sets out our approaching to identifying, managing and
rmitigating risks of modern slavery incidents in our operations and
supply chain.
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ENVIRONMENT,
SOCIAL AND G¢

As set out in the Wates disciosure section
ot page 771, the Group has appiied the Wales
Corporate Governance Principles for 2027

GRQUP BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board consists of Directors including our Co-Founaers

and Co-CEOs Mahsin Issa and Zuber Issa alongside TDR Capital
(TDR) representatives Manjit Dale, Founding Partner of TDR, and
Gary Lindsay, Partner of TDR. TDR is a leading international private
equity firm, managing capital on behalf of institutional,
governmental ang private investors worldwide.

Between November 2020 and March 2021 we welcomed
thiree independent, Non-Executive Directors onto the Board
to strengthen the Board's expertise and capabilities. Our
independent Non-Executive Directors are Lord Stuart Rose,
Dame Alison Carnwath and John Carey. The composition of
the Board and biographies of all our Directors can be found
on pages 72 and 73.

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring that £G maintains
a system of internal controls, and to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial information that is used within
the business. We have also established additional committees to
strengthen our governance structure and contrels, namely our
Audit & Risk Committee {(page 82); Remuneration Committee
(page 87) and Nomination Committee (page 80). We also have

an Executive Risk & Disclosure Committee which meets at

least quarterly.

See pages 74 to 79 for further detail on the Board and Group
governance structure.

TRy dg ¥ 1385 & AF

DATA PROTECTION AND INFORMATION SECURITY

We are subject to regulations and data protection and privacy laws
within the jurisdictions in which we operate, regarding the use of
personal data and debit and credit card data. We secure systems
and databases to our own standards and legally required
measures, such as Payment Card Industry compliance. We ensure
that procedures are In place to comply with data protection laws
and regulations. We aisc have policies and procedures in place to
help prevent information security breaches and carry out detalled
root cause analysis on any breach that does occur, to ensure we
learn from these and can stop similar occurrences arising.

ANTI-BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
We have a format Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy and we
ensure colleagues complete training to understand their
responsibitities and where to seek further information for support
on any anti-bribery issue. In 2021 we alse launched our formal
whistleblowing procedure and will be rolling out communications
to all colleagues on this in 2022.

STAKEHOLDERS

The Board's approach to business decisions and the long-term
impact on stakeholders is presented in cur Section 172
disclosure on pages 16 to 19.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

AND UNCERTAINTIES

Effective risk management aids decision-making,
underpins the delivery of our strategy and objectives,
and helps ensure that risks taken by the Group are
adequately assessed and actively managed.

RISK MANAGEMENT

As with all businesses, we are affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control.

During 2021, Management with support from the Board and Audit
& Risk Committee, developed a Group Risk Framewoerk. A Group
risk register and risk appetite statements were complled and
reviewed by the Executive Risk & Disclosure Committee and Audit
& Risk Committee, prior to approval from the Board.

Qur framewotk, whilst being simple and pragmatic, seeks to strike
the right balance of achieving the Group's strategy and delivering
on Its missicn, but within the accepted risk levels determined by
the Board, Cur processes and controls are not designed to
eliminate risk, but to identify, assess and mitigate both existing and
emerging risks to ensure that the business continues to meet its
strategic objectives.

During 2022 and 2023, we will continue to develop our risk
management framework and to work with in-house teams to
consolidate and align both a “top-down” and “bottom-up” approach.

COMPONENTS OF QUR RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

RISK IDENTIFICATION

A review of our risk universe, including an appraisal of the
business, external environment and regulatory landscape was
undertaken and Group risks were identified. Each risk was
categorised into a key area of the business (as listed below) and
an Executive level risk owner was assigned to each category.

RISK ASSESSMENT

Risks were assessed and scored against a scoring matrix
measuring the likelihood and impact (both financial and
non-financial) of the risk occurring. Assessments were undertaken
by Executive sponsors assigned to the risks and the risks were
then presented and challenged at the Executive Risk & Disclosure
Committee,

With operations in ten markets, providing fuel and retail
canvenience, including proprietary food brands, we may be
exposed to high levels of inherent risk across the business. As our
risk framework is not intended to eliminate risk, but to support the
Company in achieving its strategic objectives, adeqguate risk
appetite levels have been assigned to each category to ensure our
response is appropriate and proporticnate,

The risks identified to be most significant to our operations are
detailed on pages 53 to 61 but are not listed in order of
significance. This list is not exhaustive and there may be risks that
are presently unknown. We have revised our external risk reporting
from the previous year as we feel this reflects our business and
operations more accurately.

«  Previously, we reported risks individually in relation to exchange
rate, interest rate, iiquidity, tax and insurance, These risks have
now been combined into one overarching ‘Risk of Financial
Performance’

= Due fo increasing exposure inrelation to cyber-attacks and
reliance on technology, Information Security Risk and
Technolegy Risk has been included as separate risks within the
Principal Risks statement

«  As a result of our developing strategy and the acquisition of
proprietary food brands during 2021, in addition to increasing
regulation, we have separately including Health & Safety and
Food Preparation and Storage Risks within the Staterment

RISK RESPONSE

For each risk identified and assessed, we have detailed how the
Group responds against the likelihood or impact of the risk
materialising. For risks where we have low appetite i.e. risks that
could impact our ability to continue operations (usually Finance,
Compliance, H&S Technology, these risks will require policies,
processes and standards. Group-wide initiatives have and continue
to be designed to identify current gaps and roll out action plans.
These will continue to be implemented throughout 2022 and 2023
and include:

+ Business Improvement & Interna! Contrels Programme

+ SAP implementation working group

* Health & Safety Committees

+ ESG Working Group

For risks where the business is willing to accept a higher level of
risk, usually strategic risks given their dynamic nature, these risks
require judgements to be made by Executive Management on the
most appropriate action. Executive sponsors take responsibility for

the risk response and the response is presented and challenged at
the Executive Risk & Disclosure Committee meetings.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

AND UNCERTAINTI

MONITORING & ASSURANCE

The Board maintains overall responsibility and oversight for risk
management across the Group and sets the ‘tone from the top’ in
relation to the Group Risk Framework and appetite. Menitoring
and assurance 15 provired hy the Executive Risk & Disclosure
Committee who report on risk matters to the Audit & Risk
Committee, chaired by Alison Carnwath. For further information
regarding the workings of the Audit & Risk Committee please refer
to pages 82 10 86.

The activities of the Group's Internai Audit were reprioritised
during 2021 to help support the business with the design and
development of internal controls. A strategy and recruitment plan
has been agreed for HZ 2022, Further detail can be found in the
Audit & Risk Committee Statement on pages 82 to 86.

WHAT WE ARE DEVELOPING

| STRATEGIC
aln. emp -
impact th

achicvement of stra als

B OPERATIONAL
Emerging risks:

with a p

ntificd through the

| COMPLIANCE
‘New' risk F

PEOPLE

nent pro

TECHNOLOGY/IT

FINANCIAL

e

LA

ES covrus

EMERGING RISKS

Currently there is an increased ievel of macroecenomic uncertainty
impacting the business, our customers and our suppliers, Rising
inflation is resulting in ncreased salary, utility and supply costs for
the business in addition to a reduction in dispasable income for
our customers, This situation has been exacerbated by the conflict
within Ukraine resulting in supply issues and increases in wholesale
prices. This uncertainty is a risk to cur financial performance and
we are continuously monitoring the situation and implementing
contingency measures as appropriate. The financial outicok for
202115 described in further detail on pages 62 to 6% and has been
considerad as part of our going concern review on page 102,

What we assess
Risk ownership:
Each risk has a nameoed owner

Risk scoring:
Each risk is asses rerr

using a 1dard

ontrols are put in

Residual risk:

After mitigating control Elslalllelel

HEALTH & SAFETY

KEY

Newly reportable risk o Increased risk

Growth

@ innovation

Commitment to
infrastructure

Awareness and
responsiveness
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GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

ACQUISITION

A core element of the Group's growth
strategy is through selective acquisitions.

LINKS TO VALUES:

©eos

CHANGE FROM LINK TO QUR
2020 STRATEGY

o D000

Acqguired businesses may fail
to realise expected
synergies, growth targets
and performance, impacting
Group profitability and cash
flows.

The Group has detailed targeted appraisal
procedures in place, inciuding appropriate
due diligence, and has a decicated M&A
function and fransition teams who focus on
the acquisition and integration of new
businesses.

We have robust Board approval procedures
to ensure thorough and detailed review
of acquisition proposals.

Integration plans are finalised prior to
acquisitions to ensure newly acquired
businesses are integrated efficiently and swiftly.
we regularly assess the business strategy and
performance of each entity within the portfolio
against strategic KPIs, while the Executive
Management and the Board review
performance of the acquisitions on a menthly
basis and complete post-acguisition hindsight
reviews in the folfowing year.

CLIMATE CHANGE AND
TRANSITION TO
LOWER-CARBON ECONOMY
Developments in policy, law, regulationr,
technology and markets. Changing societal
and investor sentiment, related to the issue of
climate change and increased preferences for
alternatives to fossil fuels including hybrid and
electric vehicles.

LINKS TO VALUES:

0006

CHANGE FROM LINK TO OUR
2020 STRATEGY

o DO

Significant changes to the
forecourt industry, which
would adversely affect our
business plans and financial
performance.

The Group remains aware of changing
industry and consumer trends and operates
an agile business mode! which is committed
to being environmentaily respensible,
positively managing our impact on the
environment,

Significant investment in our non-fuel offering
is a cornerstone of the Group's leng-term
diversification strategy. A significant, and
increasing, proportion ¢f the Group's gross
profit is non-fuet.

In developing a well-invested network of sites,
the Group's focus is on developing multi-use
retail sites that are wel! placed to adapt and
evolve beyond a traditional fuel offering to
cater for changing customer demands for
convenience retait as well as new motor
vehicle fuel sources, such as alternative fueis
and sources of power. Whilst not yet
materially impacting site operations, the
Group remains highly conscious of the
importance of atternative, lower-carbon fuels.
We have invested in the provision of facilities
for electric vehicles and developing a strategy
to significantly increase their number in the
coming years.

The Group appointed a Head of ESG and
Sustainability during 2021 to advance the
Group's ESG strategy. Further details of our
response toc environmental issues and challenges
can be found in the ESG section on pages 38 to
50 and our mobility strategy on page 24.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
AND UNCERTAINTIES covmnue

DELIVER GROWTH STRATEGY Failure to successfully All material acquisitions require Board

The Group’s strategy for expansion is based implement ocur growth approval and to date all acquisitions have

on a mix of organic growth and selective strategy could adyers_gly been in sectors (PFS, Foodservice)rthat the

acquisitions. The strategy is subject to a af!‘ec_:t Group profitability, Group knows v_vellll. For. large aCQLfiSlt.ith, and

number of risks. including: ieading to an inability to or Group acguisitions in new territories, the

attract further investment Group engages with investment banks to

*  Failure to identify, acquire and develop and statled growth. increase its chance of success. Organic
new sites or upgrade existing sites growth is achieved both through operational

*  Failure to convert sites to our preferred improvements and through growth capex.
CCCO model Operaticnal performance of the Group is

+ Inadeguate acquisition due diligence monitored in weekly calls with the

» Inability to meet capital expenditure management of all countries of operation,
requirements for development or chaired by the Co-CEO and attended by the
refurbishrment Group CFO.

LINKS TO VALUES: Annual capex budgets and capital plans are

) approved by the Beard. Allocation of capital
0 @ spend is approved by the Co-CEQ in the
monthly property meetings with criteria and

thresholds for investment well established.
CHANGE FROM LINK TO QOUR Updates on budgeted capex versus actual

2020 STRATEGY spend are provided to the Board via menthly

financial reporting.
() i lalale

54 G Group | 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements



KEY
e Newly reportable risk

@ Growth

Awareness and
responsiveness

o Increased risk
€5 nnovation

Commitment to
infrastructure

e Remains a principal risk
Site network

@ Support local communities @ Deliver value

Impact/Movement

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

o Decreased risk

g Foodservice

Controls

COMPETITION

The Group faces significant competition
within each of our operating regions from
other existing forecourt retailers, c-stores,
food retailers, grocery stores, supermarkets
and fast-food concessions drawn from local
and targe-scale multinational corporations,
as well as from new competitors entering the
rnarkets that we serve.

We may face difficulties competing in the
highway concession market in continental
Europe. These operations, which are among
our most profitable, depend on authorisations
from governmental regulatory agencies in the
countries in which we operate, which are
subject to bid, expiration, limitation on
renawal and various other risks and
uncertainties. There can be no guarantee

we witl obtain or be able to renew highway
concessions on favourable terms or at all in
both the public and private sectors. This is in
turn influenced by macroeconomic factors,
consumer confidence and government
spending policy in our key markets.

LINKS TO VALUES:
006

CHANGE FROM LINK TO OUR
2020 STRATEGY

Competitive pressures could
resuit in a loss of market
share and may reguire us to
lower prices, increase
capital, marketing and
advertising expenditures or
increase the use of
discounting or promotional
campaigns. This may alsc
restrict our ability to
increase prices, including in
response to commodities or
other cost increases.

Management continually assess the Group's
competitive pesition in relation to price,
customer service, choice and auality of
product to ensure the Group coentinues to
meet changing customer demands. We
continue to evolve our proposstion through
investment in our site infrastructure, the
rallout of non-fuel brand partnerships and
training of colleagues to deliver the highest
possible standard of service.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
AND UNCERTAINTIES conruen

Impact/Movement Controls

FUEL PRICING An inabitity to pass on The Group’s fuel inventory holdings average
cost increases to customers between five and eight days and turns more
could impact the Group’s than 70 times per year. Furthermore, fuel
margins. retail prices will normaily adjust to movements
in wholesale fuel costs within a short period
meaning the Group has limited exposure to

The Group’s margin on fuel can be impacted
by fluctuations in wholesale fuel pricing.
These fluctuations can be influenced by global
supply, weather events, polirtical decisions or During 2022, the Group
changes in regulations. has observed the impact on

reductions in fuel margins. In addition,
wholesale fuel ts caused . i
LINKS TO VALUES: by the confli:t ?:SUkraine experienced commercial teams deveiop and

g~ monitor fuel pricing strategies and maintain a
strong commercial focus on fuel procurement
to further manage and mitigate this risk.
Also, a significant, and increasing, proportion
of the Group's gross profit is non-fuel,

reducing the relative importance of fuel

CHANGE FROM LINK TO OUR gross profit to overall Group profit.

2020 STRATEGY

° 8S0
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GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

KEY
e Newly reportable risk Increased risk ° Remains a principal risk o Decreased risk
Growth Innovation Site network Foodservice

Commitment to
infrastructure

Awareness and

@20

@ Support local communities @ Deliver value

responsiveness

Controls

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are affected by
various statutes, regutations and standards in
the countries and markets in which it
operates. The amount of such regulation and
the penalties can vary. The Group is subject to
the laws governing businesses generatly,
including laws relating to competition,
product safety, data protection, fabour ang
employment practices, accounting and tax
standards, internationat trade, fraud, bribery
and corruption, anti-money laundering,
terrorist financing, land usage, environment,
health and safety, transportation and other
matters.

LINKS TO VALUES:

006

CHANGE FROM LINK TO OUR
2020 STRATEGY

o LilslsTo

Significant and long-term
changes across the political
and environmental
landscape combined with
changes in societal
expectations on how
businesses should operate
and engage with various
stakeholders resulting in
increased legislative and
regulatory reform, in
addition to increasing
consequences for breaches.

The war in Ukraine has
resulted in increased
challenges in this area as a
result of import/export
restrictions and increased
paolitical, public and media
scrutiny.

Failure to comply with such
regulations could result in
civd or criminal penalties
and/or disruption to the
business from the temporary
or permanent shutcdown of
operations.

The legal and compliance functions are
headed by the Group General Counsel and
Company Secretary who has direct access to
the Board members inciuding the Chairman
of the Board.

Expert legal teams are appointed in

all markets in which we opcrate and
non-compliance is escalated. Teams are
supported by technical experts and external
advisers. A list of laws and regulations across
all jurisdictions is maintained and reviewed
annually to include future changes.

The Greup has robust procedures, systems
and controls in place to manage and monitor
compliance with relevant legislation and
ensure operations are conducted safely and to
the highest possible standard. Following the
establishment of the Audit & Risk Committee
in May 2021, the Group continues to enhance
and streamline reporting with regard to
regulatory compliance reporting.

INFORMATION SECURITY

Failure to prevent a cyber security incident
resuiting in unauthorised access or misuse of
EG's systems, networks or data resulting in a
leak of sensitive information or asset.

LINKS TC VALUES:
@6
-

CHANGE FROM LINK TO OUR
2020 STRATEGY

©

This risk was previously titled
‘business systems’ within the
operational risk category.
Given the ever-increasing
frequency and sophistication
of cyber attacks and the
threat this presents not only
to EG, but to our suppliers
and other businesses, cyber
risk has been reported as a
standalone risk within the
technology risk category,
with executive oversight
from the Group's CIO.

24/7 Security Operations Centre to monitor
threats and vuinerabilities which has been
strengthened as a result of the increased threat
facters in the fuel retail sector.

We operate a layered security defence model!
across the business.

External penetration testing on critical
infrastructure, simulation testing and backups.

Regular reporting of cyber threats, incidents
and security to the Board.

Training and communications across the
business for new starters and existing
colleagues.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
AND UNCERTAINTIES coninuee

Impact/Movement

TECHNOLOGY Technology can become The Group continually moniters and enhances
Faiture to design, build, operate and maintain obsolete and unsupportgd, the technology infrastrupture and the
resilient key IT systems and infrastructure, failure to adequ_ately design effectiveness of our business systems to
resulting in a disruption. text and maintain systems ensure they are fit for purpose and support
may result in disruption to the Group's strategy.

LINKS TO VALUES: business critical systems and we have IT devetopment, change
@ @ applications. management and life cycle procedures in

i place and parther with third-party suppliers

where appropriate.

We have reviewed with support from external
advisers and mapped our IT risks and controls
across the Group that continue to be
designed and tested.

Digital strategy, technology infrastructure and
controls are monitored regularly and reported
CHANGE FROM LINK TO OUR to the Audit & Risk Committee and Board.

2020 STRATEGY . )
We have invested in the latest products frem

e @ SAP, Service Now and Microsoft to enhance
the capabilities in the technology systems.
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<

Newly reportable risk
Growth

Awareness and
responsiveness

©@ 30

TALENT, CULTURE AND
CAPABILITY

The success of the Group depends on our
ability to attract, retain and develop
colleagues and to embed our culture and
values in crder for the business to achieve
its purpose and strategic objectives.

LINKS TO VALUES:

0e6

CHANGE FROM LINK TO OUR
2020 STRATEGY

O G000

o Increased risk
@ Innovation

Commitment to
infrastructure

Site network

Impact/Moveme

Loss of skills, key contacts,
refationships and important
knowledge could affect the
operational ability of the
business.

Market competition for key
teadership remains strong,
with increased challenges as
a result of macro-political
and economic factors such
as Brexit, inflation and cost
of living increases
particularly felt across the
retail sector.

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

° Remains a principal risk

o Decreased risk

9 Foodservice

@ Support local communities @ Deliver value

Recognising the increased scale and
operations of the business and to enhance
the mix of knowledge, skills and experience
of the Board, the Group appointed three
highly experienced Non-Executive Directors,
including a Non-Executive Chairman. For
details of the composition of the Board,
piease refer to pages 72 and 73.

A Group-wide people strategy to make EG

an ‘employer of choice’ is being developed and
overseen by the Remuneration Committee,
where retention, starters and leavers
information and salary data is reported on

a quarterly basis.

Transparent remuneration structures and
salary benchmarking have been reviewed
and enhanced to incentivise colleagues
across the Group.

Management teams are focused on
recruitment, development and retention of
key local talent in each of the markets in
which we operate.

Succession planning and development of key
empioyees also continues to be a key priority
for consideration by the Board. For further
infarmation on our people strategy and
training and development programmes please
refer to pages 45 to 47.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

AND UNCERTAINTIES

Controls

FOOD PREPARATION

AND STORAGE

Failure to meet regulatory standards anc
customer expectations refating to product
safety including food sourcing, preparation
and storage which may result in illness, death
or injury.

H&S

Failure to meet safety standards in our
workplace may unfortunately result in death
or injury to our customers and celleagues
which may result in damage tc our operations
and reputation as well as adverse financial
and legal conseguences.

LINKS TO VALUES:

00

CHANGE FROM LINK TO OUR
2020 STRATEGY

o 18]S

Increased legisiative
reguirements foliowing the
implementation of Natasha's
law, evolution of customer
preferences and the
development of EG’s
strategy with the acquisition
of three proprietary brands
inciuding food service has
seen an increase in the risks
associated with food
preparation and storage.

Providing a safe environment
for our colleagues and
customers is important to EG
and we continue to review
and monitor our contrels and
processes to ensure safety.

The pandemic had a
significant impact on our
operations, resulting in new
ways of working to serve our
customers,

We have increased investment for additional
recruitment of roles including the
appointment of a Food Safety Manager,
Quality Assurance and Technical Support
pearsonnel.

Health & Safety Commitiees are in place across
the business for each region, reporting into the
Group’s Health & Safety Manager who has
direct access 10 the Group General Counsel

and Company Secretary and quarterly reports
are presented to the Executive Risk & Disclosure
Committee and the Board.

We have a robust H&S risk register identifying,
assessing and maonitoring specific H&S risks
across the business and brands with key
controls and control owners identified,
Every brand has established operational
support, robust reporting systems and
support functions for food and Health and
Safety; this includes Food Safety Managers,
Safety Managers, Technical advisers, Quality
Assurance advisers and Primary Authority
Partnerships (“PAP").

We closely monitor changes in regulations
and legislation to ensure cur British Retail
Consartium (“BRC”) members as well as
controls and process are compliant.
Colleagues are provided with H&S training
and bespoke training is identified and
provided based on roles. This includes
NEBQSH, IQSH, Food Safety RSPH Levels 2, 3
and 4. Audits and risk assessments are carried
out for all areas and emergency response
pians are in place with clear escalation and
recalf protocols. Sample testing and supplier
audits are completed where required for own
brands, additional resource has been provided
to important functions such as Food Technical
and Quality Assurance.
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GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

KEY
e Mewly reportable risk

@ Growth

0 Awareness and

e Remains a principal risk o Decreased risk
Site network

@ Support local communities @ Deliver value

Increased risk
innovation @ Foodservice

Commitment to
infrastructure

@00

responsivenass

Impact/Movement

Controls

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Failure to achieve cur financial performance
chjectives impacted by macroeconomic
conditions including inflation, increased
commodity prices, currency and interest rate
fluctuations and tax exposure across our
global markets.

These conditions may impact our cash
liguidity position and the Group's ability to
fund capital investments and meet our fixed
costs,

LINKS TO VALUES:

06

CHANGE FROM LINK TQ OUR
2020 STRATEGY

° OO0

Global markets are
experiencing volatility as a
result of geopolitical and
macroeconomic factors
which may impact
commodity prices, taxes
and tariffs and may result
in increased costs for the
business.

As a result of inflation and
cost of living increases,
customers may be
negatively impacted by a
reduction in disposable
income which may then
cause a decline in revenue
and potentially reducing the
Group's ability to pay its
financial liabilities.

We maintain an infrastructure of systems,
policies and reporting to ensure discipline
across all financial matters, including treasury,
tax, and financial reporting and performance.

The Group Chief Financial Gfficer and senior
finance executives monmstor adherence on
principies and policies.

Weekly and monthly trading updates are
circulated to the Directors and Executive
Management analysing performance against
budget and prior year.

Monthly Board reports are prepared providing
additional detail such as Group cash forecasts
over the short and medium term, working
capital and liguidity positions which are
reviewed and discussed by the Directors.

We regularly review rolling cash flow and
earnings forecasts, capital expenditure plans
and liguidity levels and access to committed
credit facilities to ensure the Group maintains
appropriate liguidity positions. We forward
plan and implement refinancing of existing
debt maturities well ahead of scheduled
maturity dates.

Risk management strategies reflect the
defined risk appetite ensuring risk mitigation
using cost-effective strategies. Where
appropriate, the risk is managed by the Group
through the use of interest rate hedging
instruments and fixed rate borrowings.

The Audit & Risk Cormmmittee maintains
regular oversight and governance of key
areas including liquidity and funding strategy,
our going concern statements and Group
firancial controls.
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FINANCIAL REVIE

'GROSS PROFIT

~G020: ss,so_?m_) -UP 14%

" ADJUSTED EBITDA®

$1, GGOm

[ 2020: st,u;m -up 15_99

"ADJUSTED EBrmAm
BEFORE IFRS 16

2021 HIGHLIGHTS

«  Qur performance in the 2021 financial year demonstrates the Group's continued
earnings resilience during the pandemic, with significant investrments being made
to enhance our Foodservice proposition

» Despite the continued COVID-19 restrictions during 2021, our geographic reach
and diversified earnings enabled the business to continue to deliver prefitability
and generate cash in all cur operating regions

»  Operating cash flow generated by the Group was $1,455m, being 102% of adjusted
EBITDA before IFRS 16

=  The Group has continued to invest in its estate through new-to-industry sites
and refits, with our site network now standing at over 5650 petrol filling stations
alobaily, and over 1,800 Foodservice outlets, following growth capital spend
of $387m

»  The Group continues to focus on growth opportunities, with the acquisitions of the
Group’s first proprietary Foodservice brands: LEON Restaurants in May 2021 and
Cooplands, a UK bakery business, in October 2021. In addition, in September, the
Group completed its acquisition of 52 KFCs from Amsric Foods Limited in the UK,
and in December 2021 the acguisition of Sprint Food stores in the USA

Detailed below and oppostte is a summary of our performance for the year ended
December 31, 2027

The Group has delivered a strong financial performance, with cperations showing an
increase across ali business streams, with improved market conditions as our global
markets saw the easing of COVID-18 restrictions following the successful vaccination
programmes tn 2027,

Group gross profit grew year-on-year by 14% and Adjusted EBITDA'Y, before IFRS 16,
increased by 15%; this growth is attributable the Group's recovery from the moere notable
COVID-19 restrictions in 2020, with a standout performance from our Foodservice
business and the full-year impact of cur 2020 acquisitions and acquisitions during 2027,

Please note, a number of Alternative Performance Measures™ (“APMs”) have been
adopted by the Directors to provide additional information on the trading performance of
the Group. These measures are intended to suppiement, rather than replace, the measures
provided under IFRS, and further detail on these measures and how they are derived from
the financial statements can be found from page 170 onwards.

' Adjusted EBITDA 15 defined as earmings before interest, tax, depreciation and amartisation, before exceptional stems
. Adjusted EBITDA is stated before the impact of IFRS 16. Please refer to the APM secticon from page 170 onwards
¥ Please refer to the Alternative Performance Measures section from page 170 enwards

< Net operating cash flow for 2020 includes the impact of $626m refating to indirect tax deferrals (see note 38). Excluding the impact of this, net operating
cash flow for 2020 would have been $1,208m, meaning the year on year movement i1s an increase of 15%, aligned with the year on year increase in EBITDA
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SUMMARY GROUP INCOME STATEMENT

2021 2020
Before After Before After
exceptional Exceptional exceptional exceptional Exceptional exceptional
items items items items items items
$m m $m $m $m $m
Revenue 26,420 - 26,420 21463 - il )
Cost of sales (22,324) - {22,324) (17.856) - ‘ (1?,856)
Gross profit 4,096 - 4,096 3,607 - :
Operating profit™ 680 (54) 626 724 (28)
Met finance costs (404} 15) 419 (857) (6)
Profit/(loss) before tax 276 (69) 207 (133> (34)
Tax (147) (6) (153) (72) 7
Profit/(loss) for the year 129 (75> 54 (205) 27

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT AND ADJUSTED EBITDA®®

2021 2020

$m £m

Profit/(loss) after tax 54 (232)
Add tax 153 65
Add net finance costs 419 863
Operating profitt? 626 636
Operating exceptional items (note 5)* 54 28
Adjusted operating profit 680 724
Add depreciation 515 414
Add impairment 180 65
Add IFRS 16 depreciation 197 15
Add amortisation 87 89
Loss on disposal 1 —
Adjusted EBITDA® 1,660 1,443
impact of IFRS 16 on EBITDA (231} (1853
Adjusted EBITDA™® bhefore IFRS 16 1,429 1,248

™ QOperating profit includes the yimpact of depreciation, amaortisation and impairment

“* Adjusted EBITDA is defined as sarnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, before exceptional items

' Please refer to the Alternative Perfarmance Measures section from page 170 onwards

¢ Exceptronal items presented refloct those impacting EBITDA, and therefore exclude exceptional finance costs and tax on exceptionals

EG Graup | 2021 Annual Report and Financtal Statements 63



FINANCIAL REVIES

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT AND

ADJUSTED EBITDA®® CONTINUED

Group revenue increased by 23% to $26,420m (2020: $21,.463m)
reflecting the Group’s continued geographical and earnings
resilience during the pandemic-related restrictions in place for the
majority of 2021 and 2020.

In line with our revenue growth, the Group’s EBITDA performance
remainad resilient with Group Adjusted EBITDAY™ for 2021 of
$1,660m, an increase of $217m, or 15%, (2020: $1,443m). This
increase is attributed to the impact of 2021 acquisitions and the
fuil-year impact of 2020 acquisitions, which coilectively
cantributed an additional $1im of EBITDA in 2021

As noted above, supporting the performance of the Group for 2021
was the growth of our site network to aver 6,300 sites globally
{2020 6,000}, largely attributable to the over 200 sites acquired
following the Group's acquisition of proprietary brands, LECN
Restaurants and Cooplands, as well as the acquisition of 52 KFCs
from Amsric Foods Limited and 34 company-operated fuet and
convenience stores from Sprint Food Stores. In addition, the Group
completed two smaller acguisitions of KMS Autohof and Mercury
Fuel Services in the year.

Overheads, which consist of distribution costs and administration
costs, largely relating to people and property costs, increased by
$629m to $3,553m (2C20: $2,924m). The increase reflects the
overheads from our acauired businesses, new sites cpened in the
year and continued investment in the Group’s shared service
centre. Additionally, the increase includes the impact of the
normalisation of COVID-19-related cost savings observed in 2020,
including the reduced support from government grants which
totalled $35m in 2021 compared to $79m in 2020 (see note 38

to the financial statements).

Group profit before tax was $207m, an increase of $374m from the
loss before tax of $167m in 2020.

More detail on our 2621 financial performance by region and by
each of our three income streams is summarised on pages 10 to 15
and 30 to 37 respectively.

FINANCE COSTS

Excluding exceptional items, net finance costs decreased by
£453m to $404m (2020 $857m). A large component of this
movement is the gain on retranslation of our non-functional
currency barrowings, where we saw retranslation gains of $256m
in 2021, a swing of $459m from the loss on retransiation of $203m
in 2020.

Excluding these retranslation gains and losses, net finance costs
for the year were $664m {(2020: $662m). These costs are largely
attributable to the costs to service the Group’s Senior Secured
Notes, teri loans and short-term borrowing facilities, in addition
to interest on lease Labilities, the amortisation of debt
arrangement fees and non-utilisation fees.

The Group's external interest expense and debt servicing costs
marginally increased as a result of additional facilities drawn in
the year, with this increase offset by the receipt of $66m interest
income on the financial asset purchased in February 2023,

Further detail on finance income and casts can be found in notes
12 and 13 on page 118.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

In order to provide users of our accounts with insight into the
trading performance of the business, items recognised in reported
profit ar loss before tax which, by virtue of their size and/or
nature, do not reflect the Group’s underlying performance are
excluded from the Group's underlying results. These are detailed
in note 5 to the financial statements.

The Group adopts a minimum threshold of $1m for the separate
identification of exceptional items.

During 2021, the Group presented net exceptionat costs within
operating profit of $54m {2020 $28m). This was primarily driven
by the exceptional net impairments totalling $115m. offset by the
$72m profit on disposal in the UK. In profit before tax the
exceptional costs presented are $69m (2020: $34m), with this
additional amount relating to the write off of arrangement fees in
the year.

o Adjusted EBITDA 15 defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, before exceptional items
Please refer to the Alternative Performance Measures section from page 170 onwards

64 EG Group © 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements



The $72m profit on disposal in the yvear relates to the sale of

a number of UK sites sold following the outcome of the CMA’s
review of the shareholders’ separate acquisition of Asda, which
required the Group to divest a number of petrol fillng station sites
by the end of 2021.

An exceptional impairment charge in the year relates to the $19m
intangible impairment of the Tom Thumb brand name, and the
$3m impairment of property, plant and eqguipment, both in the
USA. An impairment reversal of $7m recognised in the year relates
to the reversat of a previously recognised exceptional impairment
charge, where operational performance development plans have
been implemented and the site-level performance was sufficient to
support the increased carrying value. Following the completion of
the goodwill impairment review, a $10Cm impairment has been
recognised, and presented as exceptional, in relation to the
Australian group of cash generating units as described on the
following page.

Acquisition and transaction-related costs within operating profit
of $14rm predominantly relate to directly attributable incremental
costs incurred as a result of the Group's growth acguisitions, and
largely relate to professional and legal fees. Also included in
acquisition-related costs is the release of $2m contingent
consideration relating to the acquisition of Certified Qif, an
acguisition in the USA which completed in 2019, where the
criteria for payment was not met.

GOVERNANCE FINANCIALS

Litigation costs relate to legal and professional fees of $4m
regarding Federal Court proceedings with Ampol Limited, and an
exceptional restructuring credit of $2m relates to the release of a
provision recognised in 2018 regarding the restructuring of the
management and support teams in Continental Europe.

The transaction-related finance costs of $41m relate to the
financing costs which were directly incurred in relation to the GBP
private placement notes which were agreed in March 2021 and
subseqguently redeemed in October 2021, The $41m exceptional
finance iIncome from recharged finance costs refiects the
reimbursement of these transaction related finance costs by

Bellis Property Newco .td, a related party of the Group.

A further $15m of exceptional costs were recognised outside
operating profit, against the interest costs for the year. Following
the refinancing of the Group's revolving credit facility, letter of
credit facilities and second lien facilities during the year, the
existing arrangement fees which had been capitalised onte the
balance sheet, have heen expensed as an exceptional item. $5m
relates to the allocated arrangement fees frem the March 2G21
refinancing which related to the GBP private placement notes.
Cn the termination of this facility in October 2021, as a result of
the aborted Asda forecourt business acquisition, these costs were
expensed as exceptional.

TAX

The tax charge in the year was $153m (2020: $65m) which
represents an effective tax rate ('ETR”) of 74% (2020: 39%).
The increase in tax charge is attributable to the increase in
earnings in the year. Please see note 14 for additional details.
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SUMMARY GROUP BALANCE SHEET GOODWILL
2021 2020 Goodwitl of $509m was recognised for acquisitions that
$m $m completed in 2021, comprising $3m on the acquisition of KMS in
Goodwill 5,991 5,727 Germany, $128m from the acquisition of the LEON Group in the
UK & hreland, $21m on the acquisibion ot Mercury Fuel in the USA,

T | le fixed t 5,880
angible and intangible fixed assets 5.838 ’ $6m on the acquisition of the Nebiolo Group in Germany, $129m
Right of use assets 2,105 1,992 on the KFC site acquisition from the Amsric Group, $79m on the
Net working capital (299) (447) 2cauisition of CS Food Group in the UK & Ireland and $13im on
the acquisition of Sprint in the USA.
Net debt before lease liabilities (9,60 (3.00D More detail on the completed acguisitions, and their strategic
Lease Labiities (2,022} (1,777 rationale, is included in the growth strategy updates on pages
Indirect tax deferrals (546) (626y 223nd 2%
. $18m of Goodwill was dispased in the year (2020: $nil) relating to
Current tax liabilities (net) (1423 (42} disposals of operations within the UK&l and Australia groups of
Deferred tax liabilities (net) €379) (395) cash-generating units.
Provisions (839) (983) Animpairment of $100m was recognised on the goodwil! for the
i b A1t obligati Awustralia Group of cash generating units (2020 $nil), as part of
Retirement benefit obligations (56) (673 the Group’s annual impairment review process. This impairment
Cther non-current assets/liabilities 521 209 arses due to the reduction in the fair value of the business
resulting from the pandemic (see note 15 on page 120).
Net assets classified as held for sale 12 14 ¢ P ¢ pagd )
Net assets 583 584 TAN.GIBLE AND IN_TAN.GiBLE FIXED ASSETS
Tangible and intangible fixed assets (excluding gocodwill)
Leverage decreased by $142m to $5,838m (2020: $5,980m). In addition to
Net debt®/adjusted EBITDA® 7.0 75 assets acquired from new businesses totalling $273m in the year,
ol our continued capital expenditure projects totalled $516m (2020:
Net debt before tease liabilities/ 6.7 23 $386m) which funded the investment in 145 new branded
Adjusted EBITDA® before tFRS 16 Foodservice outlets, 30 new-to-industry sites and the continued
Net debt before lease liabilities®/ development and maintenance of the site portfolio. The Group also
Pro forma Adjusted EBITDA befare 6.1 6.0 continues to develop its land bank to further facilitate expansion in
IFRS 16¢4 its chosen geographies.
Covenant leverage:® 55 55 Other intangibles consist of acquired brand names in the USA,

dealer relationships acquired in Europe and other intangible assets
such as software, with the decrease from December 2020 of $27m
largely relating to the amotrtisation charge for the year and the $19m

T Net debt includes fease habilities, current and non-current borrowings net
of cash and cash eguivalents

w1 Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings befcre interest, tax, depreciation

and amortisation, before exceptional items. Refer to the Alternative impairment of the Tom Thumb trade name following the decision to
Performance Measures section from page 170 onwards rebrand to Cumbertand Farms, offset by $79m additions from
3 Net debt before lease liabilities includes current and non-current brands acguired in the year; LEON, Cooplands and Sprint Foods.

borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents . ] ) )
“r Pro forma Adjusted EBITDA includes an estimate to reflect the full-year These mcreasesrwere ?ﬁset_ by total depreuatyon and amortisation
EBITDA of acquisitions which completed mid-year and the full annualised of tangible and intangible fixed assets (excluding leases) of $602m
berefit of synergies expected to be realised (2020: $503m) and impairment losses of $125m which were
5 Covepant leverage is calculated as Group senior net debt (ie. Group's net recognised for loss-making or low-performing sites {see page 123).
debt excludes second lien facilities totatling $69tm) before lease liabilities
adjusted for certain items set out in the covenant agreement
{predominantly unamortised debt costs and accrued interest), divided
by the Group's pro forma Adjusted EBITDA before !FRS 16 (as defined
on page 171). Please refer to the APM section from page 170
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LEASES

Right of use (“RolU") assets represent the present value of leased
assets recognised under IFRS 16, which is largely the Group’s
portfolic of 3,331 leased sites, which are systematically depreciated
over the remaining life of the lease. Lease liabililies represent the
present value of future payments for leasehold sites, in which lease
payments are discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate, with the unwinding of the discount recognised as an interest
cost in the period. The increase in right of use assets of $113m in
the year to $2,05m (2020: $1,992m) and the increase in lease
liabilities by $245m to $2,022m (2020: $1,777m) is driven by leases
acquired by the Group in the acquisitions which completed during
the year.

WORKING CAPITAL

The Group generzlly benefits from a negative working capital
profile, reflecting accounts payable payment terms exceeding
stock holding and accounts receivable cash collections.
Transactional activity levels remained broadly consistent versus
December 2020, with inventories increasing to $772m (2020:
$654m) and trade and other payables increasing to $1,672m
{2020 $1,653m). Current trade and other receivables increased
marginally to $547m (2020: $545m).

DEBT AND LIQUIDITY

At December 31, 2021, net debt before lease liabilities

was $9,601m, compared to $9,00Tm at December 31, 2020,

This increase of $600m reflects the purchase of financial assets
totalling $233m and the acquisition spend totalling $710m. These
have been offset by the business generating cash flows and the
revaluation of the US Dollar reporting currency refative to the Euro,
Sterling and Australian Dollar at Decemtbzer 31, 2021 of $395m.

Grass debt increased by $585m to $10,247m (2020: $9,662m),
due to the financing activity executed in the year, as detailed
below, offset by non-cash movements of $312m relating to gains
on translation and the amortisation of bank fees.

On March 11, 2021, the Group allocated $510m in aggregate
principal amount of additional loans due 2026 under a new Term B
Facility (issue price 99%, spread L +425 bps, LIBOR floor 0.5%) and
€610m ($726m) in aggregate principal amount of additional loans
due 2027 under a new Second Lien Facility (issue price 39%,
spread E+700 bps, EURIBOR floor 0%). The proceeds were used
to pay related fees and expenses and to refinance an existing
bilateral bridge facility and the existing second lien facilities in

full. The incremental funds raised of $614m were used to fund the
accuisition of OMV's German forecourts.

As part of the financing process, the Group also secured an
increase in its committed letter of credit (“LC”) facilities by $240m
and an extension to the maturity of RCF and LC facilities to 2024,

In December 2021, the Group completed the drawdown on a term
GBP loan of £220m ($227m), to fund the acquisitions of LEON and
Amsric, which completed in 2021, The loan is repayable on
maturity in 2025 and carries interest at 4.75% above LIBOR
(SONIA from January 1, 2022).

On October 18, the Group's proposed acguisition of the Asda
forecourts business was terminated, as detailed in the Group's
2020 Annual Report and Financial Statements. Consequently, the
£675m 6.25% Senior Secured Notes issued on March 12, 2021 were
redeemed on October 26, 2021 at par including accrued interest of
$37m, and the related escrow agreement was unwound.

Allowing for the full-year impact of acquisitions, the Group's net
debt (before lease liabilities) to pro forma Adjusted EBITDA before
IFRS 16971 ratio was 6.1x (2020: 6.0x), demonstrating the Group’s
disciphine to operate at a consistent leverage whilst continuing to
execute its growth strategy.

INDIRECT TAX DEFERRALS

indirect tax deferrais of $3626m were agreed with various tax
authorities during 2020, as part ¢of the government support
packages to support businesses during the pandemic. At the

end of 2021, the remaining amount payable was $546m, with the
majority of this balance being repaid over a 60-month period from
Qctober 2022,

PROVISIONS

Provisions primarily reflect the Group’s obligations for site-level
environmental remediation works and dismantling obligations for
leased properties. The decrease of $144m reflects $49m exchange
rate movements and $183m of utilised provisions, these decreases
have been offset by $14m of provisions; arising on 2021
acqguisitions, and a $107m increase in provisions driven by amounts
provided for other provisions, relating primarily to legal claims,
restructuring costs, onerous contracts and obligations to
retailers/dealers and property provisions.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Other non-current assets and liabilities increased by $312m to
$521m {2020: $209m). This is largely relating to the Group’s
purchase of a financial asset of £165m ($226m) in January 2021,
As at Decernber 31, 2021, the valuation of this financial assct had
increased to £179m ($241m) as interest accrued on the asset, with
this presented as financial income.

On January 13, 2022 the Group received fuli cash settlement of
the financial asset including accrued interest.

Also included in this caption is $85m, relating to the deposit
paid for the acqursition af OMV in Germany which completed
in May 2022.

@ Pro farma Adsted EBITDA includes an estimate to reflect the full-year EBITDA of acquisitions which completed mid-year and the full annualised benefit

of synergtes expected ta be realised

& Please refer to the Alternative Performance Measures section from page 170 onwards
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ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

At December 31, 2021, $12m of real estate assets and $2m of
liabilities are presented as held for sale (2020: $14m of assets).
This reflects 35 sites in the USA for which a signed agreement to
sefl was in place at the year ond. The writedown of the assels
reclassified to held for sale has been recognised as an exceptional
impairment charge of $2m, as detailed on the previcus page.

The majority of these assets were sold in April 2022,

SUMMARY GROUP CASH FLOWS

2021 2020
$m Im

Operating cash flows befor.e 1,592 1362
movements in working capital
Working capital inflow/(outflow) (66} 508
Tax paid 71 (35)
Net cash from operating activities 1,455 1,835
Interest received — —
Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 237 26
Capital expenditure {610) (388)
Purchase of financial assets (243) —
Acquisition of businesses {708) (209)
Deposits paid for acguisitions {88) —
Investments in joint ventures and ) _
associates
Loans to related parties M -
Net cash used in investing
activities 1,530) (569
interest paid (524} (545>
Repayment of lease liabilities (280) 90)
Loan issuance costs paid 44 2)
Net (de_crease)/lncrease in bank 941 (322
borrowings
h_let ca_sh (use_d‘ I!l)/prowded by 93 (1.059)
financing activities
Met increase in cash and cash 18 207
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 661 415
Effect of foreign exchange rate (33) 39
changes
Cash and cash equivalents 646 661

at end of the year
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Cash flows from operating activities totalled $1.455m (2020:
$1,835m) as we showed continued resilience in our performance,
as detalled in our regional operating reviews on pages 30 to 37/,

In 2021, we chserved a working capttal cutflow of $66m

{(2020: $508m inflow). The movement in working capital in the
comparative period was impacted by the deferral of $626m of
indirect taxes agreed as part of the Group’s liquidity management
during the pandemic, of which $80m was repaid in 2021. Excluding
the impact of these deferred indirect taxes, working capital inflows
for the year were $14m, compared to a $118m cuiflow in 2020.

Utilising the cash generated from operations, the Group
continued to invest in the growth of the business through its
capital expenditure, which totalled $610m (202C: $386m).

2021 saw an increase in growth capital expenditure following the
controlled reduction implemented during 2020 in response to the
pandemic. During the year, the Group purchased a financial asset
for $243m, which was subsequently repaid in full in early 2022.

Continued investment was made in the growth of the business,
through the completion of acquisitions for total consideration
(net of cash acquired) of $708m (2020: $209m). In addition,
during the year, we paid $88m as a deposit for the OMV
acquisition which completed in May 2022, and a $6m investment
in joint ventures and associates.

In June and November 2021, the Group advanced a total of
$7112m as a related party loan to Cptima Bidco (Jersey) Limited,
the ultimate parent Company of the Group, in order for them to
meet their obligations to preference shareholders. The loan has
been provided at rates comparable with commercial rates

of interest,

The increase in bank borrowings of $941m reflects the drawdowns
of the new instruments in the year as described on the previous
page, which were drawn to fund the completed 2021 acquisitions
and the OMV Germany acquisition business which completed in
May 2022.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors are not proposing to recommend a dividend from
the Company in respect of the financial year ended December 31,
2021, No dividends were paid to shareholders from the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2021 (2020: same).
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On January 1, 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of a
network of seven KFC restaurants across Germany for a total
consideration of €27m ($37m). The acquisition refates to sites
with a mix of drive-thru and traditional restaurant formats.

On January 13, 2022, the Group received a full repayment in
refation to the financial asset that it purchased on February 8, 2021
for $220m. The total amount received was $240m, which included
accrued interest of $19.8m.

On April 1, 2022, the Group resoived its Federal Court proceedings
with Ampol Limited (‘Ampol). In resclving the dispute, the parties
agreed updated commercial terms, which will result in a decrease
in the cafrying value of provisions by $46m and a decrease in the
carrying value of deferred tax assets by $14m, increasing the
Group's net assets by $32m. This has been determined to be a
non-adjusting post balance sheet event.

On May 1, 2022, the Group completed its acguisition of a service
station network comprising 285 sites from OMV Deutschland
GmbH for $51m following approval by the German Federal Cartel
Office. The acquisition was compieted to further enhance our
footprint in Continental Eurcpe and to realise expected synergies,
rather than solely generate cash flows fram its existing assets.

The provisicnal net assets of the acquisition were $86m generating
goodwill of $425m. The finalised position will be included in the
next Annual Report. During 2021, $6m of costs have been
recognised in exceptionals in relation to this transaction. As per
the German Anti-Trust Authorities clearance decision, the Group
has agreed to divest 48 sites in order far the acquisition to
proceed, 24 of which are in £G’s existing estate and 24 in the OMV
estate.

QUTLOOK

We are pleased to have reported a strong performance for FY 21,
the Group has repeatedly proved to be a highly resilient business,
including during the recent pandemic.

I.ike many other businesses, the Group faces a challenging
macrceconomic backdrop over the next 12-18 months, particularly
with market volatility caused by the conflict in Ukraine creating
unprecedented rises to wholesale fuel costs and infiationary
pressures impacting product costs and consumer spending.

The Directors remain confident in the strategy, geographic
diversity of our business and highly complementary Focdservice,
Grocery & Merchandise and Fuel retail operations to underpin our
resilience in the coming months.
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Lord S3taart foese

As Chairman of EG Group, | am pleased to
present the governance report for financial year
ending December 31, 2021, including the
Nomination Committee report on page 80.

A strong corporate governance framework pravides the
foundatioh for EG o Achieve it< <trategic nhiectives and arovide
long-term sustainable growth. During 2021, the Group made a
numbcr of key chandes and developments to its governance
structure and processes including the appointment

of a Non-Exccutive Board and the ecstablishment of Beoard
Committees,

| am pleased with the changes made so far and would like to
express my gratitude to my fellow Board members, Executive and
Country Management Teams and all our celleagues here at EG for
their commitment and dedication in what has been yet another
challenging year for us all. However, we recagnise the need far
improvement and will continue to review, monitor and develop
our governance agenda throughout 2022 and beyond.

-

May
Established

GOVERNAMNCE TIMELINE:

March
Appointment of
Mon-Executive

Director and
Chairman of
Audit & Risk
Committee

held inaugural

Remuneration
Committee
meetings

January i )
Appointment of ! April
Non-Executive : Approval of

Chairman ! LEON acquisition

'
i
§

e o e

70 e e

Committees and

Audit & Risk and Agreed STIP

i 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements

This governance report sets outs the key activities and decisions
made at Board and Committee tevel and cur priarities for 2022,
as we continue to embrace this journey and iook to the future.

As 3 privately held business, and following a review of our
corparate governance arrangements, tho board agrees that the
Woates Corporate Governance Principles remain aporopriate.

How we have apohed the principles s detailed throughout this
report and has been signposted on page 71. The legislative and
regulatory tandscape is ever-evolving, we remain cognoscente of
industry best practice and are committed to continusng to develap
our governance framework and practices (o ensure it is
appropriate for the size and scale of the business,

C___A.

Lot shiart Booe
Chairman

August 22, 2022

budgct

October/
November
September Approval of
Annual Report
and LTIP and Financial
structure Statements
September :
Review of .
governance October
arrangements Agreed : December
and Board Cooplands : Agreed FY22
and Committee  acquisition ’

composition ; .
. i . H
i : i {

B S R SR S



STRATEGIC REPORT

WATES PRINCIPLES

FINANCIALS

For the year ended December 31, 2027, under The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018, the Group has applied
the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies {published by the Financial Reporting Council ("FRC™) 1n
December 2018 and available on the FRC website).

An effective board develops and promaotes the purpose of the company and ensures
that its values, strategy and culture align.

2

Board composition - Effective board composition requires an effective chairman
and a balance of skiils, backgrounds and knowledge with individual directors having
sufficient capacity to make a valued contribution. The size of the board should be
guided by the scale and complexity of the business.

S

Director responsibilities - The board and individual directors should have a clear
understanding of their accountability and responsibilities. The board's policies and
crocedures should support effective decision-making and independent chalienge.

4

Opportunity and risk - A board should promote the long-term sustainable success
of the company by identifying opportunities to create and preserve value, and
establishing oversight for the identification and mitigation of risk.

5

Remuneration -~ A board should promote executive remuneration structures aligned
to the long-term sustainable success of a company, taking into account pay and
conditions eisewhere in the company.

G

Stakeholders - Directors should foster effective stakeholder relationships aligned
to the company’s purpose. The board is responsible for overseeing meaningful
engagement with stakeholders, including the workforce, and having regard to
their views when taking decisions.

Page reference

Refer to page 74

Refer to page 74 and 75

Refer to page 75

See principal risks section on
page 51to 61

See Remuneration Committee report
on page 87

See our stakeholders and Section 172 on
pages 16 to 12 which maps cut our
stakeholders and the engagement with
them during the year, Also see the
Remuneration Committee report and
environment, social and governance
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DIRECTORS

EG Group Limited is governed by the Board of
EG Group Holdings Limited (the ‘Board’) as set

out below.

Lord Stuart Rose

Thairmon and
Non-Executive Director

App d 2021

ooo

Mohsin Issa CBE

olinder and Co-CEQ

Zuber Issa CBE

Co-Founder and Co-CEC

Dame Alison
Carnwath

Non-E utive Dircctor

Appointed 2021

doo0

Appointed:
EG Group Holdings Limited
January 21, 2021

Biography:

Lord 5tuart Rose was
appointed te the Board in
January 2021, He has worked
in retail for over 40 years and
has held CEQ positions at
Argos, Booker, iceland,
Arcadia Group and Marks &
Spencer and Chairman
positions at Marks & Spencer
and Qcade Group. Stuart has
extensive experience of UK
corporate governance
requirements and best
practice having served on
boards and committees of
some of the UK's largest
businesses. Stuart was
knighted in 2008 for services
to the retall industry and
corporate social responsibility,
and granted a life peerage in
August 2014,

72

Appointed:

EG Group Heldings Limited
May 23, 2017 and EG Group
Limited January 29, 2016

Biography:

Mohsin is Ce-Founder and
Ce-CEQ of EG Group and has
been active in the fuel
forecourt and retail
convenience industry since
2001, He is a resourceful
business leader and has been
a major driving force behind
the growth and development
of EG Group, including being
actively involved in
negotiations with major brand
partners, capital raising and
financing transactions. Prior to
founding EG Group, he held
senior leadership roles at
various issa family businesses.
He was jointly named the 2018
EY Entrepreneur of the Year in
the UK alongside his brother
Zuber. and more recently,
henoured in the Queen’s
Birthday Honours List 2020
for his contribution to business
and charity.
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Appointed:

EG Group Holdings Limited
Naovember 2, 2020 and

EG Group Limited

January 29, 2016

Biography:

Zuber is Co-Founder and
Co-CEQ of EG Group and
entered intc the business
world at an early age. Heis a
natural leader and a versatile
strategist and tactician and
actively leads on extending
the new-to-industry land bank,
site investment and
development, and Group
operations. Prior to founding
EG Group in 2001, Zuber
established a number of
enterprises inciuding a chain
of newsagents in busy mall
locations in the North West
of England. Zuber was jointly
named the 2018 EY
Entrepreneur cf the Year in
the UK alongsrcie his brother
Mohsin, and more recently,
honoured in the Queen’s
Birthday Heneours List 2020
for his contribution to business
and charity.

Appointed:
EG Group Holdings Limited
March 1, 2021

Biography:

Dame Alison has served

as Chairwoman of Land
Securities and Director at 8P,
Friends Provident, Gallaher,
Barclays and Man Greoup. She
is currently Chairman of the
Audit & Risk Commiittee at
Zurich Insurance and BASF,
Chairman of the Strategic
Adviscry Board at
Livingbridge Private Equity,

a Director of Colter Capital
and a Non-Executive Director
at Paccar. She is a trustee of
the Econornist Group and a
former member of the United
Kingdom Takeover Panel.
Dame Alison is @ Chartered
Accountant and has two
honorary doctorates. She was
made a Dame Commander of
the British Empire in 2014 for
services to business and
received a Lifetime
Achievernent award at the
2020 Non-Executive Director
of the Year Awards.
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. Chairman

We have strengthened the composition of the Board
and developed appropriate governance structures.

ohn Carey

" Non-Ex

itive Dircoctor

| faRIN]

Manjit Dale
TDR Repr ntative and
r

Gary Lindsay

'Compan.y Sec'retary

Appointed:
EG Group Heldings Limited
November 11, 2020

Biography:

John was appointed as a
Non-Executive Director in
November 2020 and is a
highly respected business
leader with diverse
international experience,
maost recently holding
executive positions at BP
and ADNOC Distribution,

He led ADNOC's PO in 2018,
the largest recent IPO of an
entity that incluges c-stare
operations, and has extensive
experience in a number of
areas that are highly relevant

to EG Group's global business.

Appointed:
EG Group Holdings Limited
November 2, 2020

Biography:

Manijit founded TDR Capital
with Stephen Robertson in
2002, with whom he had
previously worked at DB
Capital Partners. He has over
25 years of experience in
private equity, leveraged
finance and consulting,
Previously, Manjit was
Managing Director and Head
of DB Capital Partners Europe
and its predecessor firm BT
Capital Partners, which he
joined in 1994, He started his
career in the Management
Consultancy division of Arthur
Andersen and moved into
private equity in 1989 with

3t ple, and later with NM
Rothschild, Manjit heids a
Master’s degree in Economics
from Cambridge University.

Appointed:
EG Group Holdings Limited
October 21, 2016

Biography:

Gary joined TOR Capital in
June 2008. He is involved in
the day-to-day management
of TDR's investments in EG
Group, Modutaire Group,
William Scotsman-Mobile Mir
and Target Hospitality and
respensible for originating
new transactions. Gary is a
beard member at EG Group,
Modulaire Group, William
Scotsman-Mobile Mini and
Target Hospitality and has

18 years’ private equity and
investment banking
experience. Prior to joining
TDR, he worked at both Citi
and Bear Stearns in London
and New York. Gary received
a Master’s degree in Finance
with distinction from the
University of Strathclyde and
a Master's degree in Chernistry,
with first class henours, from
the University of Edinburgh.

Appointed:

EG Greup Holdings Limited
May 23, 2017 and EG Group
Limited July 19, 2016

Biography:

Imraan jeined EG Group in
2016. He qualified as a
Soliciter in the City of London
in 2003 and has been involved
I negotiating and delivering
legat ang commerciai advice
on complex, frequently
high-profile transactions
around the world ever since.
At EG Group, he plays a
central role in ali M&A activity
and has broader responsibility
for all Legal, Compiiance and
HESS functions, Prior to
joining EG Group, he held roles
at businesses of Orange SA
and BT Greup ple, and law
firm, Ashurst LLP. Imraan is
highlighted in the GC Powerlist
2021 as one of the UK's most
influential in-house lawyers,
and holds an LLB (Hons) in
Law from the University of
Lancaster and a Postgraduate
Diplema in Legal Practice
{PGDipL) from the College

of Law.
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EG Groun Limited is governed by the Board of EG Group Holdings
Limited. The Group's ultimate parent, Optima Bidco (Jersey)
Limited, is owned by Mohsin Issa and Zuber Issa, representing
25% of the shares cach alongside funds managed by TDR

Capital LLP, a leading infermatinnal private equity firm,

holding the remaining 50%.

PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND CULTURE

Qur purpose is to make customers’ lives easier by offering them
convenience in their travel, retail and foodservice choices.

Qur strategy focuses on four key areas: growth, iInnovation, site
network and foodservice.

The Board provides leadership to the Group and is collectively
responsible for the long-term, sustainable success of the business,
creating value for our shareholders and wider stakeholder group.
The discussions and decisions taken at Board level detailed on
pages 78 and 79 supplement the achievement of our purpose and
strategy and are reflective of our values, details of which can

be fourd on page 6.

The implementation of these decisions is delegated to the
Executive Directors and their Executive Management Team
who are charged with embedding the values and culture
throughouit the business.

Achievement of our strategy is underpinned by our talented,
passionate and innovative people. We are committed to the
development of our people, strengthening our leadership
capabilities and enhancing employee performance. For further
details around our People strategy please refer to the ESG
section on pages 45 to 47,

BUILDING A GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

THAT IS FIT FOR PURPOSE

In order to ensure that the Board makes the right decisions for
the Company and its stakeholders, it 1s vital that we have good
corperate governance in place. During 2021, we developed ocur
governance framework with the appointment of a Non-Executive
Chairman and independent Non-Executive Director and
throughout 2022, we will continue to review and build up oh our
processes and systems.

The Board is primarily responsible for agreeing and challenging
strategy, overseeing performance and ensuring appropriate
financial processes and interna! controls.

To do this effectively, the Board established three
non-executive-lead Committees - Nomination, Audit & Risk and
Remuneration, each chaired by an independent Non-Executive
Director. The roles and responsibilities of the Committees are set
out in their Terms of Reference and further details around key
decisions, achievements and priorities can be found in the
Cemmittee reports on pages 80 to 89. whilst a number of
activities and responsibilities have been delegated to the
Committees, the Board maintains aversight and overall
responsibility of key areas, which are detailed in the matters
reserved.
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In addition, a number of Executive Management Committees,
or working groups, have been established to ensure effective
information flows between the business, the Group’'s Co-CEOs
and the Board. These include Senior and Couniry Leadership
Meetings, Lhe Execulive Risk & Disclosure Committee, Health
& Safety Committees, Works Councils and a Learming &
Development Committee.

& disciplined reporting structure ensures the Board is
appropriately appraised on activities, opportunities and risks
in order to provide strategic direction.

The Group's General Counsel and Company Secretary provides
regular updates in relation to changing regulatory, legisiative
and governance reguirements. The Board keeps all aspects of
corporate governance under review and will continue to deveiop
in line with the Group.

Composition

Composition of the Board changed significantly during 2021 with
the appointment of Lord Stuart Rose as Chairman of the Board
and Dame Alison Carnwath an independent Non-Executive
Cirector and Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee.

Stuart and Alison joined fellow independent Non-Executive
Directar John Caray, Non-Executive Directors and TDR
Representatives Manjit Dale and Gary Lindsay and Executive
Directors Mohsin issa and Zuber Issa.

Details of the Directors’ biographies and committee membership
can be found on pages 72 and 73 and details of alf Directors’ skills
and backgrounds can be found on page 75.

The current size, composition and diversity of the Board is
sufficient for the size, scale and complexity of the Group and

the skills and knowledge aligns with the growing diversity of

the Group's portfolio and future strategic objectives. There is
appropriate representation from the Group’s ultimate shareholder
and the addition of the independent Non-Executive Directors
facilitates independence and constructive chalienge.

induction

During the first half of 2021, the newly appointed Non-Executive
Directors undertook a detailed and taillored induction. Meetings
were arranged virtually, due to COVID-19 travel restrictions, with
the existing members of the Board, Executive Management and
Country Management Teams. In-person meetings were held at
the Group's head office and in the USA once permitted and
teach-in sessions were arranged.

Service agreements are in place for the Non-Executive Directors
detailing rotes and responsibilities and expected time commitment.
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The criteria for appointment focused on ensuring the Board had the appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, competence, diversity
and independence. The workings and skills of the Board will remain under close review via the Nomination Committee (see page 80)

to ensure any gaps are identified and resolved. Details of the Directors’ knowledge and previous experience can be found in the table below.

Independence

Retail & Food Services

Qil & Gas

Global Operations

Strategy Development

Finance & Accounting

8O
e9660&00
98680
(1 1 2 X 1 X7
980866860
90

Investrment & Private Ecuity

Corporate Governance

Risk Management

Audit & Risk Committee

Remuneration Committee

Nomination Committee

280
®e0
@60
L L2

@8O
2900

M&A ©6888Q0

Roles and responsibilities
The Group has clear lines of responsibility from shareholdar to Board, Board to Co-CEOs and Co-CEQs to Executive and Country
Management Teams,

The Board, as a who'e, is collectively responsible for promoting the long-term sustainable success of the Group and agreeing and
executing strategy.

There is a distinet and defined division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Co-CEQs, Whilst the Chairman is responsible
for the effective workings of the Board, the Co-CEQs are responsible for the operational management of the business and for the
implementation of the agreed strategy by the Board and its shareholders.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on issues and that they have fuil and timely access to
accurate and relevant information. To ensure the Directors fully discharge their duties, briefing papers are circulated in advance of all
meetings.

The Board delegates responsibility for the day-to-day operational management of the Company to the Group’s Co-CEQs, who are
supported by an Executive Management Team including the Group Chief Financial Officer, Group General Counsel and Company
secretary, Group Chief Information Officer, Group Chief Operating Officer and Group Commercial Director, in addition to Country
Management Teams. During 2021 the Executive Management Team also consisted of a Group Chief Strategy Officer; this position has
remamed vacant since December 2021

EG Group | 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements
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GOVERNANCE -

TN
AONTINUED

BUILDING A GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK THAT IS FIT FOR PURPOSE CONTINUED
Roles and responsibilities continued

CHAIRMAN CO-CECS INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVES
Effective leadership of the Board. Effective day-to-day management of insight and experience to the Board.
Maintains a culture of openness and the Group and operations Responsible for constructively
transparency. Ensure Board decisions are challenging strategies, scrutinising
implemented. performance and bringing independent

Promotes effective contribution. debate
and constructive challenge, Responsible for ensuring the Board is
kept up to date on all matters regarding
operations and reputation.

Board Committees

thinking and judgement.

AUDIT & RISK REMUNERATION NOMINATICN
Independent assessment and oversight Reviews remuneration structures and Reviews the size and composition of the
of the financial reporting processes and packages for Executive Management. Board, its Committees and Executive

makes recommendations to the Board
around the integrity of the financial
information.

. - Management.
Reviews workforce pay and conditions. 9

Makes recommendations arcund gaps
identified and appointments as
On behalf of the Board, oversees risk necessary.

management and internal controls. Reviews the Group’s corporate

governance arrangements as well as
performance and effectiveness of the
Board and its Committees.

We have a number of mechanisms in place to ensure information flows between the Beard, Co-CEOs, Executive and Country
Management Teams and colleagues at EG.

During 2021 an executive level Risk & Disclosure Committee was established, reporting to the Audit & Risk Committee. Meetings were
scheduled on a guarterly basis aligned to the Group’s financial reporting calendar, with ad hoc sessions arranged as necessary to
review and validate the information being reported both internally and externally.

In addition, weekly country leadership calls are held with the Co-CEQOs to discuss performance and trading.

A monthly Senior Leadership Meeting is convened to discuss any pertinent matters.
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Time commitments and independence

Independent Non-Executive Directors are reguired to provide a
minimum time commitment which is stipulated in their service
contracts; however, throughout 2021 and 2022 and due to the
volatility of the markets, they continue to make themselves
available at short notice to deal with matters as they arise.

All Directors are required to report any external appeintments to
the Group Company Secretary; a list of appointments is
maintained by the Group Secretariat and reviewed annually.

Stuart Rose, Alison Carnwath and John Carey were deemed
indepandent on appointment. They assess, challenge and monitor
the Executive Directors’ delivery of strategy within the risk ang
governance framework agreed by the Board and, following advice
and guidance from the Audit & Risk Committee, review the
integrity of the Group's financial information, The Board therefore
considers them to be independent in both character and
judgement.

As Exacutive Directors, co-founders and shareholders, Mohsin Issa
and Zuber {ssa, alongside TDR Representative Directors Manijit
Dale and Gary Lindsay, are not deemed independent.

Before all Board meetings, the Chairman directs Directors te
confirm any canflict of interests and the Directors are required to
inform the Group Company Secretary of any conflicts of interest as
they arise.

Details of related parties are monitored and reported to the
Group’s Financial Reporting Team. During 2021, a review of
Directors’ related parties was undertaken and an annual Director
disclosure was completed.

Following the year end, a review of the Group's conflicts of interest
and related party processes has been undertaken and an updated
policy has been approved.

As reported in the financial statements, details of any related party
transactions can be found in note 37 on 161 to 163.

Performance and evaluation
The Directors cah reguest access to independent and professional
advice at the Company’s expense,

The Board has agreed to undertake an internally facilitated Board
and Committee evaluation during H2 2022, supported by the
Nomination Committee. The results and any action plans will be
reportad in the 2022 Annval Report and Financial Statements.

ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

The Board held four formal meetings scheduled in each quatter; in
addition, three ad hoc sessions were arranged, focused specifically
on strategy, mergers and acquisitions ("M&A”) and the FY22
budget. Regular dialogue is maintained between the Directors and
Group Campany Secretary and private offline sessions are held
between the Non-Executive and Executive Management separately
to ensure the Board is updated on develepments.

Agendas are prepared in conjunction with the Chairman, meetings
and key decisions are minuted and actions are tracked and
updates reported at the next meeting. Standing iftems include
Committee updates, CEQ, CFO, M&A and Health, Envirenment,
Safety & Security ("HESS") updates. Deep dives into topic areas
are agreed by the Board and Executive Management Team and
include ESG, digital strategy and technclogy.

During 2021 and as part of the Board's induction programme, a
number of virtual strategic sessions were held, led by the Group’s
CSO in conjunction with external advisers and subject matter
experts, to better understand market trends, opportunities for
growth, petential risks and technological developments to ensure
the strategic obhjectives of the business align with customers’
existing and future needs.

Bl Grouvn | 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements 77



GOVERNANCE couriuen

KEY AREAS OF FOCUS

+ MBA * Risk management

= Market and competitors * BIC and ICFR
review . . * SAP implementation
+ Alternative fuels . ; « External auditor
© E5G ; + HESS
* Operations . :
e BOARD o
»  Trading and business B T Established Board
updates Committees and reviewed

and discussed activities
during the year and key
priorities.

« Quarterly results
= Budgets

*  Key policies and
governance updates

» Legisiative and regulatory
updates

ACTIVITIES AND DECISION-MAKING

QUTCOME

CO-CEC UPDATES «  Overview of opportunities and challenges facing the different segments and
regions provided at each meeting

= Qverview of performance and trends, customer trends and preferences
= Updates around investment and organic growth including NTI sites
»  Brand initiatives and strategic partnerships including Asda On the Move

CFO UPDATES = Overview of financial performance including revenue, EBITDA and cash fiow
«  Performance measured against prior quarters, years and budget
= Reforecasting and action ptanning

KEY

Growth Innovation Site netwaork @ Foodservice
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PRIORITIES FOR 2022

AUDIT & AUDITOR

AD HOC
FINANCIAL
MATTERS

M&A

TECHNOLOGY

HESS UPDATES

LEGAL,
GOVERNANCE &
COMPLIANCE
MATTERS

ESG

OUTCOME

STRATEGIC REPORT FINANCIALS

Review and approvai of Group Annual Report and Financial Statements

for FY2Q

Review and approval of FY21 audit strategy and re-appeintment of KPMG as
external auditor for the period

Agreed Group and country budgets for FY21 and Fy22
Review of liquidity, leverage and revolving credit facility

Approval of termination of proposed Asda forecourts transaction and
redemption of $675m 6.5% Senior Secured Nates

Approval of change of LIBOR to SONIA

Quarterly updates on potential acquisition oppor{unities
Approval of proprietary brand acquisitions of LEON and Cooplands
Approval of Sprint and Amsric acquisitions

Approval of divestment of sites to address the CMA resolution agreed
following the shareholders' separate acquisition of Asda

Review of risks and controis around technology and information security

Quarteriy reports presented detailing HESS performance for country and
Group

Approved expenditure for implementation of software to facilitate
improvemeants regarding reporting and the granularity of cata

Approval of Committees and membership

Updates from the Committee Chairmen and from the Group’s General
Counsel on material contracts and agreements including purchase of
financial assets in January 2021

Review of minimum volume commitments across fuel supply contracts
Review and approval of enhanced risk management framework and Group
risk register

Approval of appointment of Head of ESG and Sustainability
Deep dive into ESG initiatives and strategy

The Board held an in-person annual strategy and planning session at the start of 2022. Key priorities and areas of focus for the Board
during 2022 inciude:

Continue to closely maonitor the performance of the Group, segments and industry as a result of the geopelitical and macroeconomic

factors

Determination of Group strategy with particular focus around alternative fuels

Review and consider the Group's refinancing strategy

Development of ESG strategy including Director training, development of carbon targets and a published Sustainability Report
EG's digital strategy and technology

Continue to develop the governance framework and associated policies and procedures

In conjunction with the Nomination Committee, agree succession planning in relation to Executive Management and key persenne!
Undertake a Board and Committee evaluation and implement any agreed action plans
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NOMINATION

COMMITTEE REPORT

tord Stuart Rose

COMMITTEE COMPOSITION AND-
'ATTENDANCE

‘Committee B
members 2021

_Stuart Rose (Chairman)
Alison Carnwath

John Carey

Adl other 'Dire.cto_rs; are invited and exbected -t_o attend: howeifer,' :

they are not members and do.not form a quorum. in addition,
- the Group General Counsel and Company Secretary supports -
the Chairman to prepare the agendas attend and mmute the
rneetlngs . -

n accordance with the Terms of Reference, the Committee is

“required to meet at ieast twice yearly; ad hoc meetings may be

- called at the request of the Chairman as requured

RESPONSIBILITIES
Board and Committee composition and effectiveness
The Gommittee reviews the camposstlon of the Board and
its Committees to ensure: ef‘fectwe Ieadershm and
" long-term success.

nsures the Board and committees have the appropnate
balance of skills, knowledge and dwersi

© identifies and evaluates candtdates for
as. requnred :

ture _appoi!"_lti'n'ents_

: Successlon

The Commlttee (] responstb!e for ensurng a pipehne !
_of tatent for the Board and Executive Management Team to
’ support SU . - )

Governance

hittee is responsst : for ensurmg ‘the Group
sfies the re utred
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- COMPLEXITY OF
" WITH THE GROWING |
};_‘-pORTFouo AND FUTURE OBJECTIVES

Meetfngs

,.VIS REFLECTIVE OF'THE .__IZE:' SCALE AND

HE BUSINESS AND ALIGNS B
IVERSITY OF TI-IE_:GROU '

Chairman of the Nomination Committee

ACTIVITIES DURING 2021

Board and Committee composition and effectiveness
During 2021, the composition of the Board changed significantly
with the appeintment of Lord Stuart Rose and Darme Alison
Carnwath as independent Non-Executive Directors, following
the appointment of John Carey in November 2020.

The appointments of Stuart, Alison and John brought a level
of independence to deliberations and constructive challenge
to Board meetings to ensure the Board remains kalanced
and effective.

Meetings

in May 2027, the Board established three supporting Committees,
Audit & Risk, Nomination and Rernuneration. The roles and
responsibilities of each Committee are clearly set out in the
Committees’ Terms of Reference.

whilst the Nomination Committee is required by its Terms of
Reference to meet twice a year, due 1o timings, only one meeting
was held during 2021, with the purpose of reviewing and
confirming the Board and Committee composition and the
corporate governance arrangements of the Group. A subsequent
meeting was held following the year end where a more in-depth
review of the corporate governance arrangements against the
wates Principles took place. The composition of the Board and
Committees, as well as the skills, backgrounds and diversity of the
Directors, was also reviewed. Areas of development and key
priorities were alsc agreed.

Balance of skills, background and diversity

Having reviewed the members of the Board and its Committees
alongside the balance, skills, hackgrounds and diversity of the
Directors, the Committee believes the current composition is
reflective of the size, scale and complexity of the business and
aligns with growing diversity of the Group's portfolio and future
strategic objectives.

Alongside the Board, the Committee continues to champion the
henefits of diversity, whether it be religious, ethnic or gender
diversity and the current composition is reflective of this.
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THE BOARD AND COMMITTEE DASHEBOARD

HHDEREMDENMCE

Sindepniponnt

Training and development

All Directors can reguest further information and support in order
to fulfit their individual and collective duties. During 2021 a number
of strategic sessions lead by internal and external advisers were
held with the Beoard to review strategy, understand key markets,
oppaortunities and risks.

One-on-one sessions were held between the Non-Executive
Diractors and the Co-CEQOs as woll as Executive Management
Teamn, including the CFO, Group General Counse! and Company
Secretary and Head of HR to ensure a consistent and timely
dialogue sutside of the boardroom,

Time commitment

Time commitments for the independent Non-Evecutiva Directors
were agreed at appointment and are set out 1in writing as part of
thew service agreements.

A list of Directors’ external directorships is maintained by the
Group Secretanat Team and Is reviewed annually by the Board.
Directors arc requircd to inform the Company Secretary and the
Board of any external appointments.

Evaluation

The Committee agreed that during H2 2022 an anonymised,
internally facilitated Booard and Commitiee evaluation will be
held, The resyits ang any agreed achtions wili be presented to the
Committee 'h Novembper 2022 and detailed in the FY22 Annual
Report and Financial Statements.

LEADERSHIP AND SUCCESS|ON

The Executive Management Team consists of the most senior
leaders, business unit and functional leads from acress the
business and supports the Co-CEQs in the implementation and
delivery of the Group's strategy as set by the Board.

Curing 2021, the Executive Management Team consisted of the
Group Strategy Officer, Group Chief Financial Officer, Group
General Counsel and Company Sccretary, Group Chief Information
Qfficer, Group Chief QOperations Director and Group Commercial
Director. Throughout 2022, the Nomimation Committee will
continue to support the Board and the Company in reviewing

the Group’s Executive Management Team to ensure delivery of
the Group’s strategy and objectives,

3 BAME

GOVERNANCE

Directars’ conflicts of interest will be reported annually to the
Nomination Committee to ensure any conflicts are considered as
part of the Directors’ independence assessment and will take place
simultaneously as part of the Board and Cormmittee evaluation
process scheduled for HZ2 2022,

Foliowing the year end, a review of the Group's corporate
goverhance arkfangements tock place. As a large private
business, the Group applies the Wates Principles of Corporate
Governance. Details of EG’s application can be found throughout
this governance section of the Annual Report and Financial
Statements, A sighpost to varicus sections can be found

on page 71,

Given EG's size and scale, the Board and the Committec are
mirndful of additional corporate governance reguirernents that
apply to our suppliers, investors and competitors. The Committee
chsures that Diroctors are made aware of bost practices as welf as
developments in the corporate governance atrena.

2022 PRIORITIES

- A key area of focus during 2022 15 to ensure appropriate
succession plans and talent pipelines are in place for key roles
acrass the business

= Undertake » Board and Comimittee evaluation and agree
an action plan for 2023

« Continue to review and monitor developments across the
governance agenda and the impact on EG and ensure the
Group’s govarnance arrangements are appropriate,
propoftiohate and reflective of best practice

L__A.

v Rhynrl aoue

Chairman of the Nomination Committee

August 22, 2022
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AUDIT & RISK

COMMITTEE REPOI

T

Damas Allsen Carnwath
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee

. MEMBERSHlP AND ATT'ENDANCE

- Committee
“members 2021

" Alison Carmwath (Chairman) - -

' The core responstblhtses of the Committee |nclude

.. Flnancial statements and statutory reportlng On behalf of
the Board, the Commuttee is responsible for reviewing the
appropriateness of the financial controls and processes and -
the integrity of the Group's reported financial inforrmation .
mciudmg key judgements and dzsclosures
External auditor ~ The Cofﬂmlttee is responsable for
overseelng the exterrial auditor relationship, recommendmg
to the Board their appointment and remuneration.and
assessmg the effectiveness of the external audit progfamm
Internat controls and risk management The Comrmttee

"has supported the Group in the design and development .
of its internal controls and risk manggement framework:
“and the identification and asseassment of pﬂnc;pal

and emergmg risks. :
] internal audiy - Dunng 202‘{ and 2022 the Committee .
supported the Group w:th raprioiti ng ke act:wtnes of .

:Megting's attended

12021 Annual Report and Financial Statements

[ am pleased to present the Audit & Risk Committee (the
‘Committea’} report for the period ended December 31, 2021
Following my appeintment to EG, the Committee was established
in May 2021 and | was appointed Chairman of the Committee.

2021 saw the continued development of EG's governance
framework. This report sets out how the Committee has supported
the Group in achieving its cbjectives in this area and how it has
supported the Board in providing regular oversight and assurance.

Looking ahead to 2022, the Committee will continue to assess the
macroeconomic factors which may impact the Group's operations
as well as the evolving legislative and regulatory landscape
including the UK Government’s Audit Reform Programme.
Further details regarding the Committee’s priorities can be

found on pages 86.

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE

Compuosition

The Committee comprises Non-Executive Directors including
John Carey alongside myself.

As a Chartered Accountant, | have extensive and relevant financial
experience having served as a mamber and chairman of other
audit committees and am able to provide the appropriate level

of challenge to management. The Committee as a whole has
competence relevant to the sector in which the Group operates.
Further details of the Directors' experience and skills can be found
on page 75.

The remaining Directors, including the Chairman of the Board,
though invited to attend are not members and therefore do not
count as quordm. Composition is therefore in line with and is
appropriate for the needs of the business.
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Meetings

The Committee's objectives and requirements as detailed in the
Terms of Reference were mapped out for 2021 and a schedule of
activity was prepared. Reporting respaonsibilities and timelines
were clearly defined from the vutsel and the schiedule was
reviewed and updated following the year end for the activities
relating to 2022.

The Committee is required to meet at least guarterly and meetings
are aligned to the Group’s financial reporting activities. Agendas
are prepared based on the schedule of activity and, in conjunction
with the CFO and the Committee Chairman, time is allocated to
each agenda item and allowance is made for any additional
matters that arise. Updates are prepared and presented by
management in relation to guarterly financial resulis prior to
publication. The Cammittee also receives regular updates on
internal contrals, risk management, governance and compliance,
as well as updates from the external auditor relating to the audit
process. Additional meetings were arranged covering the Group’s
key accounting policies and judgements and preliminary and
yvear-end audit processes in preparation for approval of the 2020
Annual Report and Financial Statements.

Minutes are taken of all meetings ana actions tracked, which are
reviewed and approved at the subsequent meeting.

Performance and evaiuation

Following the 2021 year end, a gap analysis was undertaken
against the Commuttee's Terms of Reference; the outcome and an
action plan were reported to the Committee in February 2022 and
key priorities agreed, including a thorough review of the audit
timetable, which continues to be a key prionty for the Committee
and the Company. The pericd from December 31, 2021 to the
publication of the Annual Report and Financial Statements was
shortened from the prior year and the Committee continues to
support management to achieve a more normalised reporting
timetable for FY22.

The action plan helped formulate the Committee’s schedule of
activity and updates are reported at each quarterly meeting to
track progress.

A Committee evaluation will be undertaken during H2 2022
and the actions and progress will be reported in the 2022 Annuak
Report and Financial Statements.

ACTIVITIES DURING 2021

Financia! statements and statutory reporting

During 2021, an Executive Risk and Disclosure Committee

was established to ensure the Company satisfies its disclosure
obligations. The Executive Risk & Disclosure Committee meets at
least quarterly to review the Group’s quarterly financial results and
the Annual Report and Financial Statements. Ad hoc meetings are
arranged as needed to review press releases and statements priofr
to circulation to the Audit and Risk Committee or the Board.

Following review by the Executive Risk & Disclosure Committee
the Group’s quarterly results and investor presentations were
reviewed by the Committee to assure the accuracy of the
disclosures prior to release. Management’s analysis and accounting
considerations were also provided to support the Committee in its
review.

In October 2021, the Committee reviewed and recormmended
that the Board approve the 2020 Annual Report and Financial
Statements.

In addition, the Committee has considered this Annual

Report and Financial Statements for 2021 and is satisfied

that the conclusions and related disclosures are appropriate.

The Commuittee has recammended to the Board that the Annual
Report and Financial Statements for 20211is a farr, balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospects. In reviewing the Annual Report and Financiat
Statements, the Committee has considered reports from
management on accounting policies and key judgements and
assessed the suitability and reasonableness of these. The fellowing
table highlights the most significant issues/judgements considered
by the Committee.
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ACTIVITIES DURING 2027 CONTINUED

Financial statements and statutory reporting continued

The areas of focus and actions taken by the Committee in relation to the 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements are outlined
below. The Committee was satisfied in each case with the accounting and the related disclosure in the financial statements and
recommended that the Board approve the matter.

SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL

MATTERS

GOING CONCERN

See Going concern within
note 1 on page 102

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

See note 15, Geodwill
on page 120

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(“PPE”) AND RIGHT OF USE
("ROU") ASSETS

See Impairment of PPE
and Intangibles within
key sources of estimation
uncertainty in note 4,

oh page N3

ACQUISITION ACCOUNTING

See note 35, Business
Comhbinations on pages
155 to 161

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

See note 5, Exceptional
Items on pages 114 and N5

RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

See note 37, Related Party
Transactions on page 161
to 163

The Cammittee reviewed and challenged management’s assessment of forecast cash flows in the
Going Concern Assessment Period, including sensitivity to trading performance and the potential
impact of uncertainties including those resulting from macroeconomic and geopclitical factors.

These forecasts also considered the ability of the Group to service its financing facilities and to
comply with its relevant covenants.

The Committee reviewed the assumptions with management and are satisfied that they support
the Group as a Going Concern.

The Committee also considered the disclosures reiating to Going Concern assumption,
including those relating to the potential strategic options being considered by the Directors.

The Committee reviewed and challenged management’s impairment testing of goodwill, in
particular in relation to the Australia and Benelux Groups of Cash Generating Units (CGUSs).

The Coammittee considered the methodology and key assumplions for the adopted fair value
approach in order to conclude on the appropriateness of the impairment losses recognised,
which consisted of a $100m impairment for the Australia Group of CGUs for 2021 (2020 nil).
This included chalienging the independent third-party valuation multiples against the latest
known market information.

Given the impairment in Australia and the low headroom in Benelux, the Committee aiso
reviewed the related incremental disclosures.

The Audit Committee reviewed management’s impairment conclusians relating to site levef
impairment indicators for PPE and RolU assets, which included challenge of key judgements,
in particuiar discount rates and the estimatec future cash flows.

The Committee noted the impairment charge for the year of $178m (202C: $25m} and reviewed
the related disclosure.

There have been six acguisitions in the vear. Management have engaged valuation specialists where
required to support on the purchase price accounting and other key judgements made as part of
this exercise and & summary of the proposed accounting was presented to the Committee.

The Augit Committee reviewed the accounting treatment and disclosures, and the application of
IFRS 3 Business Combinations in relation to these acguisitions,

The Committee considered the presentation of the Group's financial statements and the
appropriateness of the presentation of exceptional items. The Committee reviewed the nature of
the adjusting items identified and concurred with management that the treatment was clear,
balanced and consistently applied across years. The Committee also considered the presentation
of Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”) including Adjusted EBITDA throughout this report
and whether this enables a clear and fair understanding of performance.

The Group has entered into a number of transactions in the year, including those between Bellis
Topco Limited and its subsidiaries following the Shareholders separate acauisition of Asda
Supermarkets Limited, which completed in February 2021,

The Audit Committee reviewed the related party disclosure in the financial statements. The Audit

Committee satisfied themselves that there were no additional related parties that had not already
been identified nor related party transactions that had not been adeguately disclosed.
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External auditor

Following the Committee’s establishment in May 2021, the
Committee reviewed the scope of the FY20 audit and quarterly
reports were presented at each meeting from the external auditor
as to the progress of the FY20 audit, key risks and challenges,

Following approval of the Group's 2020 Annual Report and
Financial Statements, KPMG have presented their management
letter detailing their findings fram the FY20 audit, FYZ1 audit plan
and strategy including their initial assessment of risks, scoping and
materiality. Following a detailed review of the audit strategy,
KPMG's independence assessment and management’s response to
the representation letter, the Committee recommended that the
Board re-appoint KPMG LLP for the FY21 audit,

FY21 audit fees have been agreed on a comparable basis and
are expected to reduce in future years following the
implementation of the internal Controls over Financial Reporting
and Business Improvement and internal Controls programme.

KPMG did not undertake any non-audit services on behalf of the
Group during FY21. However, the Company engaged Pw(C LLP on
matters relating to nurchase price ailocation, new acqguisitions and
valuations and engaged EY LLP in relation to the design and
development of the internal controls programme.

Foliowing the conclusion of the FY21 audit and publication of the
Group's Annual Report and Financial Statements, the Committee
will undertake an effectiveness review of the audit process and
will prepare an update for the Board in relation to the outcome
and associated actions.

The Group was informed that the UK Financial Reporting Council’'s
Audit Quality Review ("AQR"™) Team would review the FY20 audit
undertaken by KPMG. The key findings of the report will be
presented to the Committee once available.

The Committee Chairman and external auditor work closely on all
audit matters with regular discussions taking place outside of the
scheduled meetings, with communications based on open and
honest dialogue.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

We continue to develop our internal controls and risk management
framework, whilst significant progress has been made to date, the
Committee is aware there is still more work to be done. This is a
kay priority for the business and the Committee throughout 2022
and 2023.

internal controls of financial reporting

The Caommittee continues to oversee the Group’s design,
development and implementation of financial controls. Both the
previous auditor Deloitte LILP and current auditor KPMG do not
place reliance upon internal controls over financial reporting in
undertaking their statutory audits of the Group and as such the
Committee has a clear objective for the Group to improve the
financial processes, internal controls and documentation of
controls. During 2021 a dedicated Business Improvement and
Internal Controls programme was estabtished and guarterly
reports were and continue to be presented to the Committee to
track progress and identify potential risks in advance.

This programme is focused on reviewing and implementing further
improvements to financial processes and internal controls to
ensure that the Group has high quality Internal Controis over
Financial Reporting processeas. This work 1s bemng undertaken in
conjunction with the implementation of 2 commoen finance ERP
across the Group with common reporting protocols including
standardized global charts of account and reporting structures.
The Committee expects to see significant progress in these areas
in 2022 and 2023.

Technology and information security controls

A key focus for the Committee during 2021 related to technology
and information security controls. Reliable, available and secure
technology services and applications underpin the delivery of our
operations to achieve our strategic objectives. The Group’s Chief
Information Officer attended all Committee meetings to ensure the
Committee was kept up to date with any developments, risks

and oppoeortunities,

Following the year end, strategic pricrities for technology were
presented to the Board and the Committee wili continue
to monitor progress in line with the plan during 2022
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INTERNAL CONTROLS & RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

Risk management

During the year, the Committee reviewed and considered the
Group's risk management frameowork and processes,

A Group-level principal risk register and high-level risk appetite
statements wern reviownd prior to Board approval to ensure
alignment of the risk framework.

Risks have been categarised into key areas with executive
sponsors and risk owners assigned.

F¥22 will see the continued rollout of the Group’s risk framewark
and to align risk activitics from a top-down and bottom-up
approach, For further iInformation regarding the Group's risk
framoework and principal risks, please refer to pages 51to 67,

Internal audit

During 2021, the Group's internal Audit team repricritised its
focus on actions across core financial pracesses and internal
improvemcent arcas. These activities are designed to implement
common pracesses and controls across all countries in the Group.
As the Group continges to evolve its Internat Controls over
Financial Reporting, the Committee wiil re-instigate regular
internal audit reviews cf these processes ahd controls to ensure
there 1s an adequate third hne of defence.

PRIORITIES FOR 2022

A key priornty far 2022 for the Committee will be to support the
Group to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the audit and
statutory reporting timeframes and the Group intends to pulslish
its 2022 Annual Report and Accounts within @ more normalised
timeframe.

This will be supported by continued momenturn from the Group's
Financial Contrals implementation Programme and tracking of
progress will continue to be reviewed and chzllenged by the
Committee throughout 2022, In addition, following the extensive
Business Impravement pracess and Internal Controls programme
activities during 2021 and 2022, the Committee will suppart
manadement to cstablish an appropriate internal audit function
that wilt be operational in 2023,

Also durthg 2022, the Committee will review management’s

refinancing strategy. in light of the Group’s maturing tovm loans
and secured notes in 2024 and 2025,

mwwgh

P ame s Carraysih

Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee
fugust 22, 2022

86 D Teaten 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statemonts



STRATEGIC REPORT

FINANCIALS

John Carey

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

g _COMPOSITION AND ATTENDANCE

.Committee
members 2021

-John Carey

Alison Camwath

. ROLES AND RESPONSIBIL!TIES
» The purpose of the Committee is to work with the Group S -
' Co~CEOs and Executive Managemenit: to harmonise and
~develop a Group-mde sustainable approach to remuneration:
that attracts, retains and incentivises key personnel across EG,
to deliver the Group's strategic oblectrves and is al:gned with'
: sharehcolder interests. i

Thas mcludes .
e Proposing appropnate remuneratlon structures, ensurmg

the performance criteria are fair and: rewardlng of successful

" perfofmarice and are sufficiently balanced to mciude
-financiat-and non-financial KPIs
Ensunng there is cons,lderat&on of the need for clarity,
sumphcnty, risk, mitigation, proportsonahty and cultures inall
proposed structures . E )
: Keepmg susfficiently: awar an 1 up t6 ate regardmg

As Chairman of the Remuneraticn Committee, | am pleased to
present the Remuneration Committee report for the financial
yvear ended December 31, 2021

During 2021 the Committee has supported the Executive Directors
and management to establish a simple, pragmatic and transparent
pay structure across all our markets that attracts, retains and
incentivises our colleagues to deliver the strategic objectives

of the Group.

The team delivered strong financial results despite a continuing
global pandemic impacting on our operations and requiring
increased investment to keep our colleagues and customers safe,
as well as labour and supply chain shortages, particularly across
the retail sector. 2022 will see continuing challenges as a result of
increased inflation and the rising cost of living, further exacerbated
by the conflict in Ukraine.

REMUNERATION ACTIVITIES REPORT

Meetings

During the year the Committee held three virtual meetings in
quarters two, three and four. Meetings will increase to four during
2022 in line with the Committee’'s Terms of Reference.

All Directors are invited to attend but do not count as quorum.

To ensure the global needs of our colleagues are considered,
representatives from the UK & Furope, Australia and USA HR
teams attend the meetings on a bi-annual basis to provide updates
on labour market trends, retention and initiatives.
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REMUNERATION ACTIVITIES REPORT CONTINUED
Key decisions and achievements

PAY STRUCTURES

ANNUAL PAY RISE
AND BONUSES

MiNIMUM WAGE

EXECUTIVE
BENCHMARKING

ENGAGEMENT
SURVEY

UK GENDER PAY

During the year, the Committee proritised the introduction of a performance related, consistent and
transparent pay structure to incentivise key personnel. A proposal was approved by the Committee
which established both a long and short-term incentive plan (“LTIPS" and "STIPs"), which will provide
a foundation for a consistent and standardised reward mechanism in all regions, with a key focus on
retention. LTIP schemes were developed to drive long-term growth in the business whilst retaining
key leadership, with participants identified frem around the business and categorised according to
levels of strategic influence and control. Performance metrics were alsc agreed for STIP, and cover
both finrancial and non-financial KPIs and delivery of personal objectives. This includes all UK head
office/shared service colleagues and above store leaders, with a view to rolling out similar
mechanisms in Continental Europe. Details of the LTIP and STIP performance metrics and weightings
can be found on page 89.

In December, the Committee approved an annual pay rise across the Group. In addition, and in lieu of
the STIP arrangements, annual benuses were awarded for FY21 which will be paid in H2 2022

Workforce pay and conditions is a key rezponsibility of the Committes. In the LI, EG's minimum
wage was increased to 9.50p in Qctober 2021 for all UK employees over 1B. This was further
increased to 10.05p in April 2022,

A UK salary benchmarking exercise was undertaken against Merca and the outcome reported to the
Committee to ensure pay is competitive and reflective of job roles. The Cormmittee approved
additional expenditure for the salary benchmarking exercise to be rotled cut across cur other
markets.

During G4 an inaugural global engagement survey was rofled out. Workshops and feedback sessions
have been held with teams in order to disseminate the information across the Group. Results were
reported to the Committee during 2022 and key areas were identified and prioritised. A half-yearly
update on progress will be reported to the Committee in September 2022 and the engagement
survey will be repeated in December 2022.

The UK's gender pay gap report was presented to the Committes. Further details can be found
via the following ink on our website https:/www.eg.group/media/l4xncwtw/gender-pay-gap-
statement.pdf?culture=en
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STIPs AND LTIPs

Awarded December 2021 Payable Q3 2022

To be awarded December

2022 Payable Q2 2023

Non-Financial - Caompany
KPI including ESG carbon
reduction target

% 20%
>0 25%

Firancial KPI - Group &
Company EBITDA

Non-Financial - Personal
Ferformance

Awarded December 2021 © Three-year vesting periogd Payable April 2025

GOVERNANCE

Following the year end. a gap analysis agamst the Commitiee’s
Terms of Reference was conducted, and the outcome and
associated actions were reparted at the following Committee
meeting. The actions were used to formulate a schedule of activity
and agrec deadlings for varigus wark streams,

PRIGRITIES FOR 2022
*  Schedule pay reviews for the Board and Executive Directors
for FY23
= Establish a process for half-yearly reporting to LTIP participants
= Develop KPIs and standard reporting dashboard to nresent at

all Committee meetings detailing staff turnover, retention,
ehgagement etc

o

AT L,
) .

O
ol Caray

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

August 22, 2022

g o 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements 89



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their Annual Report on the affairs of the
Group, together with the financial statements and auditor's report,
for the year ended December 31, 2021

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to undertaking research and deveioprment
activities with regard to the markets and sectors in which the
business operates, particularly 1n relation to alternative fuels as
well as our digital offerings to continue to provide best-in-class
services to our customers.

BUSINESS REVIEW, POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

A review of the financial performance of the Group during the year
is included in the strategic report, Details of significant events
since the balance sheet date are contained in note 36 to the
financial statements. An indication of likely future developments in
the business of the Company is included in the strategic report.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Information relating to the principal risks and uncertainties of the
Group has been included within the strategic report. Further
information relating to the financial risks of the Group has been
included in note 34.

OWNERSHIP

The ultimate parent Company of EG Group Limited is Optima
Bidco (Jersey) Limited, a company incorporated in Jersey, that is
25% owned by Mohsin Issa, 25% owned by Zuber Issa and 50%
owned by funds managed by TDR Capital LLP.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the year were as follows:

«  Zuber Vali Issa
« Monhsin Issa

The Company's Articles of Association provide for the
indemnification of its Directors to the extent permitted by the
Companies Act 2006 and other applicable legisfation, out of the
assets of the Company. in the event that they incur certain
expenses in connection with the execution of their duties. In
addition, and in commaon with many other companies, the
Company has directors' and officers’ liabiity insurance, in respect
of certain losses or liabilities to which officers of the Company may
be exposed in the discharge of their duties.
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PROPOSED DIVIDEND

The Directors are not proposing to recormmend a dividend from
the Company in respect of the financial year ended December 31,
2021 (2020: $nib). Mo dividends were paid to shareholders from the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2021 {2020: $nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details of the issued share capital, together with details cf the
movements in the Company’s issued shares during the year, are
shown in note 28. The Company has one class of ordinary shares
which carry no night te fixed income. Each share carries the right
to one vote at a general meeting of the Company. The percentage
of the t1ssued nominal value of the ordinary shares is 100% of the
total issued nominal value of all share capital.

No person has any special rights of control over the Company's
share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Cormpany
and the Group have adequate resources to contihue in operational
existence far the fareseeable future. In their consideration of going
concern, the Directors have reviewed the Group's future cash flow
forecasts and profit projections, on both a base case and
sensitised basis, considering the principal risks and uncertainties of
the Group.

These forecasts have been prepared based on market data, past
experience, expected trading on newly acqguired businesses and
refiect the impact from COVID-19 on trading activity and liguidity.
The Directors have reviewed these forecasts and have also
considered sensitivities in respect of potential downside scenarios
and the mitigating actions available to the Group.

Under all scenarios, there was sufficient headroom on covenants
and cash headroom. Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial
statements.

Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis
can be found in note 1in the financial statements.

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

We are committed to the investment of our employees at all levels.
Further information on our workforce policies, including disability
and diversity and inclusion as well as how we engage with our
employees, is detailed in our ESG staternent on pages 38 to 50
and our Section 172 statement on pages 16 to 19.



STRATEGIC REPORT

FINANCIALS

ENGAGEMENT WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHERS
IN A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANY
Suppliers and customers are key stakehclders of the Group,; details
of pur arrandements as well as other business relationships can be
found in the strategic report, Detalis of how we engage with cur
key stakeholders, decisions taken during 2021 and the impact of
these decisions on our key stakeholder groups can be found in our
Section 172 statement on pages 16 to 19

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERMNANCE
ARRANGEMENTS

Throughout the year the Group has applied the Wates Principles of
Carparate Governance, A statement on the Group’s compliance
with the principles can be found on page 71.

GREEMHQUSE GAS EMISSIONS AND ENERGY
CONSUMPTION

We comply with all relevant environmental iegislation and have
clear objectives to reduce energy consumption and waste
oroduction. Details of our carbon reporting are set out in the ESG
report on pages 41 and 42.

BOLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Heither the Company nor any of its subsidiarics made any political
denations or incurred any politicat expenditure during the current
and prior year.

GUIDELINES FOR DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY [N
PRIVATE EQUITY

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and Financial
Statemoents comply with all aspects of the Guidalines for
Disclosure and Transparency in Private Equity,

STRATEGIC REPORT

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, the
strategic report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the busihess and the position of the Group and
Company, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of
this Annuat Report confirms that:

= 5o far as the Director is aware, there is ho refevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware

= The Director has taken all steps that he cught to have taken as
a Director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit
information and to cstablish that the Company’s auditor is
aware of that information

This canfirmation 15 given and should be interpreted in accordance
with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

By.order of the Board

. .
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Gerieral Counsel and Company Secretary

August 22, 2022
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report.
strategic report, the Directors’ repart and financial staterments in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.,

Company law reguires the Directors to prepare financiaf
statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have clocted to prepare the Group financial staternents in
accordance with International Financral Reporting Standards
("IFR53"y as adopted by the Eurcpean Union and the parent
Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Gensrally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law), mcluding FRS 101
‘Reduced Disclosura Frameowerk’,

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss
of the Company for that period,

In preparing the Group and parent Company financial statements,
the Directars are required to:

+ Select sutable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently

+ Make judgements and cstimates that are roasonable, relevant,
reliable and prudent

» Far the Group financial statements, state whethor they have
been prepared in accordance with internationat accounting
standards tn conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006

+ For the parent Campany financial statements, state whether
applicable UK accounting standards have been follawed,
subiect to any material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements

+  Assess the Group and parent Company's ability to contimue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern

«  Use the going concerh basis of accounting unless they cither
intend to liguidate the Group ar the parent Company or to
cease aperations, or have noa realistic alternative but to do so

22 g
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The Directors are respensible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that
its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatemeont, whether due to fraud or crror,
and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably cpen to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to provent and detect fraud and other rrcgularities.

The Directors arc responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website, Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissernination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other Jurisdic

o g

Zubier isgo CHE & Monsin vaa oRE
Co-Founders and Co-Chief Executive Officers

August 22, 2022



STRATEGIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

te the members of EG Group Limited

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of EG Group Limited
("the Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2021 which
comprise the consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated balance sheet,
consolidated staterment of changes in equity, consolidated cash
flow staterment, company balance sheet, company statement of
changes in equity and related notes, including the accounting
policies in note 3.

In our opinion:

» The financial statements give a true and farr view of the state
of the Group's and of the parent Company's affairs as at
December 31, 2021 and of the Group's profit for the year
then ended

» The Group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards

» The parent Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards,
inciuding FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework;

» The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

BASIS FOR OPINION

We caonducted our audit in accordance with Internationa
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“iSAs {UK)") and applicable law.

Qur responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical respensibilities under, and are independent of the Group

in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC
Ethical Standard, as applied to other entities of public interest.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient
and appropriate basis for our opinion.

GOING CONCERN

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going
concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or the
Company or to cease therr operations, and as they have concluded
that the Group and the Cempany's financial position means that
this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertamnties that could have cast significant doubt cver their
ability to continue as a going concern for at ieast a year from the
date of approval of the financial statements ("the going concern
period™).

We used our knowledge of the entity, its industry and the general
economic environment to identify the inherent risks to its business
model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group's and
Company’s avallable financial resources or ability to continue
operations over the going concern pericd. The risks that we
considered most likely to adversely affect the Group’s and
Company's available financial resources and metrics relevant

to debt covenants over this period were:

+ The impact of rising inflation on revenue, margins, overheads
and interest rates

We considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the
liquidity or covenant compliance in the going concern period by
comparing severe, but plausible, downside scenarios that could
arise from these risks individually and collectively against the jevel
of availabte financial resources and covenants indicated by the
Group's financal forecasts.

We considered whether the going concern disclosure in note 1
to the financial statements gives a full and accurate description
of the directors’ assessment of going concern.

Cur conclusions based on this work:

+  We consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate

= We have not identified, and concur with the directors’
assessment that there is not, a materiat uncertainty refated to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast
significant doubt on the Group or the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern for the going concern period

»  We found the going concern disclosure in hote 1to be
acceptable

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and
as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent
with judgements that were reascnable at the time they were made,
the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the Group or the
Company will continue in operation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

to the members of EG Group Limited

FRAUD AND BREACHES OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS

= ABILITY TO DETECT

ldentifying and responding to risks of material misstatement
due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud ("fraud
risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an
incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity

to commit fraud. Qur risk assessment procedures included:

+  Enguiring of directors, the Audit & Risk Committee, Group
General Counsel and inspection of policy docurnentation as to
the Group’s channel for "whistieblowing”, as well as whether
they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud

= inspection of Board of Directors and Audit & Risk Committee
meeting minutes

«  Consideration of the Group’s results against performance
targets and the Group’s remuneration policies

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team
and remarned alert to any indications of fraud throughout the
audit. This included communication from the Group audit team to
full scope component audit teams of refevant fraud risks identified
at the Group level and request to full scope component audit
teams to report to the Group audit team any instances of fraud
that could give rise to a material misstatement at the Group level.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account
possible pressures to meet profit targets and our overall
knowiedge of the control environment, we perform procedures to
address the risk of management override of cantrols, in particular
the risk that Group management may be in a position to make
inappropriate accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting
estimates and judgements. On this audit we de not believe there is
a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because the incentive/
pressure and opportunity for management for fraudulent revenue
recognition using revenue account at a transactional level is
limited, Performance targets and cther pressures on management
are focused on EBITDA metrics rather than revenue metrics and
the nature of the operations provide limited opportunities to
engage in fraudulent revenue recognition.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
We also performed procedures including:

» ldentifying journal entries and cther adjustments to test for all
full scope components based on risk criteria and comparing the
identified entries to supporting documentation. These included
those pested by users who typically do not create or post
journals; seldom used accounts: journals posted with little or no
description and Journals with unusua! descriptions or key words

«  Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of a potentiaf bias
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Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement
related to compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably
be expected to have a matenal effect on the financial statements
from our general commercial and sector experience through
discussion with the directors and other management (as required
by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Group’s
regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the
directors and other management the policies and procedures
regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We cornmunicated identified laws and regulations throughout our
team and remained alert to any indicaticns of non-compliance
throughout the audit. This included communication from the
Group audit team to full scope component audit teams of relevant
laws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a reguest
for full scope compohent auditors to report to the Group audit
team any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulaticns
that could give rise to a material misstatement at the Group levet.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial
statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly
affect the financial statements including financial reporting
legislation ¢including related companies’ legislation}, distributable
profits legislation, and taxation legislation (direct and indirect).
We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and
regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial
statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulattons
where the consequences of nen-compliance could have a material
effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for
instance through the imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of
the Group's license to operate. We identified the following areas as
those most likely to have such an effect:

» Relevant regional fuel storage and related environmental
regulations which control spillages arising from delivery,
storage, and sale of fuel products, relevant food quality,
hygiene and safety regulations, employee health and safety
and Consumer Rights Legislation, reflecting the Group's
business model

= Data privacy laws, reflecting the Group's growing amounts of
personal data held

Auditing standards {imit the required audit procedures to identify
non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enguiry of the
directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and
legal carrespondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of operational
regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant
correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.
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Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or
breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent imitations of an audit, there is an
unaveidable risk that we may not have detected some material
misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have
properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with
auditing standards. For examnple, the further remaved
non-campliance with laws and regulations I1s from the events and
transactions reflected in the fingncial statements. the less hikely
the inherently imited procedures required by auditing standards
would identify it

In additian, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of
non-detection of fraud, as these may involve coilusion, forgery,
intentional omissions. misrepresentations, or the override of
internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect
maternal misstatement, We are not responstble for preventing
non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect
nan-compliance with alt laws and regulations.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information, which
comprises the strategic report, directors’ report and the
goverhance report, Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the ather information and, accordingly we do not
express an audit opinioh or, except as cxglicitly stated below,
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other intormation and, iIn dotng 5o,
consider whoether, based on our financial statements audit work,
the information therem is materialty misstated ar inconsistent with
the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on
that work:

< We have not identified material misstatoments in the other
information

« In our opinion the information given in thase reports for the
financial year 1» consistont with the financial statements

« In our opinion thasn reports have been prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT

BY EXCEPTION

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are reqguired to report to

you If, in cur aopinion.

«  Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
parent Company, or returns adequate for cur audit have not
been recenved from branches not visited by us

= The parent Company financial statements are not in agreemoent
with the accounting records and returns

= Certain disclosures of directors remuneralion specified by
faw are not made

+  We have not received all the information and explanations
we reduire far our audit

We have nothing to report in these respoects.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 92,
the directers are responsible far: the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view: such internal control as they determine is necessary to
cnablc the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstaterment. whether due to fraud or error, assessing
the Group and parcnt Company's ability to continuc as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable matters refated to going
cancern, and using the goihg concern basis of accounting unless
they either intend to liguidate the Group or the parent Company
or to cease operations. or have no reatistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES

COur objectives are to obtain reasonabie assurance about whethear
the financial statements as a whalc arc free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error. and to issue our
opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable assuranceo s a high level
of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a matenal
rmisstaterment when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considared materal if, indiwvidually or in aggregate,
they could reazonably be expected to influence the econcmic
decisions of uscrs taken on the basis of the financial statements,

A tuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FR('s
website at www.fre.org.uuk/auditarsresponsibilities,

THE PURFPQSE OF OUR AUDI|T WORK AND TO WHOM WE
OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,
In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006, Our audit work has becen undertaken so that we might state
to the Company's members those matters we are reauired ta state
to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. Ta the
fullest exteont permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
respohsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's membiors, as a bady, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

}ﬂ/"L\..—

Prod Lawddon (servor Sietutary At

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditer

Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
Canary Whart

London

E14 5GL

August 22, 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended December 31, 2021

2021 2020
Before Excepticnak After Before  Exceptional After
exceptional items exceptional exceptional items  exceptional
items {note 5) items items (note 5) items
Note sm sm $m trm $m $m
Continuing operations

Revenue & 26,420 - 26,420 21,463 - 21,463
Cost of sales (22,324) — (22,324) (17.856) — (17,856
Gross profit 4,096 - 4,096 3,607 - 3,607
Distribution costs (2,965) (22) {(2,987) (2,410) - 2.4103
Administrative costs (462) (104) (566) (4863 (28> (514>
QOther operating income 10 72 82 13 — 13
Share of profit of equity 12 1 —- 1 - - -

accounted investments
Operating profit/(loss) 680 (54) 626 724 (23 696
Finance income 12 283 41 324 7 7
Finance costs 13 {687) (56) (743) (864) (6) (B70)
Profit/(loss) before tax 276 (69) 207 {133 (34) (67
Tax 14 (147) (6) (153) (72) 7 (65)
Profit/(loss) for the year 129 (75) 54 (205) 27) (2323
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended December 31, 2021

2021 2020
$m $m

Profit/(lass) for the financial year 54 (232)
Other comptrehensive income/(expense)
ltems that may be subsequently rectassified to profit and loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (69) 93
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to income statement:
Remeasurament on defined benefit pension plan 16 (4)
Related tax (3) -
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year (56) 89
Total comprehensive loss for the year (2) (143>
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CONSCOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at December 31, 2021

20 2020
Note $m m

Non-current assets
Goodwilt 15 5,991 5,727
QOther intangible assets L] 1,017 1,043
Property, plant and eguipment 17 4,821 4,937
Right of use assets 24 2,105 1,992
Interests in joint venfures and assorciates i 15 8
Deferred tax asset 23 138 138
Financial assets 34 12 2
Trade and other receivables 21 229 121
Deposit paid for acquisition of subsidiaries 35 85 —
14,414 13,968

Current assets

Inventories 20 772 654
Trade and other receivables 21 547 545
Financial assets 34 241 -
Current income tax assets 4 22 16
Derivative financial instruments 34 2 1
Assets held for sale 8 12 14
Cash and casb equivaients 31 646 661
2,242 185
Total assets 16,656 15,859
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2021 2020
Note $m $m
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 (,672) {1.653%)
Cantract labilitics 26 20) (360
Current income tax habilities 14 {164) (58)
Baorrowings 22 {92) {b4)
! ease habilities 24 197) (177)
Provisians for other liabilities and charges 27 {134) {1543
Derivative financial instruments 34 (23 -
Ermployee benefit obligations 33 (22) 45
Liabilities held for sale 3 2 -
(2,308) {216
Net current liabilities (66} (270}
Non-current fiabilities
Trade and other payables 25 {485) (4681)
Contract liabilities 25 (44) (4%
Borrowings 22 (10,155 {9.594)
Lease liabikties 24 ¢1,825) (1,600}
Dervatve financial instruments 34 - (23
Provisions for other hakilitics and charges 27 (705) 829)
Defarred tax liabilities 23 (917} Iy
Employee benefit obhaations 33 {34) (48]
(13,765) (1314
Total liakilities ¢16,073) {15,225
Net assets 583 584
Equity
Share capital 28 - —
Share premium account 29 2,159 2,159
Merger reserve 30 (1,297) 1,297y
Other reserves 20 {1;m 58
Retained (losses)/earnings (269) (336)
Total equity 583 584

The financ:al statemchnts on pages 96 to 164 of EG Group Limited registered number 09826582, were approved by the Board of
Directors and authorised for 1ssue on August 22, 2022, They were signed on 1ts behaif by:

PR3

Zukay issa CBE & Mobisin lvea CBE
Co-Founders and Co-Chief Exccutive Officors

August 22, 1022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended December 31, 2021

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Other reserves

Share Capital Currency Retained

Share premium Merger contribution  translation  earnings/ Totai

capital account reserve reserve rescrve (losses) equity

Note $m $m $m £m $m $m $m

Balance at January 1, 2020 — 2,159 1,297 — (35> (100) 727

Loss for the year — — - - — (232) (232)
QOther comprehensive income/(l0ss)

for the year — — - — 93 4) 89

Total comprehensive income/(loss) — - - - 93 (236) (143)

Balance at December 31, 2020 —_ 2159 {1,297 - 58 (336) 584

Profit for the year - — - - - 54 54
Other comprehensive income/(loss)

for the year - — - - (69) 13 {56)

Total comprehenslve Income/(loss) - - - — (69) 67 [¥3)

Share-based compensation charges 39 - = - 1 - - 1

Balance at December 31, 2021 - 2,159 (1,297) 1 am {269) 583
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended December 3t, 2021

2021 2020
Note $m $m
Net cash from operating activities 31 1,455 1,835
Investing activities
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 237 26
Purchases of property, plant and eguipment 17 (598) (3b64)
Purchases of other intangibles 16 {12) 22)
Piircrhases nf finanrial assets Z4 (243)
Investments in joint ventures and associates 34 (6) -
Acquisition of businesses 35 {708) (209)
Deposits paid for acauisitions 35 88 —
Loans to related parties 37 112y -
Net cash used in investing activities {1,530) (569)
Financing activities
Interest paid (524) (545)
Repayment of lease liabilities 24 (280) (i90)
Loan issuance costs paid 31 (44) (2)
Repayments of borrowings 31 (598) (498)
Proceeds from new borrowings 31 1,539 176
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 93 (1,059)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 18 207
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 3 661 Mg
Effect of foreigh exchange rate changes 33 39
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year k1 646 661
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NOTES TO THE CONSQOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2021

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
EG Group Limited is a company incorporated and domiciled in the
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The Company is
a private company limited by shares and is registered in England
and Wales (registration number 09826582), and the address of
the registered office 1s Waterside Head Office, Haslingden Read,
Guide, Blackburn, Lancashire, United Kingdom, BB1 2FA.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries

{the "Group’) are to operate as a forecourt retailer providing
three prirmary caleyories ol producls: retailing of Grocery &
Merchandise, Foodservice and Fuel and an additional category of
other services.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared for

the year ended December 31, 2021 (2020: year ended December
31, 2020} in accordance with the reguirements of the Companies
Act 2006 and UK-adopted International Accounting Standards.
The consoldated financial statements are presented in US Dollars,
generally rounded to the nearest million. They are prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments and
plan assets of defined benefit pension schemes that are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in
the accounting policies in note 3.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern
basis as the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adeguate resources for a period of at ieast tweive
months from the date of approval to August 31, 2023 (the 'going
concern assessment pericd”), baving assessed the principal and
emerging risks facing the Group and determined that there are no
material uncertainties to disciose.

In determining whether the Group’s financial statements can be
nrepared on a going concern basis, the Directors considered the
Group’s pbusiness activities together with factors likely to affect

its financial performance and liquidity position. These factors
included actual trading performance during the pandemic, the
trading performance since lockdown restrictions have begun to be
lifted and expectations of the future macroeconomic environment.

The Directors have aiso considered a number of key factors,
including the Group's business model, strategy, principal risks and
uncertanties and the financial position of the Group, including
the current cash position and available working capital facilities,
financial forecasts for a period until August 31, 2023, and the
ability to adhere to the covenants contained within the Group's
financing agreements.

Furthermore, this review has considered the impact of the
integration of the Group's acquisition activity. The Group's senior
debt facilitics, as sct out in note 22, are subject to a financial
covenant measuring net debt to pre-IFRS 16 EBITDA (leverage),
which is tested at the end of each calendar quarter based on the
utilisation levels of the revolving credit facility ("RCF™).

At July 31, 2022, the Group's net debt position was $9,257m
comprising $443m in cash at bank, $270m cash in transit and on
site, and $9,970m of borrowings. in addition, the Group had access
to undrawn committed facilities of $22Tm giving total available
liquidity at that time of $934m. The Group's net debt benefited
from $546m relating to the deferral of tax and duties payable,
presented within trade and other payables, with the majority of the
batance being repaid over a 60 manth period from October 2022,
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FORFCASTS

The resilience of the Group's earnings have been demonstrated
during the COVID-12 pandemic, where retail and fuel operations
were designated as an essential retaller. Current macroeconomic
factors have alsc had an impact on the Group including the impact
of inflationary cost increascs, driven by growing commodity prices
and rising labour costs. The impact of inflationary pressures on
margins, overheads and general recession related risks have been
built into the Group's forecast scenarios.

Lonsideration was also given to the conflict in Ukraine which has
continued to develop subsequent to the Group's balance sheet
date. Resulting from this, there has been significant oil price
volatility in 2022; however, as retail prices adapt to wholesale cost
movements, there has been no matenal adverse impact on the
Group's profitability. Inflationary pressures which may be caused
by the conflict are already incorporated into the overall going
concern assessment, as such the impact of the conflict in Ukraine
does not impact the conclusions reached over going concern.

The Directors have prepared base and sensitised cash flow
forecasts for a period until August 31, 2023, which indicate that
the Group and Company will remain comphant with its covenants
and will have sufficient funds through its existing cash balances
and available facilities to meet its liabilities as they fall due for that
period, without any structural changes to the business needed. In
developing the forecasts, the Directors considered the estimated
ongeing impact of the pandemic and the outlock for the business.
This includes the modelling of a number of severe but plausible
scenarios based on the experiences during the pandemiic,
recognising the degree of uncertainty that continues to exist.

The scenarios considered include (a) a severe but plausible
downsice scenario, and (b} a ‘reverse stress test’ scenario. These
are described in further detail below.

The Group's severe but plausicle downside scenarios reflect the
impact of costs increasing above what can be passed on through
retail prices, where doing s0 may result in a loss of sales. The
principal trading and recovery assumptions are broadly aligned to
those observed in the Group's historical performance as described
above. Whilst not a key factor in the Directors’ going concern
concluston, the Group does also have other significant potential
mitigations at its disposal to improve its short-term liguidity
position and to comply with financial covenants should the need
arise, including scaling back its capital investment programme.
As a result of the uncertainties surrounding the forecasts due to
the current macroeconomic climate, the Group has alse modeiled
a reverse stress test scenario. The reverse stress test models the
decline in gross margin that the Group would be able to absorb
before requiring additional sources of financing in excess of those
that are availabie and committed. On the basis of the Group’s
resilient trading performance during the COVID-19 pandemic,

and the observed inverse carrelation between fuel margins and
volumes, the Directors have considered that the sequence of
events leading to this scenario would be considered remote.

The Directors continue to consider and assess strategic options
far the Group, which could include refinancing of existing Group
debt, or an Initial Public Offering or trade sale of some or all of the
Group's eperations. The forecast scenarios modelled for Gaing
Concern do not include the impact of these potential options.

The Directors would only approve such strategic options if
appropriate financing arrangements are in place and there is no
impact on the Group's ability to meet its liabilities as they fall due.
Appropnate financmy arrangements could include repayment or
refinancing the Group’s debt 1n the event of a change of control.
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CONCLUSION

The Directors are confident that the Group is well positioned to manage its tusiness risks and have considered a number of factors
including current trading performance, the outcomes of a range of possible future trading impacts, current liguidity and the available
mitigating actions. Under the Group's severe but plausible downside scenario there was sufficient headroom on covenants and cash
headroom during the going concern assessment period. The Directors continue to consider and assess strategic and acquisition
opportunities as they arise and the Directors would only approve such strategic options and/or acquisitions if they are accretive to the
value and position of the Group and sufficient funding is available. Consequently, the Directors are confident that the Group and the
Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet their liabiiities as they fall due in the going concern assessiment period to August
31, 2023 and therefore have prepared the financial staterments on a gaing concern basis.

The Group's accounting policies have, unless otherwise stated, been appled consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS
The following new standards were adopted n the current financial year:

» Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (amendments) - interest rate benchmark reform - phase 2
+ Annual improvements - cycle 2018-2020 - Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41
= IFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions

New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations which have not been applied in
these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:

« Amendments te IFRS 3 Business Combinations (amendments) - references to the Conceptual Framework

« Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (amendments) - proceeds before intended use

« Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (amendments) - cost of fulfiling a contract

= Amendments to 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (amendments) - classification of liahilities 25 current or non-current
- Amendments to lAS 8§ Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

+ Amendments to I1AS | Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements

» Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction

« IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the
Group in future periods.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Presentational currency

The presentational currency for the Group 1s US Dollars. Exchange rate differences arising on translation of subsidiaries with different
functional currencies to US Dollars for presentation purposes in the Group's financial statements, are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve in shareholders’ equity.

The exchange rates prevailing were as follows:

£/US$ exchange

Year ended December 31, 2021

Year ended December 31, 2020

Opening rate 1.36492 1.32040
Closing rate 1.34788 1.36492
Average rate 1.37563 1.28232

€/US$ exchange

Year ended December 31, 2021

Year ended December 31, 2020

Opening rate 1.22710 112340
Closing rate 113260 12270
Average rate 1.18283 113953

A%/USS exchange

Year ended December 31, 2021

Year ended December 31, 2020

Opening rate 0.77196 070234
Closing rate 0.72533 0.77126
Average rate 0.75161 0.69026
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINI

For the year ended December 3t, 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
Presentational currency continued
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Foreign currencies and functional currency

The individual financial statements of each Group subsidiary are
prepared in the currency of the primary economic envirenment in
which it operates {its functional currency). For the purpose of the
consolidated financial statements, the results and financial pesition
of the Group are expressed in US Dollars, the presentational
currency for the Group and its consolidated financial statements.

The assets and liabihties of the Group’s foreign operaticns are
translated into the Group’s presentational currency at exchange
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Profits and losses are
translated at average exchange rates for the relevant accounting
periods. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the Group
statement of comprehensive incoma/(loss) and are included in the
Group's translation reserve.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing

on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and habilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into the
functional currency at the rates of exchange at the reporting date.
Exchange differences on maonetary itemns are recognised in the
income statement.

Intragroup loans are translated at the year-end exchange rate with
the resulting exchange differences recognised within finance costs.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and transiated at the closing rate. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the parent Company, EG Group Limited, all entities
contrelied by the Company (its subsidiaries) and the Group's share
of its interests in joint ventures made up to December 31 each
vear. Control is achieved when the Company has the power over
the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its
involvement with the investee, and has the ability to use its power
to affects its returns,

SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are consolidated 1n the Group's financial statements
from the date that contrel commences until the date that control
ceases. Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses
or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions are
eliminated 1n preparing the consolidated financial statements.

A list of all the subsidiaries of the Group is included in note 18 of
the Group financial statements. All apply accounting policies which
are consistent with those of the rest of the Group.

JOINT VENTURES

The Group’s share of the resuits of joint ventures is included
in the Group income statement and Group statement of other
comprehensive income/(lossy using the equity method of
accounting.

Investments in joint ventures are carried in the Group balance
sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of
the net assets of the entity, less any impairment in value.

04
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The carrying values of investments in joint ventures include
acquired goodwill. If the Group’s share of lcsses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
to do so or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.
Dividends received from joint ventures with nil carrying value are
recognised in the income statement as part of the Group's share of
post-tax profits/(losses) of joint ventures.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with joint ventures
are elimnated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity.
The Group’s interests in jeint ventures are detailed in note 19,

Exceptional items

In addition to presenting information on an {FRS basis, the Group
also presents an income statement that separately identifies
exceptional items, including the impact of related tax, as shown in
a separate column. This adjusted information Is disclosed 1o aliow
2 better understanding of the underlying trading performance of
the Group and is consistent with the Group's internal management
reporting. These measures are used for performance analysis.

Exceptional items are those which are separately identified by
virtue of thewr size or incidence and include, but are not limited

to, acguisition costs, impairment charges, resrganisation costs,
profits and losses on disposal of subsidiaries and other one-off
iterns which meet this definition. The Group adopts a minmum
threshold of $1m for the separate 1dentification of exceptional
items, which is applied to the aggregate value over the relevant
accounting periods. The Group exerrises judgemeant in assessing
whether items should be classified as exceptional. This assessment
covers both the nature of the item, cause of occurrence and the
scale of impact of that item on reported performance. Reversals of
previous exceptional tems are also classified as exceptional.

Revenue recognition

The Group provides three primary categories of products and
services to its customers: Grocery & Merchandise, Foodservice
and Fuel. The Group also provides ancillary services such as
car washes, lottertes, payzones, ATMs etc. through its forecourt
operations which are recognised within other revenue.

Revenue is recognised when the Group has a contract with a
customer and a performance obligation has been satisfied, at the
transaction price aliocated to that performance obligation. The
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time
vaiue of money due to the nature of the Group’'s transactions
being completed shortly after the transaction is entered into with
the customer.

SALE OF GOODS
Revenue from the sale of fuel and goods in store is recagnised
when the transaction is completed in store or at the filling station.

Revenue from fuel sales to authorised dealers is recognised when
the goods are delivered to the spnecific site location and control
passes.

The transaction price is the value of the goods net of VAT,

Fuel and each good scld it store is considered distinct as it is sold

to custemers on a standalone basis. The standalone selling price of
fuel and goods is estimated on the basis of the retail price, except

for sales to authorised dealers which is determined on the basis of
the wholesale price. Discounts are not considered as they are onty

given in rare circumstances and are not maternial.
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Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the
customer purchases the fuel at the filling station or takes delivery
of the goods in store. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the authorised dealers as this
represents the point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is reguired
before payment is due.

Given the nature of the business and products sold, expected
returns are not considered as they are infreguent and are not
material.

GROSS VERSUS NET PRESENTATION - FUEL DULTY

The treatment of fuel duty is determined by local taws and
regulations as to when the duty becomes legally payable and

who carries the risks and chligations to the tax authorities. In all
markets where fuel duty is applicable to fuel purchases and sales,
the cost of sales and revenues are reported including these duties,
as the Group’s role in the transaction is that of principal.

LOVALTY PROGRAMMES

The Group operates certain customer loyalty programmes where
customers accumulate points for all purchases made, which
entitles them to discounts on future purchases. These loyalty
programmes are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 15.

AGENT V PRINCIPAL - DEALER SITES

Within the Group, there are a number of ‘dealer’ or ‘retailer’
arrangements in place, whereby a third party wili be responsible
for some part of the operation of a site.

In ling with IFRS 15, when another party is involved m providing
goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance cobligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group 15 acting as
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided
by the other party {i.e. the Group is an agent). In making this
assessment, a principal is identified as being the party that obtains
control of the assets, which are then transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as principal, revenue is recognsed in respect
of the gross amount of consideration paid by the customer.

When the Group does not control the goods which are transferred,
it acts as an agent and recognises revenue only in the amount

of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be
provided by the other party.

Generally, the Group’s revenue streams from dealer sites fall into
the following broad categones:

* Supply of goods to dealers - the Group acts as a principal in
supplying goods to dealers, transferring control and recognising
revenue at the point of sale to the dealer as the Group is
primarily responsible for fulfilling the order of goods from the
dealers and has the latitude in establishing the price

» Goods sold on consignment from dealer sites - the Group acts
as a principal in selling the goods to end customers as it retains
ownership of goods on consignment until they are sold to an
end consumer and the latitude to establish the price. The Group
recognises revenue in respect of the full sales value to the end
consumer at the peint the goods are sold, with commissions
paid to the dealer in respect of the transaction recognised
within cost of sales

» Site rental fees - rental fees earned from dealers on sites
are recognised in other income over the life of the lease In
accordance with IFRS 16

The redemption of points is treated as a separate performance
obligation under IFRS 15, with the transaction price allocated

to issued points with reference to the hikelihood of redemption
and the discounts to be given to the customer on redemption

of the points. Revenue from loyalty points is recognised when

the customer redeems the points. Revenue for points that are

not expected to be redeemed is recognised in proportion to the
pattern of rights exercised by customers. A contract hability is
recognised in respect of the price allocated to points which remain
unredeemed and are expected to be exercised by the customer at
year end.

PROWVISION OF SERVICES

Revenue from the provision of services such as car washes,
{otteries, payzones, ATMs etc. is recognised when the service

1s provided as that is the point in time at which the customer
henefits from the service. Where the Group acts as an agent
selling goods or services, only the commission income is included
within revenue.

COMMERCIAL INCOME

Supplier incentives, rebates and discounts are collectively referred
to as commercial income. Commercial income is recognised as a
deduction from cost of sales on an accruals basis based cn the
expected entitlement which has been earned up to the balance
sheat date for each relevant supplier contract.

Amounts due relating to commercial income are recognised within
trade and other receivables, except in cases where the Group
currently has a legally enforceable nght of set-off and intends to
offset amounts due from suppliers against amounts owed to those
suppliers, in which case only the net amount receivable or payable
1s recognised. Accrued commercral 1ncome |5 recogrised within
accrued income when commercial income earned has not been
invoiced at the balance sheet date.

FRANMCHSE COSTS

The Group operates a number of brands under franchise
agreements across its jurisdictions. Costs paid to franchise owners
are presented within cost of sales.

FINAMNCE INCOME AND COSTS

Finance income and costs are recognised in the consolidated

income statement in the year to which it relates using the effective
interest rate method.

Finance income comprises of:

+ Interest receivable which is recognised in the consolidated
income statement as it accrues using the effective interest
method

+ Foreign exchange gains arising on financing

« Finance income is recognised m the consolidated income
staterment in the year in which it cccurs

Finance costs comprise of:

= Interest payable which is recognised in the consolidated income
statement as it accrues using the effective interest method

« Foreign exchange losses arising on financing

« Finance costs incurred on finance teases which are recognised in
profit or loss using the effective interest method

« Financing costs of raising debt
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Business combinations and goodwill

The Group accounts for all business combinations by applying the
acguisition method. All acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred. On acguisition, the assets (including intangible assets),
liabilities and ceontingent liabilities of an acquired entity are
measured at their fair value. Non-controlling interest is stated at
the non-centrolling interest's proportion of the fair values of the
assets and llabilities recognised. Where an acquisition of trade and
assets takes place, an assessment 1s mitially made as to whether 1t
should be accounted under IFRS 3 or not.

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the net fair value of the Group’s
share of the net assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acduired subsidiary, joint venture and the fair value of the non-
controliing interest in the acquiree.

If the consideration is tess than the fair value of the Group's
share of the net assets, liablities and contingent liabilities of the
acquired entity (1.e. a discount on acquisition), the difference

is credited to the Group income statement in the pericd of
acquisition.

At the acouisition date of a subsidiary, goodwill acquired is
recognised as an asset and is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units expected to benefit from the business
combination's synergles and to the lowest level at which
management monitors the goodwill. Goodwill arising on the
acguisition of joint ventures is Included within the carrying value of
the investment.

On disposal of a subsidiary or joint venture, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal. On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the
attributable amaunt of goodwill is included in the determination of
the profit or loss on disposal.

Where the Group obtains control of a joint venture, the Group’s
previously held interests in the acquired entity is remeasured to its
acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, If any, is
recognised in the Group income statement.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the twelve-month measurement period,

or additional assets or habilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
as of the acquisition date that, if known, wouid have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Mon-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets
held for sale when their carrying armount s to be recovered
orincipally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.

In accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations, the net results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the consolidated income
statement (and the comparatives restated) and the assets and
liabilities of these operations are presented separately in the
consolidated batance sheet. Refer to note 8 for further details.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
subsequent depreciation and impairment. Historcal cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acguisition of the
assets. Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss.

Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy.

Depreciation of these assets commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use. Freehold land is not depreciated.

Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are ready
for use and transferred to the appropgriate group of assets.

Depreciation 1s recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation
of assets (other than freehold land and properties under
construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using
the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Freehold land not depreciated

Buildings 20 to 30 years

Fixtures and fittings 3 to 30 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting year, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

For periods ended December 31, 2018 and prior, assets held under
finance leases were depreciated over their expected useful lives
on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there is nc
reasonable certainty that ownership would be obtained by the end
of the lease term, assets were depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continuad use of the asset. When a decision has
been made to dispose of or scrap an asset in the future, the
remaining useful life is re-evaluated to reflect the period over
which the Group will derive economic benefits from its use.

The gain or 1oss arising on the disposal or scrappage of an asset
15 determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recogrused in the income
statement.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment if there are indications that assets might be
impaired. In performing the review, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that is largely independent of the
Group's other cash-genegrating streams. If events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of property, plant
and eguipment may not be recoverable, the Group determines
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and vatue-in-use. In assessing the value-in-use, the
Group considers site performance and development plans that
have been established at the balance sheet date. Where there is

a plan to knock down and rebuild a site, the carrying value of the
site is deemed to be the land value and impaired.
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Fair value is determined as the price that would be received to
sell the cash-generating unit ("CGU") in an orderly transaction
between rmarket participants at the measurement date. To the
extent that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount,
the asset is iImpaired and is written down. Any impairment lass
arising is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Prior impairments of nan-financial assets are reviewed for
possible reversal at each reporting date. A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change

in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount since the last tmpairment loss was recognised. The
reversal 1s limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does
not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had ne impairment ioss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. Such reversals are recognised in the consclidated income
staterment. Where there is a plan to knock down and rebuild a site,
the carrying value of the site 15 deemed to be the land value and
it is impaired. Any impairment loss arising is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, such as trade names, custormer relationships
and software, are measured initially at acquisition cost or costs
incurred to develop the asset.

Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is
capitalised only if specific criteria are met, including that the asset
created will generate future cconomic benefits. Intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at
the acaursition date.

Following initial recegnition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the
consolidated income statement in administrative expenses on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each asset as
show below.

Trade names 20 years or indefinite in specific

instances

Customer/dealer relationships 10 to 15 years

3 to 16 years according to the
estimated life of the asset

Other intangible assets

In accordance with |AS 38, amortisation methods, usefu! lives and
residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basts.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and indefinite life brands are not amortised but are
reviewed for impairment at least annually by assessing the
recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit to which the
goodwill relates. The Group allocates goodwill to groups of cash-
generating units, where each country represents a group of cash-
generating units.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs

of disposal and value-in-use. When the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit 15 less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised immediately m the Group income
statement, and is not subseguently reversed.

Fair valug is determined based on forecast earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amoertisation ("EBITDA”, which
ts a non-IFRS measure) and EBITDA valuation multiples of
comparable corporations and market transactions. For the
purpose of the impairment test, management uses estimates
and assumptions to establish the fair value of the Group’s cash-
generating units. If these assumptions and estimates prove to be
incorrect, the carrying value of the goodwill may be averstated.

For ali other non-financial assets {including intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right of use assets) the

Group performs impairment testing where there are indicators of
impairment. If such an indicator exists, the recoverabte amount

of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss {if any). Where the asset does not generate cash
flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unity is reduced to its recoverable
amount, The impairment loss is alliocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit,

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-genarating unit) is increased to

the revised estimate of the recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of animpairment 10ss is recognised immediately as a
credit 1o the consolidated income statement.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at
inception of the contract. The Group recoghnises a right of use
asset and a corresponding leass liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases (defined as leases with a lease term of twelve months or
less) and leases of low-value assets (such as tablets and personal
computers, smali items of office furniture and telephones).

For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense within distribution costs on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis s more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased assets are consumed.

LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liakility

comprise’

« Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable

= Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially
measured using the index or rate at the commencement date

« The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual
value guarantees

« The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the optiohs

« Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the

consolidated balance sheet.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
Leases continued

LEASE LIABILITIES continued

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset)
whenever:

» The lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, 1 which case the
lease liability is rermeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate

» The lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change In expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the nitial discount
rate (unless the lease payment's change is due to a change in
a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is
used}

» A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate. The Group did not make
any such adjustments during the periods presentec

The vartabie lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense within distribution costs in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremantal borrowing rate (“IBR”) at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease 1s not
readily determinable. As the rate implicit in the lease generally
cannot be readly determined for progerty leases, the Group uses
Incrermental borrowing rates, being the rate that the individual
lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right of use asset In a sirmlar
economic environment with similar terms, secunty and conditions.

In order to calculate the IBR for the Group in each territory, a
risk-free rate is obtained, linked to the length of the lease in the
Jurisdiction in which the lease is taken, and an adjustment 1s then
made to reflect credit risk based on the Group's credit rating.

RIGHT OF LSE ASSETS

The Group recognises right of use assets at the commencement
date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right of use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right of use
assets Includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, restoration costs, and lease payments made
at of before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under 1AS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a
rnght of use asset, the costs are inciuded in the related right of use
asset.

Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right of
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of their estimated useful life and the lease term. Right of use assets
are presented as a separate line in the consohdated balance sheet
and are subject to impairment under [AS 36.
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For contracts that contain a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consiceration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative standalone price of the lease compaonent and
the aggregate standalone price of the non-lease components.

DETERMINATION OF THE | EASE TERM
Extension and termination options are included in a number of
property and equipment leases across the Group.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and
cireumstances that create an economic Incentive to exercise an
extension option, or not exarcise a termination option. Extension
options (or periods after termination options) are only inciuded

in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended
(or not terminated). This is a subjective assessment made at

an individual lease level, reflecting the facts and circumstances
applicable to each arrangement. Generally, at the commencement
date of property leases, the Group determines the lease term to
be the full term of the leasc and the first two periods covered by
extension options (to the extent that these are within the Group's
control) as the Group is reasonably certain that it will continue in
occupation for the periods covered by these extension options.

in determining whether tarmination options will be exercised, the

Group makes reference to the economic incentives to not exercise
a termination option for both the Group and the lessor along with
the anticipated costs of termination for both parties.

This assessment is judgementat and reflects the Group's
expectations at the time of iease inception. Should facts and
circumstances change, the Group may reassess lease terms,
resulting in a remeasurement of lease liabilities and right of use
assets.

The assessment 1s reviewed if a significant cvent or a significant
change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and
that is within the control of the lessee.

SALE AND LEASEBACK TRANSACT:ONSG

In a sate and leaseback transaction, the Group transfers control

of an asset to another entity for consideration, and leases that
asset back from the buyer. The Group immediately recognises a
lease liability in respect of the present value of the expected iease
payments. The carrying value of the asset is divided between the
value of the rights retained by the Group (recognised as a lease
asset under IFRS 16) and the rights transferred to the purchaser on
a pro-rata basis based on the respective fair values of the property
and lease payments at the time of sale. Any profit or loss on
disposal is similarly allocated between the retained and transferred
rights, with the portion relating to the buyer's rights in the asset
being recognised immediately.

Taxation

The tax expense for the year represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax
are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in eguity, In which case the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect 1s included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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CURRENT TAX

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on taxable
profit or loss for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods
or items that are never taxabie or deductikle. The Group's liability
for current tax is caiculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Tax provisions are recognised for uncertatn tax positions where
a risk of an additional tax liakility has been identified and it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that tax.

A provision is made for uncertain tax positions when it s
considered probable that there will be a future cutflow of funds

to a tax authority. The provision is calculated using the single

best estimate where that cutcome is more likely than not and a
welghted average probabllity in other circumstances. The position
is reviewed on an ongoing basis, to ensure appropriate provision is
made for each tax jurisdiction. This is assessed on a case-by-case
basis using INn-house tax experts, professional firms and previous
experience. See note 14.

DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected

to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset =
realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax

is charged or credited in the income statement, except when

It relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive
income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other
comprehensive incorme.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is prokable
that taxable profits will be availlable against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow zll or part of the asset to
be recovered. Deferred tax liabilities are recoanised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in subssidiaries,

and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temparary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

No defarred tax liabilities are recognised for temporary differences
that arise on the initial recognition of goodwilt or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabhilities in & transaction, that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Empioyee benefits

1y POST-EMPLOYMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates various post-employment schemes, including
both defined benefit and defined contribution glans, For defined
benefit plans, obligations are measured at discounted present
value (using the projected unit credit method) whilst plan assets
are recorded at fair value. The operating and financing costs

of such plans are recognised separately in the Group income
statement; service costs are spread systematically over the
expected service lives of employees and financing costs are
recognised in the pericds in which they arise. Actuarial gains and
losses are recognised immediately in the Group consolidated
staterment of comprehensive income. Payments to defined
contribution schemes are recognised as an expense as they fall
due.

1) OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFTS

Some Graup companies provide jubilee benefits, rewarding
empioyees for long vears of service. The liability recognised in
the balance sheet is the present value of the obligation at the
reporting date. The jubilee benefits are calculated annually by
independent actuaries.

Yy TERMINATION BENEFITS/RESTRUCTURING PROVISION
Termination benefits are payable when employment 1s terminated
by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. Benefits falling due more than twelve months after

the reporting date are discounted to present value. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following
dates:

*» When the Group can no longer withdrow the offer of those
benefits

* When the Group recognises costs for a restructuring that
is within the scope of 1AS 37 and invohves the payment of
termination benefits

Long-term emplayee benefits are accounted for in the same
way as defined benefit pension benefits with the exception that
remeasurements are recognised immediately through profit or
loss.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group

has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the
restructuring either has commenced or has been announced
publicly before the reporting date. Future operating costs are not
provided for.

WY BONUS PLANS

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The
Group recognises an accrual where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Inventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and are valued at
the lower of cost or net realisable value. The Group applies the
weighted average cost method to value inventories. The cost
of fuel and oil purchased for resale includes all costs incurred in
transporting the goods to theair present location. Net reaiisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, iess the cost of selling expenses.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financia! liabilities are recogrused in the
Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
cantractual provisions of the instrument.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial assets and liabilities principally consist of trade and other
receivables, accrued income, cash and cash equivalents, trade

and other payables, borrowings and derivative financial assets)/
liahilities held at fair value through profit and loss.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash eqguivalents inciude cash at bank, in hand,
shart-term deposits with banks and other financial institutions
with an initial maturity of three months or less, and credit/debit
card receivables, which are settled within 72 hours.

Bank overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings, and are
reflected as a financing activity in the statement of cash flows.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditionally due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
businass.

The Group hotds trade and other receivables with the cbjective to
coliect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subseguently at amortised cost. Loss allowances are recognisaed
based on expected irreceoverable amounts determined by
reference to past default experience and are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information based on macroeconomic
factors and other factors which affect the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

TRADE AND QTHER PAYABLES
Trace and other payables (excluding derivative financial liabilities)
are recorded at cost.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY COMPONENTS
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractuat arrangement.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest In the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

FINARNCIAL ASSETS

All financial assets are raecognised and derecognised on a trade
date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under

a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset
within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially measured at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured
at fair value. Subsequently, financial assets will be measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
C"FVYTQCI™), or fair value through profit and loss ¢"FYTPL”). on the
basis of both the Company’s model for managing the assets and
the contractual cash flows associated with them. Where a trade
recervable does not contain a significant financing component
under IFRS 15, 1t will be measured at its transaction price.

10 EG Group | 2021 Annual Repert and Financial Statements

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

The Group holds investments in unlisted shares that are not traded
in an active market but that are stated at fair value. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 34. Where an eguity
instrument is not held for trading and does not involve contingent
consideration to which IFRS 3 applies, a determination may be
made on an asset-by-asset basis to recognise gains and losses
arising from changes in farr value in cther comprehensive iIncome
or through profit or [oss.

Where an electicn is made to recognise gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, the
cumuiative gain or loss previously recognised in the investments
revaluation reserve will rermain in this reserve on dispoesal.

Where this election is not made for an equity instrument, all gains
and lesses arising from changes in fair value will be recognised

in the income statement as they arise. Dividends on all equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's nght
to receive the dividends is established.

AMORTISED CQST

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost where the asset
is held for the objective of collecting contractual cash flows and
the terms of the asset give rise to cash flows on specific dates
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount
outstanding.

The effective interest method is utilised in the calculation of
arortised cost of a debt instrument and for allocating interest
income over the relevant pericd.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as at far
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"),

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

Financial assets are measured at FVTOC! if the asset is held within
a business mode! for the dual objectives of collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets, and the contractuat terms
give rise an specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTRL

All financial assots which do not meet the criteria for measurcement
at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVYTPL. Financial
assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses
arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gamn
of loss recognised In profit or loss incorporates any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset. Fair value s determined in
the manner described in note 34.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

» At each balance sheet date, financial assets are assessed
for indicators of impairment, considering all reasonable and
supportable information available, including that which s
farward-looking whera this is available without undue cost
and effort. If the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition, an impairment equivalent
to the lifetime expected credit losses on the instrument wili be
recognised immediately. If the credit risk has not significantly
increased since initial recognition, a loss allowance shali be
measured eguivalent to twelve-month expected credit Josses
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« Loss allowances for trade receivables resulting from transactions
under IFRS 15 will always be measured at an amount egual to
the {ifetime expected credit loss ("ECL™)

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument. Twelve-
month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events
that are possible within the twelve months after the reporting date.
ECLs are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses.

For certain categories of financial asaet, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolic of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in national or jocal
aconomic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The carrying amount of the financial asset i1s reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount 1s reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, 1t is written off against the allowance
account.

Subseguent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

The gross carrving amount of a financial agset ic written off when
the Group has no reasonabkle expectations of recovering a financial
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. However, financial assets
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities
in arder to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of
amounts due.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
cantractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity, or when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recogrused 1n profit or loss, with the
exception of those equity instrurments where a determination has
been made to recognise gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value in other comprehensive income.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT LIARBILITIES
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
therr fair values and are subsequently measured at the higher of:

» The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9

» The amount inttially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with
the Group's revenue recognition policies

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial linbilities are classified as either financial liabilities "at fair
value through profit or lass' ("FVTPL"} or ‘other financial lizbilities’
carried at amortised cost. Financiai liabilities are initially measured
at fair value less directly attributabte transaction costs (except
those measured at FYTPL which are initially measured at fair
value).

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FYTPL when the financial
llability is contingent consideration that may be paid by an
acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3
applies, or it is designated as at FVTPL. A financial liability

wilf be designated as FVTPL where this significantly reduces

a measurement inconsistency which would otherwise anse,

ot where the group of liabilities (or assets and liabilities as a
combined group) 15 managed and evaluated on a fair value basis,
and information about the Group is provided on that basis to key
management personnel.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains
or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any
interest paid on the financial liahility. Fair value i1s determned in
the manner described in note 34.

OTHER FiNANCIAL LIABILITIES

Other financial liabilities, including interest-bearing bank loans
and credit facilities, are initially measured at fair value, net of
transaction costs, Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis,

The effective interest method 1s a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of aflocating interest
expense over the relevant period, The effective inferest rate is

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expectad life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter penod, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’'s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the constderation paid and payable 1s
recognised in profit or toss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt
instrument for another one with substantially different terms. such
exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial hability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms
of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the
original financial liability and the recognition of a new liability.

It is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted
using the original effective rate, is at least 10% different from
the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the
original financial liability.

Where the change in terms reflects enly a non-substantial
modification, a gain or loss equzl to the difference between the
present value of cash flows under the new and the old terms will
be immediately recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTIN

For the year ended December 31, 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
Financial instruments continued

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instrurnents
to manage Its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate
risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts and interest
rate swaps. Further details of derivative financial instruments are
disciosed in note 34.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date

3 derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The
resutting gain or loss 1s recogrised in profit of loss immediately.

A dervative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial
asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised
as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current
asset or a non-current fiability if the remaining maturity of the
instrument is more than twelve menths and it is not expected to
be realised or settled within twelve months. Other derivatives are
presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as & provision is the best estimate of

the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
balance sheet date, taking into account the rnisks and uncertainties
surrounding the obiigation. Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present oblgation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when
the effect of the time value of money is material) using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as a finance cost.

when some or all of the economic benefits required to settle

a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Where asset retirement obligations (‘dismantling’) and other
asset-related provisions are recorded, a corrasponding asset is
recognised which is depreciated over the period for which the
provision relates.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES ACQUIRED IN A BUSINESS
COMBINATIOMN

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are
initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date, and
recognised as a provision in accordance with IFRS 3 Business
Combinations.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses Incurred are recognised in the income
statement in the relevant financial statement line on a systematic
basis in the periods in which the expenses are recoghnised, to
present the net expense to the Group.
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Share-based compensation

EG Group Holdings Limited, as the ultimate parent Company of
the Group, has issued cash-settled shares to the Nen-Executive
Directors of the business. Cash-settled share-based payment
transactions are measured at fair value at the date of grant and
remeasured at the end of each reporting period and at the date
of settlement. The fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the expected vesting period, with any changes in fair value
recognised i profit or lass for the period. As the shares awarded
are 155ued by the ultimate parent Company without charge to the
Company, an amount eguivalent to the expense recorded in the
consolidated income statement is recorded as a credit to a capital
contribution reserve.

Fair value is measured using a Monte Carlo simulation pricing
approach in calculating the expected returns to the management
shares. This 15 seen as an appropriate method for estimating the
value of instruments with growth potential and is based upon
infermation about the business and forecast performance.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the apptication of the Group's accounting policies, which

are described In hote 3, the Directors are required to make
Judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and itabifities that are not readily apparent from
other sources.

The esturates and assoclated assuimptions are pased on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estrmates are recognised
In the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
anly that period, or in the period of the revision and future pericds
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Significant judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policles

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, which
are described above, the Directors have made the following
judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below) and have been identified
as being particularly complex or invoive subjective assessments.

CARRYING WALUE OF GOCDWILL

For the year ended December 31, 2021 impairment reviews were
performed by comparing the carrying value of the cash-generating
units with their recoverable amount. The recoverable amounts
for cash-gererating units have been determined based on their
fair value less costs to sell. Management determined that due to
the potential for increased use of alternative fuel vehicles in the
long term, L was more appropriate to use fair value to assess
impairment because accounting standards do not permit in a
value-in-use calculation the inclusion of earnings generated from
future expansionary capital expenditure on the Group’s existing
multi-use retail sites.
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EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

The Directors consider that an adjusted profit measure provides
useful information for the underlying trends, performance and
position of the Group. These measures are consistent with how
tbusiness performance is measured internally by the Board.

Profit before exceptionals is not a recognised measure under IFRS
and may not be directly comparable with adjusted measures used
by other companies.

The Dircectors exercise judgement in determining the items to
classify as exceptional itemns. This assessment considers the nature
of the itermn, cause of occurrence and the scale of impact of that
item on reported performance. Reversals of previous exceptional
items are recognised as exceptional items. Directors exercise
judgement in ensuring there is an equal focus by management in
classifying both expenses and revenue items as exceptional.

The Group’s definition of exceptional items, together with further
details of adjustments made during the periad, I1s provided in note
3 and note 5.

INDEFINITE LIFE BRANDS

The brand of Cumberland Farms is a well-known long-standing
brand in the USA and as a result of the reputation and association
with quality there is no foreseeable limit to the peried over which
the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. The brand is
therefore deemed to have an indefinite useful economic life and
the value of $337m will not be amortised. Details of intangible
assets are set out in note 16.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed balow.

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INTANGIBLES

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. In performing the review, assets
are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that is
largely independent of the Group's ather cash-generating streams.

Goodwill and indefinite life brands are reviewed for impairment
on an annual basis. The Group allocates goodwill to groups of
cash-generating units, where each country represents a group of
cash-generating units.

When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable
amounts for cash-generating units are the higher of fair value less
cost of disposal, and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows {which is a key source of estimation
uncertainty) are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Fair value Is determined based on forecast earnings before
Interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation ("EBITDA", which is a
non-IFRS measure) and EBITDA valuation multiples of comparable
corporations and market transactions. For the purpose of the
Impairment test, management uses estimates and assumptions

to establish the fair value of the Group's cash-generating units.

If these assumptions and estimates prove to be incorrect, the
carrying value of the goodwill may be overstated.

Other sources of estimation uncertainty

FAIR VALUES IN BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

In assessing the fair value of assets and liakilities acguired in
business combinations, estimation is used in a number of areas. To
assist in this work, the Group engages external valuation experts to
assess the fair value. Management then review the work and assess
the results. Detalls of the fair value of the acguired assets and
liabilities are detailed in note 35.

Measurement of provisions

The Group has recognised provisions totalling $839m (2020:
$983m) for environmental costs, dilapidations and onerous
contracts.

The provision for environmental costs and dilapidations is based
on the current cost escalated at an inflation rate and discounted
at a risk-free rate. The provision for onerous contracts is based on
the lower of ocur current estimates of cost of fulfiling the contracts
and any compensation or penalties and discounting to present
value when the effect of time value of money is material. These
provi